il

Tewkesbury
Borough Council

6 March 2017

Committee Planning

Date Tuesday, 14 March 2017
Time of Meeting 9:00 am

Venue Council Chamber

ALL MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE ARE REQUESTED TO ATTEND

for Sara J Freckleton
Borough Solicitor

Agenda

1. ANNOUNCEMENTS

When the continuous alarm sounds you must evacuate the building by the
nearest available fire exit. Members and visitors should proceed to the
visitors’ car park at the front of the building and await further instructions
(during office hours staff should proceed to their usual assembly point;
outside of office hours proceed to the visitors’ car park). Please do not re-
enter the building unless instructed to do so.

In the event of a fire any person with a disability should be assisted in
leaving the building.

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS

To receive apologies for absence and advise of any substitutions.

Gloucester Road Tewkesbury Glos GL20 5TT Member Services Tel: (01684) 272021 Fax: (01684) 272040
Email: democraticservices@tewkesbury.gov.uk Website: www.tewkesbury.gov.uk




Item Page(s)

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Pursuant to the adoption by the Council on 26 June 2012 of the
Tewkesbury Borough Council Code of Conduct, effective from 1 July
2012, as set out in Minute No. CL.34, Members are invited to declare any
interest they may have in the business set out on the Agenda to which the
approved Code applies.

4. MINUTES 1-94
To approve the Minutes of the meeting held on 14 February 2017.

5. DEVELOPMENT CONTROL - APPLICATIONS TO THE BOROUGH
COUNCIL

(a) Schedule

To consider the accompanying Schedule of Planning Applications and
proposals, marked Appendix “A”.

(b) Planning Application Reference 15/00749/0UT 95 -122
To advise the Secretary of State how the Council would have
determined the appeal proposals, had it remained the determining
authority.

6. DEVELOPMENT CONTROL - APPLICATIONS TO THE COUNTY
COUNCIL

To note the following decision of Gloucestershire County Council:

Site/Development Decision

16/01317/LA3 Application PERMITTED subject
Shurdington Primary School to conditions relating to the
Badgeworth Lane commencement of development
Badgeworth and scope of the development.

Variation of condition 4 (time limit)
of planning consent
16/0039/TWREGS3 dated
30/06/2016.

7. CURRENT APPEALS AND APPEAL DECISIONS UPDATE 123 - 126

To consider current Planning and Enforcement Appeals and CLG Appeal
Decisions.



Item Page(s)

DATE OF NEXT MEETING
TUESDAY, 11 APRIL 2017
COUNCILLORS CONSTITUTING COMMITTEE

Councillors: R E Allen, R A Bird, Mrs G F Blackwell, D M M Davies, M Dean,

R D East (Vice-Chair), J H Evetts (Chair), D T Foyle, Mrs M A Gore, Mrs J Greening,

Mrs A Hollaway, Mrs E J MacTiernan, J R Mason, A S Reece, T A Spencer, Mrs P E Stokes,
P D Surman, R J E Vines and P N Workman

Substitution Arrangements

The Council has a substitution procedure and any substitutions will be announced at the
beginning of the meeting.

Recording of Meetings

Please be aware that the proceedings of this meeting may be recorded and this may include
recording of persons seated in the public gallery or speaking at the meeting. Please notify the
Democratic Services Officer if you have any objections to this practice and the Chair will take
reasonable steps to ensure that any request not to be recorded is complied with.

Any recording must take place in such a way as to ensure that the view of Councillors, Officers,
the public and press is not obstructed. The use of flash photography and/or additional lighting
will not be allowed unless this has been discussed and agreed in advance of the meeting.




Agenda ltem 4

TEWKESBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL

Minutes of a Meeting of the Planning Committee held at the Council Offices,
Gloucester Road, Tewkesbury on Tuesday, 14 February 2017 commencing at
9:00 am

Present:
Vice Chair in the chair Councillor R D East

and Councillors:

R E Allen, R A Bird, Mrs G F Blackwell, D M M Davies, M Dean, D T Foyle, Mrs M A Gore,
Mrs J Greening, Mrs A Hollaway, Mrs E J MacTiernan, J R Mason, A S Reece, T A Spencer,

PL.69

69.1
69.2

PL.70

70.1

PL.71

711

Mrs P E Stokes, P D Surman, R J E Vines and P N Workman
also present:

Councillors P W Awford, D J Waters and M J Williams

ANNOUNCEMENTS

The evacuation procedure, as noted on the Agenda, was advised to those present.

Members were reminded that, at its meeting on 17 May 2016, the Council had
confirmed the Scheme for Public Speaking at Planning Committee as a permanent
arrangement. The Chair gave a brief outline of the scheme and the procedure for
Planning Committee meetings.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor J H Evetts (Chair). There were
no substitutions for the meeting.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

The Committee’s attention was drawn to the Tewkesbury Borough Council Code of
Conduct which was adopted by the Council on 26 June 2012 and took effect from 1
July 2012.



14.02.17

71.2 The following declarations were made:
Councillor Application Nature of Interest Declared
No./ltem (where disclosed) Action in
respect of
Disclosure
R A Bird 16/00901/0UT Along with Councillor  Would speak
Parcel 1441, Mrs M A Gore, he had and vote.
Cobblers Close, attended a formal
Gotherington. meeting with
representatives from
Gotherington Parish
Council in relation to
the application but
had not expressed an
opinion.
Is a Gloucestershire
County Councillor for
the area.
M Dean 16/01457/FUL Is the applicant. Would not
The Old Vicarage, speak or vote
Stanley Pontlarge. and would
leave the
Chamber for
consideration
of this item.
M Dean 16/01271/FUL Is a Borough Would speak
11 Bushcombe Councillor for the and vote.
Close, area.
Woodmancote.
Mrs M A Gore 16/01075/FUL The next door Would speak
Red Roofs, neighbour is her and vote.
Shutter Lane, employer but she had
Gotherington. not discussed the
application with him.
Mrs M A Gore 16/00901/0OUT Along with Councillor ~ Would speak
Parcel 1441, R A Bird, she had and vote.
Cobblers Close, attended a formal
Gotherington. meeting with
representatives from
Gotherington Parish
Council in relation to
the application but
had not expressed an
opinion.
Mrs A Hollaway 16/01271/FUL Is a Borough Would speak
11 Bushcombe Councillor for the and vote.
Close, area.
Woodmancote.



71.3

PL.72

721

PL.73

73.1

73.2

73.3

A S Reece 16/01280/FUL Is known to the Would not
Orchard Cottage, applicant. speak or vote
Aston Carrant and would
Road, Aston-On- leave the
Carrant, Chamber for
Tewkesbury. consideration

of this item.

R J E Vines 15/00751/0UT Is a Gloucestershire Would speak
Bentham Country County Councillor for  and vote.
Club, Bentham the area.
Lane, Bentham.
16/01211/FUL
Rowan Cottage,
Dog Lane,
Witcombe.

P N Workman 16/00324/FUL Had been Would speak
1 Swilgate Road, approached by the and vote.
Tewkesbury. applicant on a few

14.02.17

occasions to talk
about the planning
process but had not
expressed a view on
the application.

There were no further declarations made on this occasion.

MINUTES

The Minutes of the meeting held on 17 January 2017, copies of which had been
circulated, were approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair.

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL - APPLICATIONS TO THE BOROUGH COUNCIL

Schedule

The Development Manager submitted a Schedule comprising planning applications and
proposals with recommendations thereon. Copies of this had been circulated to
Members as Appendix A to the Agenda for the meeting. The objections to, support for,
and observations upon the various applications as referred to in Appendix 1 attached to
these Minutes were presented to the Committee and duly taken into consideration by
Members prior to decisions being made on those applications.

16/01457/FUL — The Old Vicarage, Stanley Pontlarge, Winchcombe

This application was for a proposed garage/store and increased parking and turning
area.

The Chair indicated that there were no public speakers for this item. The Officer
recommendation was to permit the application and he sought a motion from the floor. It
was proposed and seconded that the application be deferred for a Committee Site Visit
to assess the impact on the character of the area and the adjacent listed buildings.
Upon being taken to the vote, it was



73.4

73.5

14.02.17

RESOLVED That the application be DEFERRED to assess the impact of the
proposal on the character of the area and the adjacent listed
buildings.

16/01075/FUL — Red Roofs, Shutter Lane, Gotherington

This application was for the construction of two four-bed dwellings. The Committee
had visited the application site on Friday 10 February 2017.

The Development Manager explained that Officers now considered that the Council
could demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites, the detail of which
was set out in the Additional Representations Sheet, attached at Appendix 1. This had
a significant impact on the way that planning applications for housing outside of
residential development boundaries were considered. Since the publication of the
National Planning Policy Framework, it was clear that the Council had been unable to
demonstrate a five year housing supply and, as such, the presumption in favour of
sustainable development had applied to all applications for housing. The test for
dealing with applications for housing had therefore been whether any adverse impacts
of granting permission would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, or
where specific policies - e.g. Green Belt or Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty policies
- indicated that development should be restricted. With a five year supply the
presumption in favour of sustainable development did not apply. Policy HOU4 of the
Local Plan, which had been saved by direction from the Secretary of State, provided
that residential development outside of those boundaries would only be permitted in
limited circumstances i.e. where it was essential for agriculture/forestry; if it involved
acceptable conversions; or if it was for affordable housing exception sites. None of
these exceptions applied in this case. As the Council could now demonstrate a five
year supply, this policy was no longer considered to be out of date and should be given
substantial weight. On that basis, the presumption was that applications for housing
outside residential development boundaries should be refused unless material planning
circumstances indicated otherwise. Having a five year supply also meant that the
emerging Gotherington Neighbourhood Development Plan could be given more weight
than had been suggested in the Officer report. Notwithstanding that the presumption in
favour of sustainable development no longer applied, the other material planning
considerations set out in the Officer report still applied with equal force. The National
Planning Policy Framework expected local planning authorities to significantly boost the
supply of housing and, by their very nature, housing developments provided social and
economic benefits which were discussed in the Officer report. A key consideration was
that the five year supply was a rolling calculation, therefore, it was important not to
become complacent; simply refusing all applications outside of residential development
boundaries would be likely to result in a five year supply shortfall once again. In this
case, whilst the property itself lay within the residential development boundary, the
majority of the garden - where the houses were proposed — was not. Gotherington was
identified as a service village in the Joint Core Strategy and, as such, was considered
to be a sustainable location for some limited development. The proposal would not
give rise to significant environmental harms and was therefore considered to represent
sustainable development. Furthermore, it was not considered that there would be a
conflict with the policies in the Neighbourhood Development Plan. The application had
been reassessed in light of the change in circumstances and, despite the conflict with
HOU4, it was felt that this did not change the Officer recommendation to permit the
application.



73.6

73.7

73.8

73.9

14.02.17

The Chair indicated that there were no public speakers for this item. The Officer
recommendation was to permit the application and he sought a motion from the floor. It
was proposed and seconded that the application be permitted in accordance with the
Officer recommendation and, upon being put to the vote, it was

RESOLVED That the application be PERMITTED in accordance with the Officer
recommendation.

16/00901/OUT - Parcel 1441, Cobblers Close, Gotherington

This was an outline planning application, with means of access from Ashmead Drive
(all other matters reserved) for the erection of up to 50 dwellings (Class C3);
earthworks; drainage works; structural landscaping; formal and informal open space;
car parking; site remediation; and all other ancillary and enabling works. The
Committee had visited the application site on Friday 10 February 2017.

The Development Manager explained that this case was unlike the previous application
as it proposed a different scale of development. As with that application, the
presumption was against the grant of permission due to the conflict with the
development plan, unless there were material planning considerations which indicated
otherwise. Those material considerations were essentially the same in terms of the
need to boost the supply of housing and to maintain a deliverable supply of housing
which could not be achieved by refusing all applications outside of residential
development boundaries. The benefits of the scheme were set out in the Officer report
- and Members were familiar with them in any case — however, the scheme also
safeguarded the local green space to the south of Lawrence’s Meadow, albeit not in the
way that the Neighbourhood Development Plan had anticipated. The proposal would
make this a more usable open space as opposed to a private field with public right of
way access as it was currently. He acknowledged that this was a finely balanced
application. The site was in the Special Landscape Area but, as highlighted by the
Landscape Consultant and set out in the Officer report, it did not play a significant part
in protecting the setting of the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. In addition, it was
not considered that there would be undue impact on social cohesion and, given the
benefits set out in the report and the limited harms identified, on balance the application
was recommended for a delegated permission.

The Chair invited Councillor Sylvia Stokes, representing Gotherington Parish Council,
to address the Committee. Councillor Stokes indicated that Gotherington currently had
planning permission for 10 houses to the east and 50 to the west, plus 17 houses that
were under construction; there was no room for a further 50 houses to the south
without losing its identity. There were over 1,000 houses under construction in
Bishop’s Cleeve, which was now the largest village in the UK, and Gotherington did not
wish to become part of it. There was no urgent need for more houses in this part of the
borough and the edge of Homelands would only be two fields south of the proposed
development. The landowner of the site also owned a large field to the south and a
smaller one to the west, both of which were prime agricultural land in a designated
Special Landscape Area and were accessed by farming machinery. Should the field be
developed, the Parish Council could foresee further applications for residential
development in the other fields as they would become difficult to farm. This would
result in creeping coalescence with Bishop’s Cleeve, an urban sprawl visible from local
Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty and a permanent loss of village identity and
character. The site was extensively used by residents for walking and appreciation of
the distant Cotswold Hills and that visual amenity would be destroyed if the footpaths
were hemmed in by houses. The strength of feeling in the community to preserve this
open countryside as a buffer between Gotherington and Bishop’s Cleeve could be seen
by the large number of objections lodged. It was felt that Tewkesbury Borough Council
was failing in its duty to protect valued landscapes and the character of villages as

5



73.10

73.11

14.02.17

stated in the National Planning Policy Framework. She pointed out that the site was
not identified for acceptable development in the emerging Gotherington Neighbourhood
Development Plan. The government had encouraged localism and the National
Planning Policy Framework stated that decision-takers may give weight to relevant
policies in emerging plans. The Gotherington Neighbourhood Development Plan was
nearing adoption, with the referendum stage expected in May this year, and should be
given due consideration. The National Planning Policy Statement also set out that the
planning system had an important role in facilitating social interaction and creating
healthy, inclusive communities. This proposal was essentially a housing estate with a
single access point close to a dangerous bend, introducing a scale and form of
development that would be at odds with the structure and character of Gotherington. It
would not have any real presence within the streetscene of the village and would
become an isolated enclave, having an adverse impact on the social cohesion and
community spirit much valued by residents. Gotherington Parish Council saw no
benefits from this proposed development whatsoever; it would have a detrimental
impact on the village in terms of environment, visual amenity, social cohesion and poor
design, overloading the local road network and facilities and it should be refused.

The Chair invited David Crofts, a representative for the objectors, to address the
Committee. Mr Crofts advised that he was an independent planning consultant based
in Gloucester. In September 2016, he had been invited to address a public meeting in
Gotherington Village Hall which had been attended by approximately 100 people and
he had subsequently drafted a letter of objection on their behalf. He pointed out that
100 people represented far more than the number of properties adjoining the site which
gave a very clear indication of the value placed on the space by the local community.
The community had gone to great efforts to draw up a Neighbourhood Development
Plan; only the third in the borough to get to the examination stage. The plan made
significant provision for housing and it was considered that it should be given more
weight in the planning balance. The Ministerial Foreword in the National Planning
Policy Framework concluded “we are allowing people and communities back into
planning” and that principle should be upheld. He pointed out that Members would
have seen from the site visit on Friday how close the Homelands development was to
the village and, if this development went ahead, the gap would be reduced to no more
than 350m. In addition, it would significantly increase the levels of private car use for
travel to work and other purposes. The proposal would do little to alleviate the
difficulties in terms of finding enough sites for housing to meet the requirements of the
Joint Core Strategy. Members had heard that the Council could now demonstrate a
five year supply of housing land in the borough and, as such, the presumption in favour
of sustainable development did not apply. The National Planning Policy Framework
required a balancing exercise to be undertaken and, in his view, the adverse effects of
the development outweighed the benefits. On that basis, he respectfully asked the
Committee to refuse the application on behalf of the local residents.

The Chair invited the applicant’s agent, Alastair Bird, to address the Committee. He
pointed out that, as confirmed within the Officer report, there were no objections to the
development from statutory consultees and the scheme also provided a number of key
benefits, such as the provision of market and affordable housing; economic benefits
during the construction phase and through the lifetime of the development; and on site
public space which could be used by new and existing residents. The only harm
identified by the Planning Officer was in respect of the landscape impact and the social
cohesion of Gotherington. With regards to the landscape impact, he was in agreement
with the Planning Officer’s view that the harm was minor and limited to the immediate
area. In respect of social cohesion, the applicant had sought to take into consideration
the advice of Officers and significantly reduced the proposal from 90 to 50 dwellings.
This not only ensured the delivery of a well-designed and integrated development, but
maintained a level of growth commensurate to the size of Gotherington. As expressed
within the Planning Officer’s report, the proposed cumulative growth of Gotherington

6



73.12

14.02.17

would be less than had previously been permitted in other service villages such as
Maisemore or Norton — both of which were identified as less sustainable locations than
Gotherington. As a result, the Planning Officer had concluded that, even though a five
year supply of housing could be demonstrated, the social and economic benefits of the
scheme outweighed the limited landscape and social harm identified. Although the
Council’s five year supply position had not been subject to independent examination,
he agreed with the Planning Officer’s conclusion that the benefits of the scheme
outweighed the limited harm. As Members would be aware, the site had not been
formally allocated for development within the emerging Gotherington Neighbourhood
Plan; however, draft policy GNDP2 provided the opportunity for additional development
to come forward to meet the wider strategic housing requirements of the borough and
set out criteria for which additional sites would be assessed. The Council would be
aware that there were wider strategic housing needs to be met but, based on the
criteria within Policy GNDP2, it was considered that the proposed development
accorded with each of the requirements: the site was adjoined along three boundaries
by the existing built form of Gotherington; the scheme would maintain the village’s
linear form; as confirmed by the Council’s independent landscape officer, the scheme
would not extend inappropriately into the surrounding countryside, nor would it unduly
affect the setting of the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty; a strong landscaped edge
would be provided along the southern boundary, maintaining the separation distance
with Bishop’s Cleeve; and, the development was not in conflict with any other policy
within the Neighbourhood Plan — the scheme would deliver an area of public open
space along the northern boundary which was significantly in excess of local standards,
a key part of the Neighbourhood Plan. Therefore, whilst the Neighbourhood Plan was
in a draft stage, the proposed development was generally in accordance with the
guidance of Policy GNDP2. There was a pressing need for suitable and sustainable
sites to come forward to maintain a robust five year supply of housing; this was a rolling
requirement and approval of this application would only strengthen the Council’s
position moving forward. He therefore respectfully requested that planning permission
be granted, as recommended by the Planning Officer, subject to the suggested
conditions.

The Chair indicated that the Officer recommendation was to delegate authority to the
Development Manager to permit the application, subject to the completion of a Section
106 Agreement, and he invited a motion from the floor. It was proposed and seconded
that the application be refused on the basis that it would have a detrimental impact on
the sensitive landscape - the site was located outside of the village boundary and within
the Special Landscape Area and a highly visible backdrop to the Area of Outstanding
Natural Beauty - and would result in urban sprawl and the coalescence of Gotherington
and Bishop’s Cleeve. A cumulative increase of 28% was disproportionate to the size of
the existing village and this development would have a negative effect on its
infrastructure and social cohesion. The proposer of the motion pointed out that the
Committee would have seen from the site visit on Friday that the proposed site was
located on the outside of the residential development boundary of Gotherington in a
rural field which was criss-crossed by public footpaths. It was located within the
Special Landscape Area and surrounded by a beautiful backdrop of Nottingham Hill,
Dixton Hill and Woolstone Hill, all of which were within the Area of Outstanding Natural
Beauty, and the site would be highly visible from this higher ground. In the Planning
Officer’s report, it had been identified that the building of these 50 proposed homes
would have an urbanising effect and would cause erosion of the rural landscape.
Members would also have seen how close the development at Homelands, Bishop’s
Cleeve was to the boundaries of Gotherington village. In her view, it was vitally
important to prevent the coalescence of Bishop’s Cleeve and Gotherington and to
maintain the gap between the two communities. Members had been informed that
having a five year land supply meant that Policy HOU4 was now relevant and, as
detailed in the Additional Representations Sheet, attached at Appendix 1, the
application was in conflict with saved Policy HOU4, to which substantial weight should

7



73.13

73.14

73.15

14.02.17

be applied. She believed that the detrimental impact this development would have on
the sensitive landscape within the Special Landscape Area, and close to the Area of
Outstanding Natural Beauty, was significant. Views down to the site from the
surrounding hills would be impacted; the site would look like urban sprawl and would be
out of keeping with the rural character of Gotherington and its surrounding countryside.
The impact on social cohesion and infrastructure was also significant; there were
already 78 new homes approved for Gotherington, as well as the two which had been
permitted in the previous application, and 50 more would represent a cumulative
increase of 28% which would be unsustainable. It would have a negative impact on
community cohesion and would be of a scale disproportionate to the existing settlement
and weighing against this development. There were no material planning
circumstances that indicated that the application should be approved; in her opinion
there were significant and substantial reasons for the application to be refused which
were not outweighed by the need for housing.

The seconder of the motion felt that it was a finely balanced judgement. With a five
year demonstrable supply of housing the focus was now on other planning issues, the
most significant and fundamental of which, in his view, was landscape harm. He noted
that advice had been sought from an independent landscape consultant who had
indicated that there would be little harm; however, Members had clearly seen the
potential landscape harm when they had visited the application site. When Bishop’s
Cleeve was eventually built out and the boundary became clear, the gap with
Gotherington would be significantly diminished and, should this application be
permitted, there would be coalescence of the two communities. The local planning
authority should not be in the business of allowing urban sprawl to develop and
submerge villages like Gotherington. The site was in the Special Landscape Area,
which should be protected, and outside of the residential development boundary and
there were no substantive benefits which outweighed these factors — he was
particularly sceptical about the economic benefits which would be provided during the
construction phase. He reiterated that landscape harm was the most significant issue
and the application should be refused on that basis.

A Member echoed the views of the proposer and seconder of the motion and indicated
that Gotherington was trying very hard to maintain a linear pattern of development
which would be ruined by this application. It was a finely balanced decision for Officers
but he felt that the negatives outweighed the positives. Another Member supported the
motion to refuse the application. He felt that the development would be a blot on the
landscape, particularly when viewed from higher ground, and Bishop’s Cleeve could
already be seen creeping towards Gotherington. Urban sprawl was not acceptable and
he could not support it.

The Development Manager reminded Members that the five year housing supply was a
minimum. Furthermore, the economic benefits of house building were well-established
and would always be referenced by an Inspector. If Members were minded to refuse
the application, he pointed out that it would be necessary to include technical refusal
reasons relating to the Section 106 obligations. He sought further explanation from the
proposer of the motion as to what harm would be caused in terms of social cohesion
and, in response, the proposer of the motion stated that the scale of the proposed
development would be disproportionate to the existing settlement and would be
disconnected from it due to its location on the edge of the settlement. The additional
housing would impact on the services offered by the village, such as schools and clubs,
as well as roads and transport. The Development Manager clarified that there was no
objection to the proposal from the County Council in terms of education or highways
and it would therefore be difficult to produce the necessary evidence to defend refusal
reasons on those grounds. The proposer of the motion recognised that the statutory
consultees were required to provide their professional views, however, local knowledge
could be invaluable and the roads in Gotherington were grinding to a halt. The
seconder of the motion felt that it was important to include as many refusal reasons as

8



73.16

7317

73.18

14.02.17

possible to formulate a defence at appeal and it was for the Inspector to decide upon
their relevance. He agreed that people on the ground often had a different view to the
statutory consultees and he made particular reference to the impact on the children
who would be living in the houses who may be forced to go to another school in a
different village. The Development Manager fully understood that Members may have
a different view from Officers and statutory consultees and he was simply reminding the
Committee of the potential danger of the Council being liable to pay costs at appeal,
particularly on the grounds of highway safety given that the County Highways Authority
had not recommended refusal on that basis and as the Committee had permitted other
applications for housing in Gotherington, including the previous application on the
schedule. A Member pointed out that the County Highways Authority had confirmed
that it was not possible for a refuse vehicle and a private motorcar to pass one another
at the site access and, whilst it was stated that there was sufficient visibility for
approaching vehicles to give way, 50 houses were likely to generate a lot of contact at
the site entrance not only in terms of refuse collections but home deliveries as well.
Another Member noted that a condition had been recommended by Officers in relation
to the submission of a highway improvement scheme for Gotherington Cross junction
and she felt that a report should have been provided as part of the application as it
suggested that highway safety was an issue. In addition, she supported the seconder
of the motion in terms of his comment about the overcapacity of local schools. Whilst
he recognised that Members may disagree with statutory advice on the basis that they
knew differently what happened “on the ground,” a Member pointed out that it should
be borne in mind that an Inspector would take the professional advice as evidential.

Upon being put to the vote, it was

RESOLVED That the application be REFUSED on the basis that it would be
contrary to Policy HOU4 of the adopted local plan; would represent
a significant encroachment into the surrounding rural landscape
which would have an urbanising effect and result in erosion of the
rural landscape, contributing towards further coalescence of
Gotherington and Bishop’s Cleeve causing harm to the character
and appearance of the landscape within a Special Landscape Area
which served to protect the foreground setting of the adjacent Area
of Outstanding Natural Beauty; in addition to those already permitted
in the village, it would result in cumulative development of the village
which would be of a scale disproportionate to the existing
settlement. As such, the proposed development would fail to
maintain or enhance the vitality of Gotherington and would have a
harmful impact on the social wellbeing of the local community,
risking the erosion of community cohesion; and no signed planning
obligations were in place to deliver the necessary affordable housing
and social infrastructure.

16/01280/FUL — Orchard Cottage, Aston Carrant Road, Aston-On-Carrant

This application was for the demolition of an existing detached garage and
outbuildings; erection of a two storey detached dwelling; and alterations to, and
extension of, the existing driveway and parking area to include provision of vehicular
access to the adjacent paddock. It was noted that the application had been deferred at
the last meeting of the Planning Committee in order to allow time for soakaway test
results and an appropriate Drainage Strategy to be submitted and assessed. The
Committee had visited the application site on Friday 10 February 2017.

The Development Manager advised that the flood risk objection had been overcome
and it was accepted that drainage could be resolved via condition. Notwithstanding
this, the Officer recommendation was affected, not only by the change in circumstances
around the five year supply, but also by the removal of the Ministry of Defence,
Ashchurch strategic allocation in the Joint Core Strategy. Unlike the applications at

9



73.19

73.20

14.02.17

Gotherington, Aston-On-Carrant did not have a residential development boundary and
was not designated as a service village. Historically, applications had been refused on
the basis of being located outside of a recognised settlement boundary; some limited
development had taken place, however, that had generally been on brownfield land or,
more recently, for an agricultural workers’ dwelling at Wheelers Farm. It was noted that
a recent application at The Laurels had been permitted on balance, largely due to the
existence of the strategic allocation at the Ministry of Defence site; however, that
justification had now disappeared and Policy HOU4 was no longer out of date so
should be given substantial weight. An additional representation had been submitted
by the applicant’s agent, as detailed in the Additional Representations Sheet, attached
at Appendix 1; however, it was not considered that a single dwelling and its associated
benefits would outweigh the conflict with the development plan. This was
recommended as one of two additional refusal reasons, the second of which related to
accessibility and lack of access to amenities. It was noted that design continued to be
a concern and this remained a reason for refusal.

The Chair invited the applicant’s agent, Wendy Hopkins, to address the Committee.
She indicated that, by attending Planning Committee meetings on a regular basis, she
knew that Members supported small-scale growth in villages in certain circumstances
to avoid them stagnating. The proposal before the Committee was exactly that — an
application for a single dwelling for a local family that represented those particular
circumstances where development was acceptable. This application was considered
favourably by Planning Officers in respect of issues such as landscape, residential
amenity, highways and flood risk; however, concerns were expressed in respect of the
impact the proposal would have on the character of the area — not in terms of design
but in terms of the position on site in relation to the surrounding urban grain — and the
fact that Tewkesbury Borough now considered that it was able to demonstrate a five
year housing land supply, a matter that had only been raised yesterday. Given these
reasons, and taking into account the benefits, she did not agree that the proposal
would constitute a level of harm that would warrant refusal. The site lay wholly within
the built-up form of the settlement and would be located significantly closer to the road
than the adjacent cul-de-sac. As evident on site, the new dwelling would be detectable
from within the streetscene and, whilst the settlement was predominantly single plot
depth, there were a number of existing dwellings set back behind those that addressed
the road frontage. The site was not within a Conservation Area and there were no
listed buildings in close proximity, although she agreed that Orchard Cottage was an
undesignated heritage asset and the new dwelling had been designed to respect that.
The new dwelling was a storey and a half in height and set back within the site so as
not to compete or detract. Orchard Cottage would remain the dominant feature when
viewed from the road and, as such, would maintain the immediate and wider character
of the area. In respect of the five year housing land supply, whilst this was welcome
news to residents of the borough, she reiterated that the figure was a minimum
requirement, not a ceiling figure, and the contribution of a single dwelling would not
prejudice or distort the planned delivery of housing as set out in the Joint Core
Strategy. In her view the development should be seen positively as assisting toward a
robust, and ultimately defendable, supply position. In summing up she pointed out that
the application was not about constructing a dwelling to sell on, it was about providing a
home to a local family to enable their elderly mother to remain living in her home with
the benefit of her close family effectively living on site. This was exactly the type of
development that would keep small villages and communities alive.

In response to a Member query regarding Policy HOU4, the Development Manager
explained that it applied to any areas which were outside of a residential development
boundary, where there was a residential development boundary in place in that area
e.g. Gotherington and those where there was no recognised settlement boundary.
There was a general presumption against granting planning permission outside of a
residential development boundary and it was necessary for the applicant to

10



73.21

73.22

14.02.17

demonstrate the particular circumstances which outweighed the harm in those
instances. Another Member drew attention to the Additional Representation Sheet
which referenced additional information that had been submitted by the applicant
following the update at Paragraph 7 of the Officer’s report and she sought clarification
as to what that information had set out. The Council’s Flood Risk Management
Engineer confirmed that further detail had been submitted via a consultant who had
addressed the concerns in respect of run-off rates, storage facilities and discharge
points within the surface water system. Although the information had not been
provided to Members, he had seen the report and the plans and considered that
sustainable development with regard to flood risk was attainable for the site. The
Development Manager apologised that the information had not been included in full but
he stressed that the Council’s Flood Risk Management Engineer was satisfied and he
would be concerned about a refusal on that basis.

The Chair confirmed that the Officer recommendation was to refuse the application and
he sought a motion from the floor. It was proposed and seconded that the application
be refused in accordance with the Officer recommendation. A Member expressed the
view that the proposal was comparable to that at Red Roofs, Gotherington, which had
been permitted earlier in the meeting, in that it was backfilling. It would match the
existing development line and she did not believe that it would have a negative impact
on the streetscene. Given that Officers were satisfied that the drainage concerns had
been addressed, and on the basis that the site was not located within a Special
Landscape Area or Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and there would be no
significant landscape harm, she felt that it should be permitted. The Development
Manager explained that the key difference between this proposal and Red Roofs was
the application of Policy HOU4. In that case, there was a presumption that housing
development should only be permitted in exceptional circumstances i.e. where
essential to the efficient operation of agriculture or forestry or for the provision of
affordable housing exception sites. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004 required that proposals be determined in accordance with the
development plan unless material considerations indicated otherwise. As set out in the
Gotherington reports, there were also emerging policies for housing there, whereas
there was no such emerging policy here. The benefits of this proposal were limited by
virtue of it being a single dwelling and he reminded Members of the decisions that had
been made on previous applications where that position had been taken.

During the debate which ensued, a Member pointed out that Aston-On-Carrant was not
a service village and there was nothing in the area except for houses and farmland with
the nearest facilities located in Ashchurch. Another Member highlighted the fact that
this proposal would provide a house for a local resident and he was in favour of a
situation where people could take action to keep their families and communities
together. He could not see how Policy HOU4, which had been designed for a
completely different purpose, could be used to prevent what, in his view, was a very
sensible development. The Development Manager explained that, whilst he
acknowledged the personal circumstances surrounding the application and the current
intentions, once planning permission had been granted there was no way of controlling
who occupied the dwelling in the future and a potential precedent would be set.
Permitting an application in a settlement where there was no residential development
boundary was against policy and could cause problems going forward. Policy HOU4
intended to direct development towards settlements that had been identified as places
which should be expanded. He had previously discussed the fact that there were some
small settlements which should be given the chance to grow and there was an
opportunity to do this through Neighbourhood Development Plans and the Borough
Plan. He stressed the importance of exercising control as this was the fundamental
purpose of the planning system.

11



73.23

73.24

73.25

73.26

73.27

73.28

14.02.17

A Member indicated that he had never been in favour of leaving small villages to
stagnate and he felt that an individual house would be of benefit to the community.
Another Member pointed out that the fundamental objection in relation to flooding and
drainage had been resolved and he did not feel that not being able to control the future
occupation of a dwelling was a reason to prevent planning permission from being
granted. In response, a Member pointed out that this was an issue which had been
raised many times at Planning Committee and each time it had been made very clear
that future occupation was not something which could be controlled. Members had to
follow the guidelines and she would be supporting the motion to refuse the application.

Upon being taken to the vote, the motion to refuse the application was lost. It was
subsequently proposed and seconded that the application be permitted on the grounds
that there would be no adverse impact on the streetscene or significant landscape
harm, the proposal would reflect the character of the area and the drainage concerns
could be adequately addressed. This motion was put to the vote and it was

RESOLVED That the application be PERMITTED on the grounds that there
would be no adverse impact on the streetscene or significant
landscape harm; the proposal would reflect the character of the
area; and the drainage concerns could be adequately addressed,
subject to a condition requiring the submission of detailed drainage
arrangements and standard conditions in relation to materials,
levels, highways, access and parking.

16/00771/FUL — 2 Cherry Gardens, Walton Cardiff, Tewkesbury

This application was to brick up a garage door and install a window for room to be a
habitable space.

The Chair indicated that there were no public speakers for this item. The Officer
recommendation was to permit the application and he sought a motion from the floor. It
was proposed and seconded that the application be permitted in accordance with the
Officer recommendation and, upon being taken to the vote, it was

RESOLVED That the application be PERMITTED in accordance with the Officer
recommendation.

16/01256/FUL — 24 Elmbury Drive, Newtown

This application was for a new dwelling. The application had been deferred at the
Planning Committee meeting on 17 January 2017 for a Committee Site Visit to assess
the impact upon the residential amenity of neighbouring properties and the Committee
had visited the application site on Friday 10 February 2017.

The Chair invited Claire Miers, a neighbour speaking against the proposal, to address
the Committee. She indicated that when the first application had been made to build in
the garden of 24 ElImbury Drive she had believed that the planning system would
prevent a property being built so close to her home that it would compromise her ability
to have a good night’s sleep in her own bedroom due to the noise of another
households’ television, radio or conversation. Sadly, despite the potential impact of
noise transference being mentioned in planning policy, this did not appear to be of
concern to Planning Officers. She was disappointed that Tewkesbury Town Council’s
objection that this type of garden-grabbing was detrimental had been completely
disregarded. She had been brought up to believe that you should not inflict on anybody
else something which you were not prepared to tolerate yourself and, as the applicant
was clearly not prepared to have the new dwelling built so close to his own property,
she questioned why he was allowed to inflict it upon her. Members were about to vote
on a decision which could have a significant impact, not only on her life, but on the lives
of the other residents of Walton House. Before they voted, she asked the Committee
to consider whether they shared the Planning Officer’s confidence that she would not
be troubled by noise from the proposed new dwelling’s kitchen/living room window that

12



14.02.17

was situated only 10.5m from her bedroom window. She also asked them whether a
tiny bungalow, no bigger than the average park home - with the average living space in
the property for the kitchen, dining room and living room measuring 7.5m by 5.5m - was
the type of property which should be granted planning permission. She wondered
whether the Members shared the confidence of the Planning and Landscape Officers
that the roots of the Sycamore tree did not pose a threat to the foundations of the new
build on the basis of a report compiled by a garden designer that was not a qualified
member of the Arboricultural Society. She had been advised by a number of builders
and surveyors that to build within 80cm of a boundary line fence would be extremely
difficult and she questioned whether Members believed that the bungalow could be
built without the fence belonging to Walton House being damaged or knocked down. If
Members could not answer these questions positively then she urged them to refuse
the application.

73.29 The Chair indicated that the Officer recommendation was to permit the application and
he sought a motion from the floor. It was proposed and seconded that the application
be permitted in accordance with the Officer recommendation. The proposer of the
motion explained that the Committee had visited the application site and had looked at
the property in question and the neighbour’s property at the back of the garden. Given
that the proposed dwelling was a single storey bungalow she did not feel that it would
have an overbearing impact or result in a loss of privacy or any significant increase in
noise and disturbance that would justify a refusal. Upon being taken to the vote, it was

RESOLVED That the application be PERMITTED in accordance with the Officer
recommendation.

16/01306/FUL — 30 Bramley Road, Mitton

73.30 This application was for a two storey side extension and single storey rear extension
alterations.

73.31 The Chair indicated that there were no public speakers for this item. The Officer
recommendation was to permit the application and he sought a motion from the floor. It
was proposed and seconded that the application be permitted in accordance with the
Officer recommendation and, upon being put to the vote, it was

RESOLVED That the application be PERMITTED in accordance with the Officer
recommendation.

16/00324/FUL — 1 Swilgate Road, Tewkesbury

73.32 This application was for the redevelopment of an existing dwelling and car park to
provide nine apartments.

73.33 The Development Manager indicated that this was a long running saga on a difficult
site and, as set out the Officer report, there were continuing flood risk concerns. The
most recent application had been refused on flood risk grounds mainly relating to safe
and dry access during times of flood; this was not possible to the front due to the depth
and velocity of water, and it was therefore proposed that access be through the rear of
the site onto Church Street. The Flood Risk Assessment set out that in times of
extreme flooding there would be water at the end of that access route onto Church
Street. The water at that point was likely to be between 0.22m and 0.5m deep but it
had a very low velocity and reduced in depth over a short distance. The Flood Risk
Assessment also pointed out that the existing dwelling itself was at risk of flooding, and
that had been noted by the Planning Inspector at the appeal for the application for 12
dwellings on the site that had been dismissed in 2013. It was noted that there would be
betterment in terms of flood storage capacity as a result of the proposed development.
On balance, the Flood Risk Management Engineer was satisfied that safe access could
be created onto Church Street, although it would not necessarily be dry during times of
extreme flood. Proposed conditions were set out in the Officer report which would
require occupiers to subscribe to the Environment Agency’s flood warning advice and

13



14.02.17

be provided with a copy of a flood management plan, including details of evacuation
procedures. The key difference between this and the application which had been
refused by the Committee in February 2016 was the design. Officers felt that there was
a marked improvement from the uninspiring pastiche, which would be of no benefit the
area, to a more contemporary approach which respected and took cues from the
surrounding burgage plots to the rear. The Council’'s Conservation Officer, Heritage
England and the Civic Society all welcomed the new approach. The objections in
respect of flood risk still existed; whilst there was also some concern about the
overbearing impact of the new proposal on the neighbouring property, on balance,
Officers felt that the benefits arising from the proposal, particularly the enhancement of
the Conservation Area, justified permission. It was noted that the Officer
recommendation was for a delegated permission pending the receipt of comments from
the County Highways Authority; it was anticipated that there would be no objection,
subject to conditions.

73.34 The Chair confirmed that the Officer recommendation was to delegate authority to the
Development Manager to permit the application, subject to the receipt of comments
from the County Highways Authority and additional/amended conditions as appropriate,
and he sought a motion from the floor. It was proposed and seconded that authority be
delegated to the Development Manager to permit the application in accordance with the
Officer recommendation. The proposer of the motion recognised that this site had
been an issue for some time and the application was now at a point where the majority
of people involved were reasonably happy. In his view the proposals would
significantly improve the site and he would be pleased for the matter to be brought to a
conclusion.

73.35 A Member indicated that she could not support this application. The only thing that had
changed since the Committee had refused the application in early 2016 was the
design; she pointed out that the sequential test had still not been passed. The Swilgate
flooded every year and, given the previous flood events in Tewkesbury, she found it
incredible that Officers would recommend an application for permission which included
conditions requiring the occupiers to subscribe to a flood warning service and to be
provided with a Flood Management Plan. The report set out that residents would be
unable to gain access and egress via the Swilagate Road during times of flood and she
could not imagine that anyone would want to live in a property with this level of risk.
Another Member shared these concerns and was also surprised that the proposals had
been considered favourably by Officers. She drew attention to Page No. 668,
Paragraph 4.21 of the Officer’s report, which set out that the previous appeal Inspector
had concluded that anyone requiring emergency medical help and associated
evacuation by ambulance during a flood event would be placed at considerable risk.
The Council had a duty of care to residents and it would be wrong to increase the
number of residents who were potentially at risk by permitting an application for nine
additional apartments.

73.36 In response to these concerns, the Development Manager advised that the obligations
in terms of flood risk were set out within the report. Officers had recommended that
planning permission be granted because of the benefits in terms of the enhancement to
the Conservation Area; he appreciated that it was a difficult decision to make given the
circumstances affecting the town in times of flood but Members would need to take a
balanced judgement. The proposer of the motion indicated that he was a local Ward
Member and he was very conscious of the flooding aspects which he did not
underestimate at any time. The existing house had not flooded in 2007 and the
replacement properties would be slightly higher up. It was widely recognised that the
Swilgate flooded but safe access and egress could be provided via Church Street. Of
course there was still a risk but that had to be balanced against the benefits of the
proposal; the site was in need of improvement and the design was far better than in the
previous scheme. This view was supported by another Member who pointed out that
there had been no objection from the Town Council. Local residents were well aware

14



14.02.17

that Tewkesbury flooded and they reacted accordingly; he had heard the benefits of the
proposal and would be supporting the motion. A Member accepted that the existing
site was not particularly attractive but she did not feel that should be a reason to permit
this application. She felt that it would be irresponsible to permit an application with so
many caveats and she was stunned that Officers were recommending it for permission.
This view was shared by another Member who questioned why the Committee would
want to allow more properties to be built in an area where there was a known
significant risk of flooding and conditions were needed to ensure that people could exit
the properties in such events. He appreciated that it was a balanced decision, and he
recognised the positive aspects of the proposal, however, it was a risk which could not
be calculated and it would be foolish to permit it in his view.

73.37 Upon being put to the vote, it was

RESOLVED That authority be DELEGATED to the Development Manager to
PERMIT the application, subject to the receipt of comments from the
County Highways Authority and additional/amended conditions as
appropriate.

15/00751/0UT - Bentham Country Club, Bentham Lane, Bentham

73.38 This was an outline application for the redevelopment of Bentham Country Club to
include the erection of 39 dwellings, associated parking, public open space,
landscaping and associated works.

73.39 The Planning Officer drew attention to the Additional Representations Sheet, attached
at Appendix 1, which set out that the applicant had requested that the application be
deferred in order to resolve outstanding issues. Although the Council was now able to
demonstrate a five year housing land supply, this did not alter the Officer
recommendation to refuse the application; Bentham had not been identified as a
service village in the Joint Core Strategy, the site was located within the Green Belt and
Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and was in a relatively remote location which was
not well served by local facilities. An additional refusal reason was recommended to
address the conflict with Policy HOU4.

73.40 The Chair invited the applicant’s agent, Giles Brockbank, to address the Committee.
He confirmed that the application site was across the road from the Bentham Works
site where an application for the demolition of existing buildings and redevelopment to
provide 49 dwellings had been permitted in 2014. One key issue with the current
proposal was the loss of existing sports facilities; however, the application had been in
for over a year and the applicant had been working with the Community Development
team and representatives from the netball community to overcome these concerns.
Alternative facilities were now proposed to the satisfaction of Sports England. He went
on to explain that the application site was within close proximity to two poultry buildings
and the Council’'s Environmental Health Officer had raised concern about the strong
potential for complaints from odour and had objected to the proposal on those grounds.
The applicant therefore respectfully requested that the application be deferred to allow
odour modelling work to be undertaken. The Planning Officer had also stated that the
proposal did not demonstrate that any subsequent reserved matters application would
achieve the high level of design required in this sensitive location and, should Members
resolve to defer the application, it was intended to bring back additional information in
respect of design and how the proposal could be assimilated satisfactorily into the
surroundings. The benefits associated with the scheme should be a strong material
consideration and he reiterated that the five year housing land supply was a minimum.
Given the length of time since the application had been submitted, and the willingness
of the applicant to seek to address the issues relating to the application, he felt that the
request for additional time to resolve the outstanding concerns was reasonable.

15



73.41

73.42

73.43

73.44

14.02.17

The Chair confirmed that the Officer recommendation was to refuse the application and
he sought a motion from the floor. It was proposed and seconded that the application
be deferred in order for further odour modelling work to be undertaken. A Member
indicated that she did not agree that this was the most appropriate way forward and
she proposed that the application be refused, in accordance with the Officer
recommendation, on the basis that the site was located within the Area of Outstanding
Natural Beauty and Green Belt where residential development was restricted. This
motion was also seconded. In response to a query regarding the alternative site for
sports facilities, the Planning Officer clarified that the existing sports facilities must be
replaced in another location and they must be equal to, or an improvement upon,
existing facilities and serve all existing users. Lengthy discussions had taken place
with Sports England with the principal issue being the replacement of the netball
facilities. An agreement had now been reached that satisfactory replacement facilities
could be provided at the Millbrook Academy in Brockworth; whilst the replacement
facilities could potentially be provided, planning permission would be needed and
therefore this could currently be given very little weight in the overall planning balance.
He pointed out that a planning application for the replacement facilities could have
been submitted for determination in parallel with the current application and Sports
England had made a similar comment in terms of the fact that there must be a legal
mechanism in place to secure the delivery of the replacement facilities before it would
withdraw its objection.

A Member expressed the view that it would be beneficial to visit the application site to
assess the impact of the proposal upon the Green Belt and Area of Outstanding
Natural Beauty - particularly if Members were minded to defer the application for the
odour modelling work to be undertaken - and he also suggested visiting the Millbrook
Academy site where it was proposed that the replacement sports facilities would be
situated. The Development Manager did not feel that it would be appropriate to visit
the site at Millbrook Academy in terms of this particular application; if an application
was submitted for the replacement facilities, that would be the right time for a site visit.
The proposer and seconder of the motion to refuse the application felt that the impact
of 39 houses within the Green Belt was quite clear and they did not consider that a site
visit was necessary. The seconder of that motion drew attention to the comments of
the Cotswold Conservation Board which noted the previously developed nature of the
site but considered that the proposal would essentially result in a new housing estate of
39 dwellings in the nationally protected Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and Green
Belt, in an unsustainable location unrelated to any existing settlement and would result
in a negative urbanising change of character.

The Legal Adviser confirmed that the motion for a deferral would be taken first and the
proposer and seconder of that motion indicated that they would be happy to amend the
motion to include a Committee Site Visit. Upon being taken to the vote, it was

RESOLVED That the application be DEFERRED for a Committee Site Visit to
consider the impact of the proposal on the Green Belt and Area of
Outstanding Natural Beauty and to allow further odour modelling
work to be undertaken.

16/01232/FUL - 36 Farthing Croft, Highnam

This application was for a rear single storey extension to enlarge the kitchen and
provide a garden room; and a front two storey extension to provide a porch and dining
room and enlarged bedroom. The Committee had visited the application site on Friday
10 February 2017.

16



73.45

73.46

73.47

73.48

14.02.17

The Chair indicated that there were no public speakers for this item. The Officer
recommendation was to permit the application and he sought a motion from the floor. It
was proposed and seconded that the application be permitted in accordance with the
Officer recommendation and, upon being put to the vote, it was

RESOLVED That the application be PERMITTED in accordance with the Officer
recommendation.

16/00486/OUT - Land South of Oakridge, Highnam

This was an outline application for the erection of 40 dwellings with all matters reserved
except for access. The Committee had visited the application site on Friday 10
February 2017.

The Development Manager reiterated that, given the Council’s ability to demonstrate a
five year supply of deliverable housing sites, the starting point was that there was now
a presumption against granting permission as the proposal was contrary to Policy
HOU4. The issues were very much the same as for the previous applications; it was a
question of whether there were any material planning considerations which justified a
departure from the development plan — in this instance that included the Highnam
Development Plan. The considerations in favour of granting planning permission were
the need to significantly boost the supply of deliverable housing sites; the benefits of
the proposal in terms of the delivery of affordable and market housing, and the
economic benefits associated with this; the fact that Highnam was identified as a
service village in the Joint Core Strategy for some limited development; and its relative
proximity to Gloucester. The National Planning Policy Framework was considered in
the Officer report and no particular conflict had been identified. There was local
concern about breaching the boundary of Highnam, set by Oakridge, however, in
landscape terms, whilst there would inevitably be harm arising from the agricultural
fields being replaced with a development of 40 houses, it was considered that the
development could be accommodated on the site without undue harm. The
development would not be setting any form of precedent — there may be other sites
outside of the boundary of Oakridge where there would be harm — and, in the overall
planning balance, Officers considered that the benefits arising from the scheme
justified a departure from Policy HOU4 in this case and it had subsequently been
recommended for a delegated permission.

The Chair invited Councillor Michael Welch, representing Highnam Parish Council, to
address the Committee. Councillor Welch indicated that Highnam Parish Council had
only become aware that the application would be considered by the Planning
Committee at this meeting by chance on Thursday which had given insufficient time to
analyse the Planning Officer’s report in detail. As such, the Parish Council requested
that the application be deferred until the following month to provide a chance for all
relevant parties to discuss how best the community could evolve and develop over the
coming years. The Highnam Neighbourhood Development Plan had been approved by
the Borough Council just three weeks earlier and now formed an integral part of its
development plan. It was regrettable, therefore, that there had not been an opportunity
for the Parish Council to work constructively with Officers to ensure that development
was sustainable and integrated. He pointed out that the Joint Core Strategy service
village housing provision would be exceeded by this development, providing no scope
for future development over the plan period. For the very first time the long established
boundary of the village, as defined by Oakridge Road, would be breached thereby
creating a quite separate unsustainable intrusion into open countryside, out of keeping
with the existing village. Taken together with the recently approved Lassington Lane
development in the village, this would significantly increase the already heavy traffic

17



73.49

74.50

14.02.17

flow onto the surrounding road infrastructure, especially at peak times. This proposal
had generated considerable opposition and concern throughout the village and he
urged the Committee to defer it for a short period to enable the proposal to be
considered more fully by relevant parties.

The Chair invited Nicolas Cook, speaking on behalf of the interests of the Fenton estate
and opposition parties, to address the Committee. Mr Cook explained there had been
considerable opposition to the development and, of the 202 representations, 156 were
from individual objectors. These individuals, and the community at large, had an
expectation that their democratic representatives and appointed Officers would look
after their interests. They were understandably concerned when contentious
development received approval only because there was inadequate planning policy to
prevent it. If the current development was approved, the village of Highnam alone
would have been subjected to 128 dwellings through various planning permissions
under a regime where there had been no effective planning policy in place. There was
a widespread perception that the community had been let down. In these
circumstances, where vulnerable communities were being subjected to opportunistic
development, the local planning authority surely had an increased responsibility to
protect them; notwithstanding this, the various consultations undertaken appeared
cursory with an over-reliance on the applicant’s own expert submissions and findings.
The highway proposals and recommendations were causing real concern locally and
the landscape findings were hard to credit for a development which extended beyond
the established Oakridge settlement. The site’s north eastern boundary was on the
brow of a high point in the landscape and, despite being set back from the perimeter,
the dwellings would silhouette 6-8m above the profile of the land which was visually
intrusive. The overall landscape quality in the area had been detrimentally altered
through recent planning approvals. In addition to the development of 88 dwellings on
Lassington Lane, two solar farms had been approved in the Highnam area - the Over
Farm solar development of 25.7 hectares was just one field away to the east of the site.
The accumulated negative impact on the landscape character was significant. There
were also indications that the developer and landowner may have ambitions for a larger
scheme in the same field to the south east of the site and this development could form
a precedent for further unplanned encroachment into the countryside. For these
reasons, and all of the other objections raised, the application represented
inappropriate development and he asked the Planning Committee to refuse it
accordingly.

The Chair invited the applicant’s agent, David Jones, to address the Committee. Mr
Jones advised that Highnam was defined as a local service village in the emerging
Joint Core Strategy and, as such, was capable of supporting, and being supported by,
new housing development. This was considered to be a sustainable location for the
proposed development as the site was a logical physical extension to the built up area
and offered efficient, safe and convenient access to the highway network.
Furthermore, the land was not subject to any restrictive land designation i.e. it was not
designated Green Belt, Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty or a Special Landscape
Area. The recently adopted Neighbourhood Development Plan did not contain any
policies which restricted development of this type and, in accordance with Policy H1 of
the Neighbourhood Plan, the applicant had agreed to provide an element of self-build
plots and affordable bungalows according to identified local need. The applicant
endorsed the findings of the Officer report in which it was confirmed that no objections
had been made by any of the statutory or technical consultees in respect of such
matters as highway impact and safety, drainage and flooding, landscape, ecology or
heritage. The development would provide for 40% affordable housing, together with
over £230,000 of contributions towards local services. The Planning Officer’s report
confirmed that the Council could allegedly deliver a five year supply of housing sites;
whilst he found this conclusion highly doubtful, notwithstanding the five year housing



14.02.17

land supply figure, there remained an obligation to significantly boost housing supply.
He had submitted to Officers two recent appeal decisions in which Inspectors had
considered the same issue; in both cases it was concluded that a five year housing
supply was a minimum provision, not simply a target to be met. Furthermore, there
remained an acute need for affordable housing which would be provided by this
development. Whilst it was noted that the application had generated significant local
opposition, Members would be well aware that local opposition in itself was not a
satisfactory reason for withholding consent. Officers had carefully analysed the
relevant planning considerations and rightly recommended the proposal for permission.
The application had been validated in May 2016 so he believed that there had been
more than sufficient time for the Parish Council and local residents to consider and
respond to the proposal. He therefore urged the Committee to support the Officer
recommendation and permit the application.

73.51 The Chair invited Councillor Philip Awford, a Ward Member for the area, to address the
Committee. Councillor Awford shared the concerns that had been expressed in
relation to the application and the disappointment at the lack of engagement that was
promised to the Parish Council. The report made no mention of the recent decision for
growth in Highnam; growth which was needed but not at the risk of the village being
desecrated. This opportunistic proposal would be detrimental to the village setting and
set a precedent for a more urban appearance on the approach to Highnam and
potentially a more unwelcome urban style of development. 156 letters of objection had
been submitted and had made clear the many planning issues associated with this
application. He respectfully asked the Committee to consider a deferral in order for the
Parish Council’s concerns to be considered more fully in a more balanced report. He
reiterated that the Council was now able to demonstrate a five year supply of
deliverable housing sites and he pointed out that nothing in the proposal accorded with
the recent Council resolution to include Highnam Neighbourhood Plan as part of the
development plan for Tewkesbury Borough. This application was outside of the
residential development boundary and permitting it would undermine that very
significant process that had taken hundreds of hours of work. He warned Members
against repeating the errors of permitting developments that took away from the unique
characteristics of Highnam as a village; a bolt on development that was urban in design
would spoil the boundaries of this attractive village. He asked Members to give the
Parish Council and residents support by deferring the application for better
engagement around the Neighbourhood Development Plan.

73.52 The Chair confirmed that the Officer recommendation was to delegate authority to the
Development Manager to permit the application, subject to consideration as to how
visibility could be secured at the access to the site and the completion of a Section 106
Agreement, and he sought a motion from the floor. It was proposed and seconded that
the application be deferred to enable the proposal to be considered more fully by
relevant parties, in accordance with the request made by the Parish Council. A
Member questioned why the Officer report did not make any reference to social
cohesion, bearing in mind the similarities between this application and the one at
Cobbler’s Close, Gotherington which had been refused earlier in the meeting and had
contained a large section on social cohesion as a material planning consideration. The
Development Manager explained that it was not always possible to discuss every
material planning consideration within the Officer report and no specific objections had
been made in respect of social cohesion in this case. If Members were minded to defer
the application then Officers could take a view on that aspect of the proposal in the
report which would be brought back to the Committee. The Member indicated that she
was of the view that the local community had worked hard to get the Highnam
Neighbourhood Development Plan approved and it was only right to ensure that they
were fully involved in the process in terms of where properties should be built, therefore
she would support the motion for a deferral.

19



73.53

73.54

73.55

73.56

14.02.17

Upon being put to the vote, it was

RESOLVED That the application be DEFERRED to enable the proposal to be
considered more fully by relevant parties, in accordance with the
request made by the Parish Council.

15/00941/FUL — Part Parcel 7200, Sandhurst Lane, Sandhurst

This application was for the erection of 16 dwellings (eight affordable and eight open
market sale) with landscaping, access and associated works.

The Chair invited the applicant’s agent, Oliver Rider, to address the Committee. He
explained that, as set out in the Officer report, this was a finely balanced case where
there were substantial benefits to the delivery of affordable housing which clearly
needed to be weighed against any alleged harms. In his view the benefits were so
substantial that they far outweighed any negatives and he explained why with reference
to six basic facts. Firstly, a Parish Housing Needs Survey carried out by
Gloucestershire Rural Community Council (GRCC), and other evidence gathered by
the Council’s Strategic Housing and Enabling Officer, indicated that there were eight
families in Sandhurst Parish in affordable housing need. A financial appraisal,
independently verified by the District VValuer, confirmed that a total of 16 dwellings were
needed to deliver these eight affordable houses and the National Planning Policy
Framework recognised cross-subsidy as a means of delivering affordable housing.

The sequential test assessment confirmed that this site was the most sequentially
preferable in the village to meet this need. No other site had been found to be
available that would deliver all, or even part, of the need. All other sites identified were
covered by larger extents of floodplain than this one. National policy permitted housing
in Flood Zone 2 where it passed the sequential test and the Officer’s report confirmed
that the sequential test had been passed in this case, as such, there was no
fundamental conflict with policy. Siting a small amount of development in Flood Zone 2
— less than 10% in this case — was necessary to deliver the affordable housing needs
of the village. A reduction in the number of dwellings would not only fail to deliver the
full need but it would render the whole scheme financially unviable. A reduction in plots
would prevent the housing association from recouping enough income to repay their
loans, Members therefore needed to be aware that a refusal of this scheme would
potentially be a decision to close the door on affordable housing in Sandhurst for the
foreseeable future. Finally, he drew attention to the Tewkesbury Borough Council Plan
2016-20 which set out the Council’s key priorities, one of which was to deliver
affordable homes to meet local need. This was a priority due to the desperate need for
affordable homes in Tewkesbury and the historic issues in terms of their delivery; he
had read a number of Tewkesbury Borough Council Plans over the years and every
version he recalled listed this as a key priority which demonstrated that affordable
housing was a long term issue and an ongoing problem in the borough. For these
reasons, it was his view that the affordable housing needs of the borough were so great
that this outweighed any other subjective harm in the overall balance and affordable
housing should be built now while the offer was on the table.

The Chair invited Councillor Williams, a Ward Member for the area, to address the
Committee. Councillor Williams indicated that Sandhurst had twice become an island
due to flooding in 2007 and 2014. He pointed out that three quarters of the site flooded
and one corner, where the affordable houses would be located, was particularly wet.
When the village flooded it was impossible for emergency services to gain access and
he had serious concerns regarding the proposed drainage. For these reasons, he felt
that the application should be refused.

20



14.02.17

73.57 The Chair indicated that the Officer recommendation was to refuse the application and
he invited a motion from the floor. It was proposed and seconded that the application
be refused in accordance with the Officer recommendation and, upon being taken to
the vote, it was

RESOLVED That the application be REFUSED in accordance with the Officer
recommendation.

16/00012/FUL - 6 Alcotts Green, Sandhurst
73.58 This application was for the retention of a 1.8m boundary fence to the property.

73.59 The Chair indicated that there were no public speakers for this item. The Officer
recommendation was to permit the application and he sought a motion from the floor. It
was proposed and seconded that the application be permitted in accordance with the
Officer recommendation and, upon being put to the vote, it was

RESOLVED That the application be PERMITTED in accordance with the Officer
recommendation.

16/00995/FUL — The Range, The Park, Bishop’s Cleeve
73.60 This application was for the proposed raising of an existing bund to a gun club.

73.61 The Chair indicated that there were no public speakers for this application. The Officer
recommendation was to permit the application and he invited a motion from the floor. It
was proposed and seconded that the application be permitted in accordance with the
Officer recommendation and, upon being taken to the vote, it was

RESOLVED That the application be PERMITTED in accordance with the Officer
recommendation.

16/01211/FUL — Rowan Cottage, Dog Lane, Witcombe

73.62 This application was for the erection of a replacement dwelling, garage and associated
works. The Committee had visited the application site on Friday 10 February 2017.

73.63 The Chair indicated that there were no public speakers for this item. The Officer
recommendation was to permit the application and he sought a motion from the floor. It
was proposed and seconded that the application be permitted in accordance with the
Officer recommendation. The proposer of the motion explained that some concern had
been expressed on the Committee Site Visit regarding the public right of way being
blocked and he queried whether a condition could be included to ensure that it was not
affected. The Development Manager advised that Officers were satisfied that the
actual built form would not result in the public right of way being blocked; however, an
advisory note could be included in the planning permission to make it clear that no
works were to be carried out which would prevent the public right of way being
accessed. A Member drew attention to Page No. 733/C of the Officer report and noted
that the plan showed the elevations for the extensions and alterations submitted in
2014 and not the proposed elevations to be built in relation to this application. The
Development Manager apologised for this oversight and indicated that the application
elevations were on display in the Chamber. Upon being taken to the vote, it was

RESOLVED That the application be PERMITTED in accordance with the Officer
recommendation, subject to the inclusion of an advisory note to
ensure that the public right of way did not become blocked.

16/01271/FUL — 11 Bushcombe Close, Woodmancote

73.64 This application was for proposed front and rear extensions; a loft conversion
incorporating dormers to the front elevation; proposed vehicle access/drive; and a
caravan port to the rear.

21



14.02.17

73.65 The Chair indicated that there were no public speakers for this item. The Officer
recommendation was to permit the application and he invited a motion from the floor. It
was proposed and seconded that the application be permitted in accordance with the
Officer recommendation. Upon being put to the vote, it was

RESOLVED That the application be PERMITTED in accordance with the Officer
recommendation.

16/01335/FUL — 44 Meadoway, Bishop’s Cleeve

73.66 This application was for a single storey extension to provide a garden room, larger
bedroom, garage and utility room.

73.67 The Chair advised that there were no public speakers for this item. The Officer
recommendation was to permit the application and he sought a motion from the floor. It
was proposed and seconded that the application be permitted in accordance with the
Officer recommendation. The seconder of the motion pointed out that this application
was only being determined by the Planning Committee due to the objection from the
Parish Council and, in response, the Development Manager advised that this was in
accordance with the Scheme of Delegation which Members may wish to review at the
appropriate time.

73.68 Upon being taken to the vote, it was

RESOLVED That the application be PERMITTED in accordance with the Officer
recommendation.

16/01348/FUL — Brookelands, Tewkesbury Road, Norton
73.69 This application was for the erection of a detached dwelling.

73.70 The Development Manager advised that this was another application to which Policy
HOU4 applied and, given the position with the five year housing supply, was not “out of
date”. Again, the starting point was the presumption against development and the
weight to be applied to the benefits associated with the provision of a single dwelling
was considered to be limited. Nevertheless, Officers felt that this was a reasonably
sustainable location; whilst it was not within what would be described as the village of
Norton, its accessibility credentials were set out at Page No. 740, Paragraph 5.4 of the
Officer report. There was considered to be little discernible harm in terms of landscape
impact given that the proposal continued a row of existing dwellings and, on balance, it
was felt that there should be no change to the Officer recommendation to permit the
application.

73.71 The Chair indicated that there were no public speakers for this item. The Officer
recommendation was to permit the application and he invited a motion from the floor. It
was proposed and seconded that the application be permitted in accordance with the
Officer recommendation and, upon being put to the vote, it was

RESOLVED That the application be PERMITTED in accordance with the Officer
recommendation.

22



14.02.17

PL.74 DEVELOPMENT CONTROL - APPLICATIONS TO THE COUNTY COUNCIL

74.1 The following decision of Gloucestershire County Council was NOTED:
Site/Development Decision
15/01227/CM Application REFUSED for a number of reasons
Land Adjacent to Pages Lane relating to: failure to demonstrate that noise
Twyning from mineral extraction operations could be

mitigated to an acceptable level so as not to
Extraction of sand and gravel and interfere with local residents’ use and
restoration to agriculture, amenity enjoyment of their property; unacceptable
and nature conservation use. adverse impact on the environment arising
Resubmission following refusal of  from the impact of dust for those living, visiting
13/0017/TWMAJM dated 16.10.14. and working in the vicinity of the site;
insufficient buffer zones being provided to
protect sensitive land uses in the vicinity of the
application site and adversely affecting the
economic wellbeing of local businesses; harm
to the setting of the Church End Conservation
Area by virtue of the erosion of the rural
character through the introduction of
mechanised working and processing of sand
and gravel in close proximity to heritage
assets; and, lack of an acceptable restoration
scheme for the eastern part of the site which
would restore the best or most versatile
agricultural land back to grade for the following
summary of reasons:

‘The proposal is for the excavation of sand and
gravel from a depth of up to 5m in two phases.
The extraction with progressive restoration
using imported fill material would take place
over a period of two and half years, restoring
the western part of the site to agricultural land
and the eastern part of the site to an
amenity/nature conservation area with two
ponds and footpath. The applicant considers
that the mineral on the site has special
qualities which would increase the county's
reserves and reduce reliance of the mineral
being imported from other areas of the country
and make a small contribution to the projected
future sand and gravel resource requirements.
The site is constrained by roads on its northern
and western boundaries and residential
development in the hamlet of Church End to
the south and east of the site boundary.

There are 10 residential properties within 100m
of the eastern boundary, some of which are
listed buildings and within the Church End
Conservation Area. The proximity of other
sensitive land uses and small site area means
that the proposal involves the construction of
noise and dust attenuation bunds which would

23



24

14.02.17

be 5m in height in some places immediately
adjacent to the site boundary and close to the
rear gardens of dwellings along the south
eastern site boundary. Mitigation in the form of
earth bunds has been proposed in order to
bring the sound from plant and machinery
within acceptable levels; however, this creates
an obtrusive feature in the landscape which
adversely affects the visual appearance and
attractiveness of an area where tourism makes
an important contribution to the local economy.

The applicant considers that the demand for
this type of mineral justifies working the site
which, if approved, would make a welcome
contribution to the landbank of reserve for sand
and gravel. The county needs to satisfy
government requirements set out in the
National Planning Policy Framework by making
provision for a steady and adequate supply of
minerals. However, insufficient evidence has
been presented that supports the applicant's
claims that the material from this site is special
and unique, nor has it been satisfactorily
demonstrated that there is a demand for this
material which cannot be potentially met from
other sources.

Although it is accepted that, if permitted, the
proposal would make a contribution to the
county's sand and gravel landbank, the
Minerals Planning Authority considers that the
applicant has failed to show the overall
benefits of the proposed development in terms
of the contribution it would make to the
landbank outweighing the combined adverse
impacts of noise and dust from the proposed
development, even with the mitigation
measures, on those living, visiting and working
in the vicinity of the site contrary to Minerals
Local Plan Policies DC1 and E14. The
development of the site is considered to harm
the setting of Church End

Conservation Area. As no justification has
been provided to outweigh the harm to historic
assets, the proposal would be contrary to the
National Planning Policy Framework. The
restoration of the site following extraction is not
considered to benefit the local community as it
does not restore the best and most versatile
agricultural land back to grade contrary to
Minerals Local Plan Policy R2. For these
reasons the application should be refused.’



PL.75

751

75.2

14.02.17

CURRENT APPEALS AND APPEAL DECISIONS UPDATE

Attention was drawn to the current appeals and appeal decisions update, circulated at
Pages No. 12-16. Members were asked to consider the current planning and
enforcement appeals received and the Department of Communities and Local
Government appeal decisions issued.

It was
RESOLVED That the current appeals and appeal decisions update be NOTED.

The meeting closed at 11:55 am

25



14.02.17

Appendix 1

SCHEDULE OF PLANNING
APPLICATIONS ADDITIONAL
REPRESENTATIONS

Date: 14 February 2017
The following is a list of the additional representations received since the schedule of applications was

prepared and includes background papers received up to and including the Monday before the Meeting.
A general indication of the content is given but it may be necessary to elaborate at the Meeting.

Page | Item

No No

617 |2 16/01075/FUL
Red Roofs Shutter Lane, Gotherington
Officer Update

Section 5 - Principle of development

Since the production of the Officer report there has been a significant change in
material circumstances. On 31 January 2017, the Council approved, for
consultation, the latest draft of the Joint Core Strategy (JCS). In doing so the
Council approved the Objectively Assessed Need (OAN) for Tewkesbury which
stands at 9,899. It is considered that this figure is robust having been arrived at
following detailed consideration through the Examination in Public process.
Following from the OAN there is an annual requirement to meet Tewkesbury
Borough’s needs of 495 dwellings.

Using this robust figure, taking into account current supply, including planning
permissions granted; those which the Planning Committee has determined to
grant, subject to finalisation of s106 legal agreements; and a windfall allowance,
the Council can demonstrate a 5.3 year supply with a 20% buffer applied.

Officers consider that there is a strong argument that a 5% rather than 20% buffer
should be applied given the strong delivery of housing in recent years and, in
particular, the five years since the start of the plan period when measured against
the above annual requirement. Over the period from 2011/12 - 2015/16, 2,496
dwellings have been completed compared to the JCS requirement of 2,475 giving
a surplus of 21 dwellings. For the past three monitoring years the JCS annual
requirement has been exceeded, with a surplus of 135 dwellings delivered in
2015/16.

In light of the fact that the Council is able to demonstrate a five-year supply of
deliverable housing sites, saved Policy HOU4 of the Tewkesbury Borough Local
Plan should no longer be considered out of date pursuant to Paragraph 49 of the
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).

In these circumstances, aside from approving development proposals that accord
with the development plan without delay (unless material considerations indicate
otherwise), the presumption in favour of sustainable development set out at
Paragraph 14 of the NPPF does not apply.

Section 38(6) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the
determination must be made in accordance with the development plan unless
other material circumstances indicate otherwise. In this case, as reiterated by

26



14.02.17

Paragraph 12 of the NPPF, the presumption is against the grant of permission
given the conflict with policy HOU4 and, as such, permission should be refused
unless material planning circumstances indicate otherwise.

Section 5 - Overall Balancing Exercise and conclusions

As set out above, the starting point for determination of this application is the
conflict with Policy HOU4 to which substantial weight should be applied. Whilst
the Council is able to demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites,
it is also, of course, a rolling calculation and the Council must ensure that sufficient
sites are granted planning permission to meet the ongoing need for housing in the
Borough.

Gotherington is identified as a Service Village in the JCS and therefore as a
suitable location for some limited residential development, proportionate to its size
and function, also reflecting its proximity to, in this case, Cheltenham. Section 5 of
the Officer report sets out the benefits of the proposal arising from the delivery of
market housing, although it is accepted that those benefits are limited by virtue of
the small scale of the development proposed. The Gotherington Neighbourhood
Development Plan (NDP) has been submitted for examination following public
consultation and can thus be afforded some weight. It is not considered that there
is any conflict with the provisions of the Gotherington NDP.

As set out above, the starting point for determination of this application is the
conflict with Policy HOU4. Nevertheless, as set out in the Officer report, given the
benefits of the proposed development (albeit limit by the small scale of the
proposals) and lack of significant harms, the proposals were considered to
represent sustainable development. This position remains and as such the
recommendation is unchanged.

624 |3 16/00901/0OUT

Parcel 1441, Cobblers Close, Gotherington
Officer Update

Principle of development

Since the production of the Officer report there has been a significant change in
material circumstances. On 31 January 2017, the Council approved, for
consultation, the latest draft of the Joint Core Strategy (JCS). In doing so the
Council approved the Objectively Assessed Need (OAN) for Tewkesbury which
stands at 9,899. It is considered that this figure is robust having been arrived at
following detailed consideration through the Examination in Public process.
Following from the OAN there is an annual requirement to meet Tewkesbury
Borough’s needs of 495 dwellings.

Using this robust figure, taking into account current supply, including planning
permissions granted; those which the Planning Committee has determined to
grant, subject to finalisation of s106 legal agreements; and a windfall allowance,
the Council can demonstrate a 5.3 year supply with a 20% buffer applied.

Officers consider that there is a strong argument that a 5% rather than 20% buffer
should be applied given the strong delivery of housing in recent years and, in
particular, the five years since the start of the plan period when measured against
the above annual requirement. Over the period from 2011/12 - 2015/16, 2,496
dwellings have been completed compared to the JCS requirement of 2,475 giving
a surplus of 21 dwellings. For the past three monitoring years the JCS annual
requirement has been exceeded, with a surplus of 135 dwellings delivered in
2015/16.

In light of the fact that the Council is able to demonstrate a five-year supply of
deliverable housing sites, saved Policy HOU4 of the Tewkesbury Borough Local

27



14.02.17

Plan should no longer be considered out of date pursuant to Paragraph 49 of the
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).

In these circumstances, aside from approving development proposals that accord
with the development plan without delay (unless material considerations indicate
otherwise), the presumption in favour of sustainable development set out at
Paragraph 14 of the NPPF does not apply.

Section 38(6) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the
determination must be made in accordance with the development plan unless
other material circumstances indicate otherwise. In this case, as reiterated by
Paragraph 12 of the NPPF, the presumption is against the grant of permission
given the conflict with policy HOU4 and, as such, permission should be refused
unless material planning circumstances indicate otherwise.

Neighbourhood Development Plan

Paragraph 16.2 of the Officer report sets out that the NDP can be given little
weight, given the inability to demonstrate a five year deliverable supply of housing
sites. As set out above, this position has now changed given that the Council can
now demonstrate a five year supply. On that basis, and given the stage which the
NDP has reached, it can be afforded some weight. Notwithstanding this, the
conclusions reached in Section 16 of the Officer report, there would be no in
principle conflict with the NDP.

Overall Balancing Exercise and conclusions

As set out above, the starting point for determination of this application is the
conflict with Policy HOU4, to which substantial weight should be applied. Whilst
the Council is able to demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites,
it should be recognised that this is minimum requirement and the NPPF seeks to
boost significantly the supply of housing (Paragraph 47). It is also, of course, a
rolling calculation and the Council must ensure that sufficient sites are granted
planning permission to meet the ongoing need for housing in the Borough. Whilst
it is anticipated that the majority of future need in the Borough will be met through
the Borough Plan, this should not prevent sustainable development being
permitted now, to meet those needs.

Gotherington is identified in the JCS as a suitable location for some limited
residential development, proportionate to its size and function, also reflecting its
proximity to, in this case, Cheltenham. Paragraph 17.2 of the Officer report sets
out clear social and economic benefits arising from the proposal, including the
delivery of market and affordable housing and the safeguarding of the Local Green
Space identified in the emerging NDP.

The consideration of material planning issues on this application is finely
balanced. However, on balance, it is considered that the benefits set out above,
and the sustainable location of the site - adjacent to a settlement which is
identified as a Service Village in the JCS - outweigh the conflict with the
development plan in respect of Policy HOU4 and the limited harms identified in the
Officer report relating to landscape and social wellbeing.

In light of the above, it is therefore recommended that there be no change to the
recommendation set out in the Officer report.

Letter from Agent

The applicant's agent has provided a written response in relation to the Council’s
current position on five year housing land supply. The letter is attached in full
below.

642 |4 16/01280/FUL

28



14.02.17

Orchard Cottage, Aston Carrant Road, Aston-On-Carrant.
Additional Information

The agent for this application has submitted a “Member Update” as attached
below.

Officer Update
Principle of Development

Since the production of the Officer report there has been a significant change in
material circumstances. On 31 January 2017, the Council approved, for
consultation, the latest draft of the Joint Core Strategy (JCS). In doing so the
Council approved the Objectively Assessed Need (OAN) for Tewkesbury which
stands at 9,899. It is considered that this figure is robust having been arrived at
following detailed consideration through the Examination in Public process.
Following from the OAN there is an annual requirement to meet Tewkesbury
Borough’s needs of 495 dwellings.

Using this robust figure, taking into account current supply, including planning
permissions granted; those which the Planning Committee have determined to
grant, subject to finalisation of s106 legal agreements; and a windfall allowance,
the Council can demonstrate a 5.3 year supply with a 20% buffer applied.

Officers consider that there is a strong argument that a 5% rather than 20% buffer
should be applied given the strong delivery of housing in recent years and, in
particular, the five years since the start of the plan period when measured against
the above annual requirement. Over the period from 2011/12 — 2015/16, 2,496
dwellings have been completed compared to the JCS requirement of 2,475 giving
a surplus of 21 dwellings. For the past three monitoring years the JCS annual
requirement has been exceeded, with a surplus of 135 dwellings delivered in
2015/16.

In light of the fact that the Council is able to demonstrate a five year supply of
deliverable housing sites, saved Policy HOU4 of the Tewkesbury Borough Local
Plan should no longer be considered out of date pursuant to Paragraph 49 of the
NPPF.

In these circumstances, aside from approving development proposals that accord
with the development plan without delay (unless material considerations indicate
otherwise), the presumption in favour of sustainable development set out at
Paragraph 14 of the NPPF does not apply.

Section 38(6) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the
determination must be made in accordance with the development plan unless
other material circumstances indicate otherwise. In this case, as reiterated by
Paragraph 12 of the NPPF, the presumption is against the grant of permission
given the conflict with Policy HOU4 and, as such, permission should be refused
unless material planning circumstances indicate otherwise.

The applicant’s agent has commented on the issue and considers that the five
year housing land supply figure is a minimum requirement, not a ceiling figure, and
therefore the contribution of a single dwelling would not prejudice or distort the
planned delivery of housing as set out through the JCS. In the agent’s view, this
development should be viewed as a positive in terms of housing land supply by
assisting Tewkesbury Borough Council to provide a robust supply.

Reference is made at Paragraph 5.6 of the Officer report to a previous decision at
The Laurels at the opposite end of Aston-On-Carrant. That decision was of made
at a time when the Council could not demonstrate a deliverable five year supply of
housing sites and furthermore relied partly on the location of the nearby JCS
strategic allocation at MOD Ashchurch. That application was also determined in

29



14.02.17

light of Paragraph 55 of the NPPF which seeks to restrict isolated dwellings in the
countryside.

Given its relationship with the existing settlement, the site was not considered
isolated and, for the reasons set out above, was considered to be in a reasonably
sustainable location. However, in this case, given the above, the presumption is
against the grant of permission. Further it is noted of course that the strategic
allocation at MOD Ashchurch has been removed from the latest version of the
emerging JCS and thus the circumstances that led to the previous conclusion
reached (on balance) that Aston-On-Carrant is a sustainable location for
development no longer exist. The proposal is therefore considered to conflict with
policy TPT1 of the Local Plan and emerging policy INF1 of emerging JCS in
respect of accessibility.

Flood Risk

Further information has been submitted on behalf of the applicant following the
update at Paragraph 7 of the Officer report. The Council’s Flood Risk
Management Engineer is satisfied that it has now been demonstrated that the
principle of sustainable development with regard to flood risk is attainable for this
site. Therefore, in principle the Flood Risk Management Engineer has no
objection subject to the following condition:

Condition:

Prior to the commencement of building operations, details of comprehensive
evidence based detailed drainage arrangements, including a maintenance and
management plan for the lifetime of the development, shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These details shall fully
incorporate the very best principles of sustainable drainage and improvements in
water quality, along with a robust assessment of the hydrological influences of the
detailed drainage plan, (including up to date allowances for climate change). The
scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details before the
development hereby permitted is brought into use and maintained in accordance
with the approved details thereafter.

Reason:

To ensure that the development is provided with a satisfactory means of drainage,
as well as reducing the risk of flooding both on the site itself and the surrounding
area, and to minimise the risk of pollution, in accordance with policies EVT5 and
EVTO of the Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan to 2011 (March 2006) and the
principles of the National Planning Policy Framework (2012).

Overall Balancing Exercise and conclusions

As set out above, the starting point for determination of this application is the
conflict with Policy HOU4, to which substantial weight should be applied. Whilst
the Council is able to demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites,
it is also, of course a rolling calculation and the Council must ensure that sufficient
sites are granted planning permission to meet the ongoing need for housing in the
Borough.

However, Aston-On-Carrant is not identified in the JCS as a Service Village as a
suitable location for residential development and the conflict with Policies TPT1
and HOU4 weighs substantially against the development. Given the fact that the
proposal is for a single dwelling, the social and economic benefits arising from the
proposal are limited and are not considered to outweigh the conflict with the
development plan.

Whilst the reason for refusal on flood risk has been addressed, the harm to the
character of the area remains. The agent’s comments on the five year supply
issue are noted, however, it is not considered that the delivery of a single dwelling

30



14.02.17

in this location outweighs the identified conflicts with the development plan. It is
therefore recommended that there be no change to the recommendation set
out in the Officer report, subject to the following additional reasons for
refusal, and removal of reason for refusal 2 (flood risk):

Reasons for Refusal:

The proposed development conflicts with Policy HOU4 of the Tewkesbury
Borough Local Plan to 2011 — March 2006 in that the site lies outside any
recognised settlement in a location where new housing is strictly controlled and it
is not essential to the efficient operation of agriculture or forestry.

The site is located remote from amenities and is not served by adequate
footpaths, cycleways, or public transport facilities and the development would be
likely therefore to increase reliance on the private car contrary to guidance in the
National Planning Policy Framework, Policy TPT1 of the Tewkesbury Borough
Local Plan to 2011 - March 2006 and Policy INF1 of the submission version of the
Joint Core Strategy.

671 9 15/00751/0UT
Bentham Country Club, Bentham Lane, Bentham.

The applicant has written to request that the application be Deferred in order for
further work can be undertaken on odour modelling to seek to address the
Environment Agency and Environmental Health Officer's concerns.

Additional representations: -

Support:

15 further letters of support have been received from users of the netball facility.
Objection:

One further letter of objection has been received from the owner of the poultry
buildings adjacent to the application site making the following additional
comments:

Two documents have recently been posted online relating to odour. One is an
extract from the local farmers licence to keep chickens and pigs and the other is
an odour management submission for the planning application to knock down five
chicken sheds and replace them with two. The proposed development will be
downwind and only 25 meters at its closest to the chicken sheds. All the existing
nearby houses are upwind and a lot further away from the sheds. The proposed
development will definitely be affected by noise, dust and odour. It would be
irresponsible to grant planning permission on this site.

I would like to refer Members of the TBC Planning Committee to Worcestershire
Regulatory Services who submitted four consultee reports on the 26th August
2015 having been invited to by the officers of TBC.

Officer Update
Principle of development

Since the production of the Officer report there has been a significant change in
material circumstances. On 31 January 2017 the Council approved, for
consultation, the latest draft of the Joint Core Strategy (JCS). In doing so the
Council approved the Objectively Assessed Need (OAN) for Tewkesbury which
stands at 9,899. It is considered that this figure is robust having been arrived at
following detailed consideration through the Examination in Public process.
Following from the OAN there is an annual requirement to meet Tewkesbury
Borough’s needs of 495 dwellings.

31



14.02.17

Using this robust figure, taking into account current supply, including planning
permissions granted; those which the Planning Committee have determined to
grant, subject to finalisation of s106 legal agreements; and a windfall allowance,
the Council can demonstrate a 5.3 year supply with a 20% buffer applied.

Officers consider that there is a strong argument that a 5% rather than 20% buffer
should be applied given the strong delivery of housing in recent years and, in
particular, the five years since the start of the plan period when measured against
the above annual requirement. Over the period from 2011/12 — 2015/16, 2,496
dwellings have been completed compared to the JCS requirement of 2,475 giving
a surplus of 21 dwellings. For the past three monitoring years the JCS annual
requirement has been exceeded, with a surplus of 135 dwellings delivered in
2015/16.

In light of the fact that the Council is able to demonstrate a five year supply of
deliverable housing sites, saved Policy HOU4 of the Tewkesbury Borough Local
Plan should no longer be considered out of date pursuant to Paragraph 49 of the
NPPF.

In these circumstances, aside from approving development proposals that accord
with the development plan without delay (unless material considerations indicate
otherwise), the presumption in favour of sustainable development set out at
Paragraph 14 of the NPPF does not apply.

Section 38(6) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the
determination must be made in accordance with the development plan unless
other material circumstances indicate otherwise. In this case, as reiterated by
Paragraph 12 of the NPPF, the presumption is against the grant of permission
given the conflict with Policy HOU4 and, as such, permission should be refused
unless material planning circumstances indicate otherwise.

Overall Balancing Exercise and conclusions

As set out above the starting point for determination of this application is the
conflict with Policy HOU4, to which substantial weight should be applied. Whilst
the Council is able to demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites,
it is also, of course, a rolling calculation and the Council must ensure that sufficient
sites are granted planning permission to meet the ongoing need for housing in the
Borough.

As set out in the Officer report, the proposals were not considered to comprise
sustainable development and the application was recommended for refusal given
that the harmful impacts identified, in particular the relationship with the
neighbouring poultry unit and design quality.

As set out above there is now an additional significant material consideration in
that Policy HOU4 should be afforded substantial weight, and the starting point in
this case is that permission be refused given the conflict with the development
plan. It is therefore recommended that there be no change to the
recommendation set out in the Officer report, subject to the following
additional reason for refusal:

Reason for Refusal:

The proposed development conflicts with Policy HOU4 of the Tewkesbury
Borough Local Plan to 2011 — March 2006 in that the site lies outside any
recognised settlement in a location where new housing is strictly controlled and it
is not essential to the efficient operation of agriculture or forestry.

697 11 16/00486/0UT
Land South of Oakridge, Highnam.

32



14.02.17

Letter from Agent dated 13 February 2017

The applicant's agent has provided a written response in relation to the Councils
current position on five year housing land supply. The letter and appeal decisions
referred to are attached in full below.

Officer Update:
Principle of development

Since the production of the Officer report there has been a significant change in
material circumstances. On 31 January 2017, the Council approved, for
consultation, the latest draft of the Joint Core Strategy (JCS). In doing so the
Council approved the Objectively Assessed Need (OAN) for Tewkesbury which
stands at 9,899. It is considered that this figure is robust having been arrived at
following detailed consideration through the Examination in Public process.
Following from the OAN there is an annual requirement to meet Tewkesbury
Borough'’s needs of 495 dwellings.

Using this robust figure, taking into account current supply, including planning
permissions granted; those which the Planning Committee have determined to
grant, subject to finalisation of s106 legal agreements; and a windfall allowance,
the Council can demonstrate a 5.3 year supply with a 20% buffer applied.

Officers consider that there is a strong argument that a 5% rather than 20% buffer
should be applied given the strong delivery of housing in recent years and, in
particular, the five years since the start of the plan period when measured against
the above annual requirement. Over the period from 2011/12 — 2015/16, 2,496
dwellings have been completed compared to the JCS requirement of 2,475 giving
a surplus of 21 dwellings. For the past three monitoring years the JCS annual
requirement has been exceeded, with a surplus of 135 dwellings delivered in
2015/16.

In light of the fact that the Council is able to demonstrate a five year supply of
deliverable housing sites, saved Policy HOU4 of the Tewkesbury Borough Local
Plan should no longer be considered out of date pursuant to Paragraph 49 of the
NPPF.

In these circumstances, aside from approving development proposals that accord
with the development plan without delay (unless material considerations indicate
otherwise), the presumption in favour of sustainable development set out at
Paragraph 14 of the NPPF does not apply.

Section 38(6) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the
determination must be made in accordance with the development plan unless
other material circumstances indicate otherwise. In this case, as reiterated by
Paragraph 12 of the NPPF, the presumption is against the grant of permission
given the conflict with Policy HOU4 and, as such, permission should be refused
unless material planning circumstances indicate otherwise.

Overall Balancing Exercise and conclusions

As set out above the starting point for determination of this application is the
conflict with Policy HOU4, to which substantial weight should be applied. Whilst
the Council is able to demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites,
it is also, of course, a rolling calculation and the Council must ensure that sufficient
sites are granted planning permission to meet the ongoing need for housing in the
Borough.

The applicant’s agent has commented on the issue (see attached letter). The

agent comments that Inspectors at appeal have been clear that achieving a five
year supply is simply the starting point and that authorities remain obliged under
the Framework to significantly boost housing land supply, and has attached two

33



14.02.17

appeal decisions to illustrate the point. Both of these appeals were allowed,
notwithstanding that the Councils were able to demonstrate a five year supply of
deliverable housing sites. The agent concludes that, in this case, even with the
five year supply, the site should be supported given the harms identified are still
outweighed by the benefits.

Highnam is identified as a Service Village in the JCS and therefore as a suitable
location for some limited residential development, proportionate to its size and
function, also reflecting its proximity to, in this case, Gloucester.

Paragraph 17.2 of the Officer report sets out clear social and economic benefits
arising from the proposal, including the delivery of market and affordable housing.

On balance, it is considered that these benefits, and the sustainable location of the
site adjacent to a settlement which is identified as a Service Village in the JCS,
outweigh the conflict with the development plan in respect of Policy HOU4 and the
limited harms identified in the Officer report relating to landscape.

It is therefore recommended that there be no change to the recommendation
set out in the officer report.

739 18 16/01348/FUL
Brookelands, Tewkesbury Road, Norton.
Principle of development

Since the production of the Officer report there has been a significant change in
material circumstances. On 31 January 2017, the Council approved, for
consultation, the latest draft of the Joint Core Strategy (JCS). In doing so the
Council approved the Objectively Assessed Need (OAN) for Tewkesbury which
stands at 9,899. It is considered that this figure is robust having been arrived at
following detailed consideration through the Examination in Public process.
Following from the OAN there is an annual requirement to meet Tewkesbury
Borough’s needs of 495 dwellings.

Using this robust figure, taking into account current supply, including planning
permissions granted; those which the Planning Committee have determined to
grant subject to finalisation of s106 legal agreements; and a windfall allowance,
the Council can demonstrate a 5.3 year supply with a 20% buffer applied.

Officers consider that there is a strong argument that a 5% rather than 20% buffer
should be applied given the strong delivery of housing in recent years and in
particular the five years since the start of the plan period when measured against
the above annual requirement. Over the period from 2011/12 — 2015/16, 2,496
dwellings have been completed compared to the JCS requirement of 2,475 giving
a surplus of 21 dwellings. For the past three monitoring years the JCS annual
requirement has been exceeded, with a surplus of 135 dwellings delivered in
2015/16.

In light of the fact that the Council is able to demonstrate a five year supply of
deliverable housing sites, saved Policy HOU4 of the Tewkesbury Borough Local
Plan should no longer be considered out of date pursuant to Paragraph 49 of the
NPPF.

In these circumstances, aside from approving development proposals that accord
with the development plan without delay (unless material considerations indicate
otherwise), the presumption in favour of sustainable development set out at
Paragraph 14 of the NPPF does not apply.

Section 38(6) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the
determination must be made in accordance with the development plan unless
other material circumstances indicate otherwise. In this case, as reiterated by

34



14.02.17

Paragraph 12 of the NPPF, the presumption is against the grant of permission
given the conflict with Policy HOU4 and, as such, permission should be refused
unless material planning circumstances indicate otherwise.

Section 5 - Overall Balancing Exercise and conclusions

As set out above, the starting point for determination of this application is the
conflict with Policy HOU4, to which substantial weight should be applied. Whilst
the Council is able to demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites,
it is also, of course, a rolling calculation and the Council must ensure that sufficient
sites are granted planning permission to meet the ongoing need for housing in the
Borough.

Norton is identified as a Service Village in the JCS and therefore as a suitable
location for some limited residential development, proportionate to its size and
function, also reflecting its proximity to, in this case, Gloucester. It is noted that this
site is not within the village of Norton itself, however, neither is it in an isolated
location. It is also material that planning permission has been granted on the
neighbouring site on the basis that it was considered to be ‘sustainable’.

As set out above, the starting point for determination of this application is the
conflict with Policy HOU4. Nevertheless, as set out in the Officer report, given the
benefits of the proposed development (albeit limit by the small scale of the
proposals) and lack of significant harms the proposals were considered to
represent sustainable development. This position remains and it is therefore
recommended that there be no change to the recommendation set out in the
Officer report.

35



14.02.17

Item 3 —16/00901/OUT

BARTON
WILLMORE

25212/A1/AB/MXS 13" February 2017

LAND OFF ASHMEAD DRIVE, GOTHERINGTON (REF: 16/00901/0UT)

PLANNING BALANCE UPDATE

The following note has been prepared in relation to an outlineg planning application for up to 50 dwellings on land
off Ashmead Drive, Gotherington (the Site”) - Ref: 16/00901/0UT. This note responds to the Case Officer’s Report
to Committee and subseguent Update Report, as well as the publication of the government’s Housing White Paper
on 7" February 2017,

Housing White Paper

The Housing White Paper (HWP) and supporting documents set out the govermment's plans to reform the housing
rmarket and boost the supply of new homes in England. This includes a forward from the Prime Minister, Theresa
May, =xplaining that the purpose of the HWP is to "fix this broken market so that housing is more
affordable and people have the security they need to plan for their future”. The starting point for
achieving this aim, is through the building of more homes. This will "slow the rise in housing costs so that
more ordinary working families can afford to buy a home”.

The HWP looks to achigve this aim through four separate steps, the first of which is "Planning for the right homes
in the right places”. This includes releasing small and medium sized sites and allowing rural communities to grow.

Case Officer's Report to Planning Committee

We generally support the conclusions of the Case Officer, which largely follow our understanding of the Planning
Balance which should be attributed to the application — as set out within our note dated 30" January 2017.

The Case Officer highlights that the proposals would produce clear social benefits insofar as it would provide
much needed housing and help the Council mest the NPPFs reguirements to maintain a five year supply of
housing land. The proposal would also provide affordable housing, for which there is a pressing need both locally
and nationwide — a point reiterated by the HWP. In addition, the Case Officer identifies the benefits provided by
the area of public open space along the northem boundary of the Site as well as the economic benefits throughout
the construction phase and lifetime of the development.

The Case Officer considers that each of these benefits should be given "significant weight in the overall
planning balance”. We would agree with this condusion. The Case Officer also reiterates that the application
has received no objection from statutory consultees.

In terms of the harm caused by the development, the Case Officer highlights that the impact on the landscape
would be “relatively minor and limited to the immediate area”. As such, the harm attributed to the landscape is
considered by the Case Officer to be “limited”. As set out in our submitted note on the Planning Balance, this
impact is considerad to be "very limited” given that the Local Plan is time expired and that a five year supply of
housing cannot be demonstrated.

The Case Officer attributes some harm’ to the social wellbeing of the community given the proportion of
development already permitted or with a resolution to grant planning permission. However, it is noted that no
substantive evidence has been provided to support the assertion that the extra population would make it
impaossible for those residents to be welcomed into the community or for them to be unable to play an integral
part within the community. New residents would also doubtless suppoit the continuance of local services, Hence,
we cannot accept that the proposals will result in any harm to sodal cohesion. Indeed, the proposed development
will result in a reduced level of growth than the previously refused scheme at Truman's Farm (which is currently
subject to an appeal) and the cumulative level of growth is no larger than has taken place within other Service
Villzages. As such, for the purposes of determining this application, it is considered that “no harm’ should be
attributed to sodial cohesion.

36



14.02.17

Item 3 —16/00901/OUT

MNotwithstanding the abowve, we support the Officer’s overall conclusion that the proposal would represent a
sustainable form of development and that planning permission should be approved.

Case Officer’s Update Report to Planning Committes

Following publication of the Case Officer's Report to Committes, it is understood that Tewkesbury Borough Coundil
(TBC) now considers that a five year supply of housing can be demonstrated. At the time of writing, the Coundil
has not published any official guidance on the five year supply position and are instead relying on a Proof of
Evidence submitted as part of an unrelated Section 78 Appeal.

For the avoidance of doubt, this evidence has not been independently assessed as part of the Appeal and, as
such, cannot be considered to represent a robust position — indesd, the Appellant for the Appeal has submitted
evidence which demonstrates a shortfall in housing land supply. We therefore maintain the view that the Council
cannot demonstate a five year supply of housing.

Despite this, we note the Case Officer’s conclusion that, even in the event that a five year supply of housing can
be demonsirated, the Site forms a suitable and sustainable location for development and that planning permission
should be approved.

Indeed, to ensure TBC maintains 2 five year supply of housing, it is considered critical that planning permission
is approved for appropriate sites in the interim period until the Joint Core Strategy and Tewkesbury Borough Plan
are formally adopted. As confirmed by the Case Officer, the proposed development has received no technical
objection from statutory consultees and would only result in *limited harm” to the landscape and social cohesion
— albeit we maintzin our view that the impact on the landscape will result in “very limited’ harm and that there
will be "no harm’ to sodial cohesion.

Notwithstanding which approach is considerad appropriate, the Case Officer maintains the view that, against an
‘ordinary planning balance’, the economic and social benefits arising from the proposed development oubweigh
the imited landscape and social harm identified. We agree with this overall conclusion and respectfully reguest
that planning permission is granted.

37



14.02.17

Item 4 - 16/01280/FUL

TBC Planning Committee 14" Feb 2017 - Members Update

16/01280/FUL for the Erection of a new dwelling at land adjacent
Orchard Cottage, Aston-on-Carrant, Tewkesbury

BPA ref BM215 | February 2017

FIGURE 1 - EXISTING LAYOUT OF ASTON-ON-CARRANT

RED = existing houses set-back behind others that address the road

YELLOW = the location of the proposed house

38



14.02.17

Item 4 - 16/01280/FUL

FIGURE 2 —EXISTING SET-BACK HOUSES

Aston Cottage Berryhay Barn & The Granary

FIGURE 3 — AERIAL PHOTOGRAPH OF THE PROPOSED HOUSE

RED OVAL = location of the proposed house

39



14.02.17

Item 4 - 16/01280/FUL

FIGURE 4 — APPLICATION SITE FROM THE ROAD

40



14.02.17

Item 11 - 16/00486/0UT

AT LEI)JONES

building surveying

planning

project management

Qur Ref: 12535
13 February 2017

Mr Ciaran Power
Tewkesbury Borough Council
Council Offices

Gloucester Road
Tewkesbury

Gloucestershire

GL20 57T

Dear Mr Ciaran Power
Re: - 16/00486/0UT - Land South Of Oakridge - Higham

| write further to your e-mail of Monday 13* February in which you set out your Authority’s
change of circumstances in respect to Tewkesbury Borough Council's five year housing land

supply.

Whilst it remains Officer's view that applying the planning balance this scheme should be
supported, you have kindly reported to me the change in position so that | have an opportunity
to respond prior to Planning Committee on 14™ February.

You will appreciate that with the limited time available it is not possible for me to undertake a
detailed critical analysis of the five year land position, however, in response | offer the following
commentary:-

From my experience in other Local Authority areas it is not uncommaon for there to be an ebb
and flow of conflicting housing supply claims and counter claims in the lead up the adoption of
a new Development Plan (in this case the JCS). At the time of writing it is only Tewkesbury
Borough Council who have approved the main modifications, leaving Gloucester and
Cheltenham currently outstanding.

Furthermore, assuming that Gloucester and Cheltenham Councils approved the main
modifications, these will still be subject to further examination before the Appointed Inspector.

Arrgad [

St Geaiges Mace Chelbzrham
Evans Jones i the fradieg nams ol Evaen fanes Lid

Angirlened in England sl Walks bo. 055016058 ‘ﬁ RTPI (@
L

Registered Office Foyal Maws, 51 Deorges Mace, Chellenham, Gloacestershig. G150 ¥R

Regulnted by RICS RICS

41



14.02.17

Item 11 - 16/00486/0UT

EvANSOYELTL

In my view there remains uncertainty over the five year supply calculation and | suspect
forthcoming Appeal decisions will assist in clarifying this matter.

Motwithstanding the above however, and mindful that insufficient time exists to fully critically
examine the information received today, | submit that notwithstanding your Authority’s position
in respect to five year supply, Inspectors at Appeal have been clear that achieving a five year
supply is simply the starting point and that Authorities remain obliged under the Framework to
significantly boost housing land supply.

In this regard | attach a copy of an Appeal Decision under Ref. APP/W1525/\W/15/3121603 -
Main Road, Great and Little Leighs.

To assist | have highlighted the relevant sections within the Appeal decision. \Whilst that Appeal
was for a greater number of units (100 dwellings) the Inspector carefully considered the position
in respect to five year housing land supply, concluding in that case that Chelmsford City Council
could demonstrate a defensible five year supply position, however, notwithstanding that the
Inspector at paragraph 29 confirmed that the OAN represented a minimum and not a maximum
requirement for an area, and that accepting that an area has a fire year supply of housing does
not necessarily preclude a scheme from being sustainable development or mean that it would
be inherently harmful.

As with the Highnam site, that Appeal decision related 1o land which had no specific landscape
designation or protection in adopted planning policy terms. Likewise in that case the Highway
Authority did not object to the proposal, concluding that any additional traffic generated by the
development could be satisfactorily accommodated on the local road network.

In applying the planning balance the Inspector at paragraph 55 confirmed that the site lay
outside of the designated settlement boundary and whilst the loss of open countryside would
cause some harm, albeit very limited, to the character and appearance of the area, at
paragraph 53 the Inspector concluded that the provision of 100 units would deliver economic,
environmental and social benefits including the creation of jobs, a range of different housing
types and tenures (including a contribution towards affordable housing in an area where there is
a recognised need) and measures to enhance the biodiversity of the site.

At paragraph 55 the Inspector went on to confirm that the Council can currently demonstrate a
five year housing land supply, and so there is no immediate pressure to release further land for
housing, the housing figures calculated from the OAN are not a maximum. Itis clear from the
work being undertaken by Councils in the emerging Local Plan that further sites will be required
to maintain a continuing five year supply of housing land. As a conseguence the Inspector
censidered that the housing supply situation alone is not a reason to justify refusal of the
scheme.,

At paragraph 26 the Inspector concluded that the Framework seeks to boost significantly the
supply of housing and advocates that planning should respond positively to wider opportunities
for growth. It also refers to the need to promote sustainable housing and other development in
rural areas in locations where such development would enhance or maintain the vitality of rural
communities, all of which the scheme would deliver.

Ref. 12535 2

42



14.02.17

Item 11 - 16/00486/0UT

[EVvANSOYELLL

The proposals at Highnam have close similarities to the aforementioned Appeal. Highnam is
identified as a service village where growth is in JCS terms acceptable. This is a sustainable
setflierment and the approval of this scheme will assist your Authority in boosting significantly
housing land supply within the district.

Secondly, | submit a copy of Appeal Decision Ref. APP/C1625/W/15/3133335 - Land Rear of
Canonbury Street, Berkeley, Glos.

This proposal sought consent for 197 dwellings outside of the setflement boundary of Berkeley.

The Inspector at paragraph 6 identified as the first of the four main issues; whether the Council
is able to demonstrate a five year supply of housing against OAHN.

in that case Stroud District Council considered it had 6.59 years against the Appellant's position
of 4.1 years.

Following a detailed assessment of each land supply on a site by site basis the Inspector
concluded at paragraph 33 that the Local Authority can demonstrate a supply of deliverable
housing sites in excess of 5 years. Furthermore, the Inspector considered at paragraph 34 that
the provision of 30% affordable housing on the site carries very significant weight in favour of
the development.

At paragraph 63 the Inspector confirmed that “whife | have identified that the Council can
demonstrate a deliverable 5 year housing land supply, this does not mean that further housing
should necessarily be refused as the stated figure is a minimum provision not a target.”

At paragraph 75 the Inspector set out the benefits considered within the planning balance
confirming; “the other benefits include the provision of market housing in accordance with the
Governments objective, as set out in paragraph 47 of the Framework, of boosting significantly
the supply of housing. The provision of 56 units of affordable housing carries a significant
weight in the light of the acknowledged shortage in the district. Economic and social benefits
cutlined above all weigh in favour of the proposais”.

Both of the aforementioned Appeals were allowed by the Inspectorate notwithstanding in both
cases the Local Authorities having a deliverable 5 year supply of housing land.

Having regard to our discussions elsewhere within the district, it is noted that your Authority
have an acute affordable housing shortage, therefore the provision of affordable housing at a
rate of 40% in this case is a significant benefit weighing in favour of the proposal.

In conclusion, | thus submit that notwithstanding your Authority's revised statement in
connection with the five year land supply, whilst evidently material, in practice and having
regard to recent Appeal decisions does not tell against this proposal. | thus concur with your
conclusion that in this case even with the five year supply, the site should be supported given
the harms identified are still outweighed by the benefiis.

Ref: 12635 3

43



14.02.17

Item 11 - 16/00486/0UT

EAZLELO JoNES]

Should you wish to discuss the above then please do not hesitate to give me a call.

Yours sincerely
For and on behalf of Evans Jones Ltd

David Jones MRTPI. MRICS
Managing Director
Tel. 01242 531411

E-mail: david.jones@evansjones.co.uk

Encs: Planning Appeal Ref. APPW1525/W/15/3121603 and APP/C1625/\W /1573133335

Ref: 12535 4

44



Item 11 - 16/00486/0OUT — Appeal APP/W1525/\W/15/3121603

14.02.17

??@ The Planning Inspectorate

Appeal Decision
Inquiry held on 14, 15, 16 and 17 June 2016
Site visit made on 16 June 2016

by J Dowling BA(Hons) MPhil MRTPI
an Inspector appeinted by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government
Decision date: 26 September 2016

Appeal Ref: APP/W1525/W/15/3121603
Main Road, Great and Little Leighs, Great Leighs CM13 1NP

The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
against a failure to give notice within the prescribed period of a decision on an
application for outline planning permission.

The appeal is made by Mr Steve Latham (Gladman Developments Ltd) against
Chelmsford City Council.

The application Ref 14/01791/0UT, is dated 30 October 2014.

The development proposed is development of up to 100 dwellings with associated

infrastructure, open space and landscaping with all matters reserved except for access.

1.

Decision

This appeal is allowed and outline planning permission is granted for the
development of up to 100 dwellings with associated infrastructure, open
space and landscaping at Main Road, Great and Little Leighs, Great Leighs
CM13 1NP, in accordance with the terms of the application, reference
14/01791/0UT, dated 30 October 2014, subject to the conditions set out in
the attached schedule.

Procedural Matters

2.

The appeal was made on the grounds of non-determination although
subsequent to this the Council resolved that had it been in a position to
determine the application, it would have refused it for four reasons. Prior to
the start of the Inquiry the Council indicated that it no longer wished to
defend its third reason for refusal as following the submission of the
appellant’s evidence, information pertaining to current travel to school
patterns that were not addressed in the original planning application had
been included. In light of all that I have read, heard and seen I have no
reason to disagree with this position and have revised the main issues to
reflect this.

The application was made in outline with all detailed matters other than
access reserved for future consideration and I have determined the appeal on
this basis.

In discussing the suggested conditions it became clear that although the
description of development used by the appellant on the original planning
application made reference to a ‘phased’ develocpment, given the number of
units proposed the scheme, if consented, would not be built out in phases.
For clarity I have therefore amended the description of development in the
banner heading to reflect this.

45



14.02.17

Appeal Decision APP/W1525/W/15/3121603

5

The Inquiry sat for four days. I had an accompanied site visit on 16 June
2016 and I also undertook two unaccompanied site visits on the 13 and 16
June 2016.

A number of separate topic based Statements of Common Ground were
submitted prior to and at the start of the Inquiry which set out the policy
context along with matters of agreement and those in dispute.

Due to time constraints it was agreed that both parties could submit their
closing statements in writing to an agreed timetable. The Council also agreed
to publish the closing statements on their website so that they would be
available for inspection by any of the interested parties.

Following the close of the Inquiry the Council submitted a recent appeal
decision’ which was lodged by the same appellant as for this appeal and
which considered similar issues to this appeal. Both parties were provided
with an opportunity toc comment on that decision and I have taken their
comments and that decision into account when considering this appeal.

Main Issues

9.

The main issues are:

¢ Whether the Council can demonstrate a 5 year housing land supply; and

+ whether the proposal would result in a sustainable form of development

which includes consideration of the effect of the proposal on the character
and appearance of the area and access to facilities.

The Policy Backgiound

10. The development plan for the area consists of the Chelmsford City Council

13

12,

13.

Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document
(2008) (the Cs and DCP). Following the publication of the National Planning
Policy Framework (the Framework) in 2012, the Council undertook a focused
review of the CS and DCP in order to update those policies within the
development plan that they considered needed to be amended to ensure
consistency with the Framework. Following an examination in public, where it
was found sound, the Council adopted the Chelmsford City Council Core
Strategy and Development Control Policies Focused Review (2013) (the
Focused Review). In addition the Council have an adopted Site Allocation
Development Plan Document (2012) (the SA DPD) which was also the subject
of a public examination.

The Framework? advocates that the closer the policies in a plan are to the
policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that they may be given.

The policies relevant to the determination of this appeal are CP1, CP2, CP4,
CP5 and DC2. Policies CP1, CP5 and DC2 were policies that were subject to
the Focused Review.

CP1 seeks to promote and secure sustainable development by linking housing
and employment needs and directing development to those locations where
there is the infrastructure to support it. It also reflects paragraph 14 of the

! Appeal Ref: APP/W1525/W/15/3129306
4 Paragraph 215 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2012)

2

46



14.02.17

Appeal Decision APP/W1525/W/15/3121603

14.

15:

16.

17.

18.

19.

Framework in that it advocates that where there are no policies relevant to
the application or relevant policies are out of date at the time of making the
decision then planning permission will be granted unless material
considerations indicate otherwise. As such this policy is compliant with the
Framework and can be given full weight.

Policy CP2, which was not part of the Focused Review, outlines a spatial
strategy which provides a framework for sustainable housing and job growth
for the area. It advocates that new development should make the best use of
previously developed land and buildings. It also sets out a sequential
approach to the location of development whereby Chelmsford and South
Woodham Ferrers are to be the main focus for development, supported by
appropriate development within the Key Defined Settlements. The latter
includes Great Leighs and the North of Chelmsford’s Urban Area.

Whilst this sequential approach is broadly consistent with the Framework it is
based on the housing requirement figures contained within the Draft East of
England Plan which was revoked in 2013 and not on any objective
assessment of need (OAN) as required by the Framework®. Consequently,
policy CP2 is out of date and can only be afforded limited weight.

Policy CP5 was amended as part of the Focused Review with the aim of easing
restrictions placed on development within the Rural Area beyond the Green
Belt*. As with CP2 it seeks to focus growth within the Urban Areas of
Chelmsford, South Woodham Ferrers and the Key Defined Settlements. In
the Rural Areas beyond the Green Belt it advocates that the Council will
protect the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside. This approach
is reinforced by policy DC2 which restricts development within the Rural Area
beyond the Green Belt generally to sites within the defined settlement
boundaries.

I am aware that a number of Inspectors® have differed about the weight that
can be attached to policies CP5 and DC2. However, I consider that the
sequential approach to focusing new housing in existing urban areas and key
defined settlement areas is consistent with the aims of sustainable
development which the Framework promotes®. Whilst I consider the principle
of focusing development in sustainable locations accords with the Framework,
nonetheless, the housing figures on which CP5 and DC2 are based are not up
to date. As a result whilst policies CP5 and DC2 carry some weight as part of
the development plan, their weight is reduced.

Finally, the Council is in the early stages of drafting a new Local Plan and as
part of this process it has highlighted that Great Leighs could possibly
accommodate between one and two thousand new homes. However, the
plan is still at a very early stage in the process and has not been the subject
of any robust testing and as a result I have afforded it very limited weight.

Policy CP4 of the CS and DCP requires, through the use of planning
contributions, all new development to meet the necessary on and off-site

? paragraph 47 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2012)

# Paragraph 3.3 of the Core strategy and Development Control Policies Focused Review (2013)

° Appeal Ref: App/W1525/W/14/3001771, APP/W1525/15/3137020, APP/W1525/W/15/3009062 and
APP/W1525/W/15/3129306

® Paragraph 17 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2012)

3

47



14.02.17

Appeal Decision APP/W1525/W/15/3121603

infrastructure requirements required to support the development or mitigate
its impact.

Reasons

Whether the Council can demonstrate a 5 year housing land supply and the
implications that this has for this appeal

20.

21.

22,

23,

24,

25,

At the Inquiry the disagreement over the robustness of the OAN centred upon
the demand side of the calculation focusing upon household formation rates
(with the appellant arguing that those used by the Council were supressed)
and the Economic Activity Rates (EARs) used by the Council which were
considered by the appellant to be unrealistic and implausible.

The Planning Practice Guidance’(the PPG) advocates that housing
requirement figures should be used as the starting point for calculating the
five year supply of housing. Considerable weight should be given to the
housing requirement figures in adopted Local Plans. However the PPG
acknowledges that evidence that dates back several years, such as that
drawn from revoked regional strategies, may not adequately reflect current
needs. For the reasons detailed earlier I consider that the figures contained
within the CS and DCP which are based on the revoked East of England Plan
are out of date.

The PPG goes on to state that where evidence in Local Plans has become
outdated and policies in emerging plans are not yet capable of carrying
sufficient weight, as is the case here, information provided in the latest full
assessment of housing needs should be considered. However, it recognises
that the weight given to these assessments shoula take account of the fact
that they have not been tested or moderated against relevant constraints.

Whilst the OAN for Chelmsford has not been the subject of a formal
examination it has, through the appeal process, been the subject of
significant testing. With the exception of the Boreham decision® most of the
previous Inspectors® concluded that the Council had a robust OAN and could
demonstrate a five year housing land supply. This conclusion was reached
again most recently in the appeal for land east of Main Road, Bicknacre'®,

It is not the purpose of this appeal to provide a definitive critique of the
Council’s OAN as that is the function of the Local Plan examination. However,
what is clear from the evidence I heard at this Inquiry is that much of the
argument turns on which figures, particularly for household formation and
economic activity rates, should be used when calculating OAN.

As with the Boreham and Bicknacre appeals the starting point for this appeal
is that the Council consider the OAN to be 775 dwellings per annum (dpa),
whereas the appellant considers that the OAN should be 1,129 dpa. The
Council’s approach to household formation or headship rates followed the
requirements of the PPG and I consider takes reasonable account of local
factors such as affordability. Furthermore, I agree with the Council that the

7 Planning Practice Guidance paragraph 03 Reference 1D: 3-030-20140306

% Appeal reference: APP/W1525/W/15/3049361

% Appeal references: APP/W/1525/W/14/3001771, APP/W1525/W/15/3137020
W Appeal reference: APP/W1525/W/15/3129306

48



14.02.17

Appeal Decision APP/W1525/W/15/3121603

26.

27.

28.

29,

2012 projection rates, which are based on the 2011 census information are
an appropriate base for calculating and producing an up to date OAN.

With EAR the main difference between the parties was the size of the labour
force that would be necessary to meet the projected growth in jobs and
whether this could predominantly be met by the existing population (the
Council’s view) or whether additional workers would be required thus
triggering the need to deliver additional housing (the appellant’s view). The
difference in the figures came down to the use of different forecasting
models.

The Council used the activity rates from the EEFM''. However, these figures,
due to the very high employment rates they predict, were considered
unrealistic and implausible by the appellant who felt that the activity rates,
would in reality, be much lower and produced a number of alternative EARs
based on & different set of projections including OBR, EU and KCC*2,

Whilst I agree that the OBR rates are highly regarded, they project forward
current patterns of behaviour this would mean that future likely changes to
activity, such as people working longer would not be captured. However, on
the basis of what I have read and the evidence provided at the Inquiry, whilst
I acknowledge that the employment rates used by the Council are high I am
satisfied with the explanation provided by the Council as to how they have
been calculated. As these have then been used to calculate the OAN I
consider that the Council’s OAN to be robust. The Council have identified a
supply of housing based on the figures generated by the OAN that would
deliver in excess of a 5 year supply of housing including an allowance for the
previous shortfall and a 20% buffer. As a result I am satisfied that the
Council is able to demonstrate a five year housing land supply in accordance
with the requirements of the Framework.

However, it is also important to recognise that the housing figures that result
from an OAN represent a minimum and not @ maximum requirement for an
area and that accepting that an area has a 5 year supply of housing does not
necessarily preclude a scheme from being sustainable development or mean
that it would be inherently harmful.

Whether the proposal would result in a sustainable form of development

30.

31,

At the heart of the Framework is @ presumption in favour of sustainable
development'®, Paragraph 7 states that there are three dimensions to
sustainable development: economic, social and environmental which give rise
to the need for the planning system to perform a number of roles.

It was clear from the evidence given at the Inquiry that Great Leighs benefits
from a healthy and vibrant local community which has access to a good range
of facilities including a combined shop and post office, two pubs, a village hall
and primary school all of which are located within the village. Immediately
adjacent and opposite the site entrance are bus stops that provide a direct
regular service for village residents to Chelmsford and Colchester. As
outlined at the Inquiry, in the short term the proposal would deliver a number
of construction jobs and local investment. In the longer term the 100 new

! East of England Forecasting Model
12 Office for Budget Responsibility, European Union and Kent County Council
1% paragraph 14 of the National Planning Policy Framawork (2012)

5

49



14.02.17

Appeal Decision APP/W1525/W/15/3121603

32.

33:

34.

35.

36.

dwellings would bring 100 more households utilising these local business and
services and providing an increased local workforce which would assist in the
availability of local labour. As a consequence the proposal would contribute
to building a strong, responsive and competitive economy (the economic
role).

Great Leighs is a Key Defined Settlement where policy CP2 of the CS and DCP
advocates that new development should be directed. Although outside the
Defined Settlement Boundary (DSB), due to its fairly central location within
the village, I consider that unlike many sites that come forward that are
outside of the development boundary the application site physically appears
to form part of the village. The scheme would provide a mix of housing of a
variety of different types and tenures, including on-site affordable housing for
which, from the evidence given at the Inquiry, there is a considerable local
need. Consequently, given the Framework’s aim to maintain or enhance the
vitality of rural communities** and boost significantly the supply of housing®
I consider that the scheme would contribute to meeting the needs of present
and future generations (the social role).

The Council confirmed at the Inquiry that the site has no specific landscape
designation or protection in adopted planning policy terms. However, they
advocated, and I agree, that a lack of formal designation or protection does
not necessarily mean that the site’'s landscape is without worth or value.
Under a Borough/District wide assessment*® the site is included within the
Terling Farmland Plateau Landscape Character Area which is characterised by,
amongst other things, rolling arable farmland, remnants of ancient woodland
and scattered settlement patterns.

From my site visit I observed that, although the site has a pleasant pastoral
aspect due to its location within the village, it is bounded by housing to the
north, south and west. To a large extent therefore, its value appears to stem
from the fact that it is open and undeveloped and allows views from the
village towards Sandylay and Moat Woods. From the evidence given at the
Inquiry its open and undeveloped nature is clearly appreciated and valued by
those who live in and around the area and particularly those who use the
public footpaths through and in the vicinity of the site. However, I agree with
the appellant that this does not amount to a valued landscape within the
meaning of paragraph 109 of the Framework.

All parties agreed that the proposal would affect the character and
appearance of the area by virtue of introducing housing and its related
infrastructure into what is effectively a greenfield site. However, what needs
to be assessed is whether harm would result from this change and the effect
that this would have on the character and appearance of the area.

As outlined earlier although the site is not 'within” the DSB. However,
unusually for a site outside a DSB it is located centrally within the village and
appears as an uncharacteristic gap in an otherwise built up road frontage with
the existing ribbon of development continuing north for about 500m. Itis
only when one continues to the northern and southern edges of the village
that other gaps begin to develop along Main Road and the village takes on a

“ paragraph 55 of the National Planning Policy Framewark (2012)
' Paragraph 47 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2012)
'® Braintree, Brentwood, Chelmsford, Maldon and Uttlesford Landscape Character Assessments (2006)

6

50



14.02.17

Appeal Decision APP/W1525/W/15/3121603

37.

38.

39.

40.

41.

42,

43.

more rural character. As a consequence I consider that the site physically
forms part of the village and appears to be ‘within’ Great Leighs.

I observed at my site visit that Great Leighs has been the subject of
numerous infill developments. This is most evident by the recent
developments on the western side of Main Road but there are also a cluster of
earlier housing schemes on the western side of Main Road, in particular
around Aragon Road. As a consequence I consider that, whilst Great Leighs
may have originally been a linear village, over time development has
occurred behind the houses which front onto Main Road which is of a tighter
urban grain than the original village and the proposal would reflect and
replicate this pattern of development.

Due to their location within the centre of the village, the topography and the
surrounding vegetation and buildings, I consider that the fields do not appear
as part of the wider open countryside, but instead look towards and are more
strongly associated with the existing village to the north, south and west.
Whilst currently open land, the character of the site is derived from its
location within the centre of the village.

A Landscape and Visual Assessment (LVA) was undertaken by the appellant
which found that the visual impacts of the proposal would be mainly limited
to users of the public footpaths and views from the surrounding houses.
Specific concerns were raised by residents at the Inquiry regarding views
from Sandylay and Moat Woods. I acknowledge that the woods are
predominantly deciduous and that, as a result, there will be seasonal
variations. However, as I observed at my site visit, due to their dense nature
views out from the woods towards the site are limited to the edges of the
woodland where public access is limited as the main footpaths meander
through the centre of the woods.

I acknowledge that there would be some long distance glimpsed views from
Banters Lane, however observers from these viewpoints would view the site
against the backdrop of the existing village and, as a result, I consider that
the proposal would not appear out of character.

Furthermore, the scheme would not harm any ecological, arboricultural or
heritage assets and would, through the use of conditions, include new
planting and measures to enhance biodiversity (the environmental role).

The appeal site has a unique set of characteristics not least its central location
within the village and the fact that it is bounded by development on three
sides. As a consequence whilst I recognise that it would be a sizeable
scheme, I consider that the proposal would reflect and respect the pattern
and density of existing development within the village and would, due to its
location appear as part of the village. Furthermore, the site is located in a
sustainable location and the delivery of additional housing would help
maintain the vitality of the existing community.

As a consequence I conclude that the proposal would be outside the DSB and
would result in some loss of open countryside, contrary to policies CP5 and
DC2 of the Focused Review. However, I consider that the harm that would
result from this loss would be limited. Furthermore, for the reasons outlined
above I consider the proposal would be sustainable development and as a

51



14.02.17

Appeal Decision APP/W1525/W/15/3121603

result would be in accordance with policy CP1 of the Focused Review and the
development plan as a whole.

Section 106 Agreement

44.

45.

46.

47.

48.

A signed Section 106 agreement was submitted at the end of the Inquiry?.

In addition to delivering on-site affordable housing and a contribution towards
secondary school transport the agreement would also provide a recreational
open space including a play area within the development in accordance with a
specification and maintenance plan that would be agreed with the Council and
provide a residential travel information pack to encourage sustainable travel
patterns by future residents.

In order to comply with the Framework and the policy DC31 within the CS
and DCP, a percentage of the proposed units would need to be affordable.
Under the terms of the S106 agreement 35% of the dwellings in the
development would be required to be affordable housing units two thirds of
which would be rented housing, with the remaining third being intermediate
and/or shared ownership. The proposal would therefore comply with the
Framework and policy DC31.

Although the Council chose not to defend their third reason for refusal, the
effect of the proposal on local services, in particular access to places at the
local school, remained a concern for local residents. The Council at the
Inquiry confirmed that it has an adopted CIL charging regime and as a result
the development would deliver a financial contribution to ensure that
services, such as education and healthcare provision, could be expanded to
accommodate the needs of future residents of the site. Furthermore, the
Council confirmed that they were satisfied that the contributions towards
secondary school transport provision proposed by the S106 agreement would
ensure that secondary school age children would have access to facilities that
were not located within the village. As a result the proposal would meet the
necessary off-site infrastructure requirements required to support the
development and mitigate its impacts in accordance with policy CP4 of the CS
and DCP.

Policy DC40 of the CS and DCP requires the provision of Open Space for all
residential developments and policy DC6 seeks the mitigation of significant
increases in vehicle movements on the highways network including through
the use of Travel Plans to encourage the use of more sustainable methods of
transport

The obligations within the Section 106 agreement are necessary to make the
development acceptable in planning terms; directly related to the
development and fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the
development. As a consequence they meet the tests within CIL regulation
122 and paragraph 204 of the Framework.

Other matters

49.

At the Inquiry it was clear that Local Residents had concerns regarding the
volume of traffic, particularly at peak times, which use Main Road and the
effect that the additional traffic that would be generated by the development
would have on the local road network. At their request I visited the site

Y Inquiry Document 20

52



14.02.17

Appeal Decision APP/W1525/W/15/3121603

50.

during the morning peak. The Council confirmed that the Highways Authority
did not object to the proposal and considered that any additional traffic
generated by the development could be satisfactorily accommodated on the
local netwark. Whilst I have noted the traffic survey undertaken by the
Parish Council it does not lead me to a different conclusion to the Highways
Authority.

Local residents were also very concerned about the potential impacts on the
Sandylay and Moat Wood nature reserve in particular the potential impacts on
flora and fauna during construction and the impact on trees with particular
reference to a veteran tree which would be in close proximity to the site
boundary. In addition residents advised that the woods were home to
badgers and used for foraging by bats. Construction work could be managed
through a condition requiring the submission of a Construction Method
Statement which amongst other things, would control the hours of working
and measures to supress dust. As a consequence, given that the majority of
the woods are some distance from the appeal site and the indicative layout
indicates that where the woods are closest to the site boundary construction
would be kept to a minimum, I consider that the woods would not be
adversely affected by the noise and disturbance from construction works.
When I visited the site the location of the veteran tree was pointed out to me
and, whilst it is close to the site boundary, the illustrative plans indicate that
it would be some distance from any construction wark and I am therefore
satisfied that subject to a condition requiring protective fencing around trees,
the tree would not be damaged or lost as a result of the proposals. Finally,
regarding the references to bats and badgers inhabiting the woods I note that
the Council is satisfied that the environmental and ecological reports
submitted with the application were robust and I heard no evidence at the
Inquiry to lead me to a different conclusion.

The Planning Balance

51.

52,

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and section
70(2) of the Town and Country Plenning Act 1990 state that determination of
a planning application must be carried out in accordance with the
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. These
other considerations include the Framework, whether the development would
be sustainable and whether any other planning harm resulting from the
development is of such weight that the appeal should be dismissed.

The proposal would result in the development of a site outside the DSB and
through the loss of the open countryside there would be some harm, albeit
very limited, to the character and appearance of the area. As a result I
recognise that the proposal would be contrary to a number of the Council’s
adopted policies, including CP2, CP5 and DC2, and as such the development
would not be in accordance with the development plan in this respect.
However, these policies were drafted on the basis of what are now out of date
housing figures, and even though an adequate supply currently exists, they
nevertheless imply a significantly greater degree of protection for the
countryside than is envisaged in the Framework. Bearing in mind the
Framework's advice about consistency in paragraph 215, for the reasons
outlined at the beginning of this decision, when determining this appeal 1
have afforded these policies reducad weight.

53



14.02.17

Appeal Decision APP/W1525/W/15/3121603

53.

54.

55,

56.

2

The proposal would result in the provision of 100 units which would deliver
economic, environmental and social benefits including the creation of jobs, a
range of different housing types and tenures (including a contribution towards
affordable housing in an area where there is a recognised need) and
measures to enhance the biodiversity of the site. Although, not within the
DSB, due to its central location within the settlement, the site physically does
form part of the village which has a good supply of easily accessible local
services. Furthermore, Great Leighs is recognised in the development plan as
a Key Defined Settlement and due to its transport links and access to local
services is considered a sustainable location.

The proposal reflects the form, density and scale of existing development
within the area and as a consequence would not be out of character. Whilst
the appeal scheme would encroach to some extent into open countryside, due
to its unique and specific location, topography and very limited long distance
views I consider that there would be limited harm to the intrinsic character
and beauty of the countryside,

Whilst T have found that the Council can currently demonstrate a five year
housing land supply, and so there is no immediate pressure to release further
land for housing, the housing figures calculated from the OAN are not a
maximum. It is clear from the work being undertaken by the Council on the
emerging Local Plan that further sites will be required to maintain a
continuing supply of housing five year supply of housing land, beyond the
current five year period, and that all of this need cannot be met through
brownfield sites As a consequence I consider that the housing supply
situation alone is not a reason to justify refusal of the scheme.

The Framework seeks to boost significantly the supply of housing'® and
advocates that planning should respond positively to wider opportunities for
growth'®. 1t also refers to the need to promote sustainable housing and other
development in rural areas in locations where such development would
enhance or maintain the vitality of rural communities®®, all of which the
scheme would deliver.

I acknowledge that the Framework strongly supports a plan led system and
that the proposal would be in conflict with a number of development plan
policies. However when taking into account the Framework and the
development plan as a whole, I consider that on balance the benefits that the
scheme would deliver outweigh the limited harm that it would cause. Finally,
the Framework®* advocates that there is a presumption in favour of
sustainable development and that for decision making this means approving
developments that accord with the development plan without delay.
Therefore having concluded that the proposal would accord with the
development plan as a whole, this is a material consideration that weighs
heavily in favour of granting conditions.

15 paragraph 47 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2012)
' paragraph 17 of the National Planning Policy Framawark (2012)
*® paragraph 55 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2012}
“! paragraph 14 of the National planning policy Framework (2012)

10

54



14.02.17

Appeal Decision APP/W1525/W/15/3121603

Conditions

58.

59.

60.

61.

62.

63.

64.

At the end of the inquiry the Council and the Appellant produced an agreed
list of conditions??. Paragraph 206 of the Framework sets out a number of
tests that conditions need to meet. I have considered the conditions
suggested by the Council against paragraph 206, the advice contained within
the PPG®® and the discussions at the Inquiry. Where necessary I have
adjusted their wording in the interests of clarity. Conditions relating to the
submission of reserved matters and the timing of commencement of
development are needed due to the outline nature of the proposal.

Having heard the Council’s evidence I consider that to help provide clarity for
both the Council and the appellant a condition listing the information to be
submitted with regards to the reserved matters details would provide
precision and aid enforceability. In view of the constraints of the site and the
surrounding residential development and having regard to the amount of
development which the illustrative plans indicate could be accommodated
within the site a condition limiting the number of dwellings to 100 is
necessary in order to ensure a satisfactory form of development.

To ensure highways safety, conditions requiring the approved access to be
constructed prior to the occupation of the units and the surfacing, lighting and
signage or roads, footways and cycleways within the development are
necessary. However, a condition requiring the provision and retention of
onsite car parking could be dealt with as part of the reserved matters and
therefore I do not consider the suggested condition as worded would meet
the Framework tests.

Drainage schemes, including sustainable methods of dealing with surface
water and restricting surface water from discharging on to the highway are
necessary to ensure that there is no detriment to adjoining areas.
Archaeological finds have been found within the area and therefore a
condition requiring further investigation and setting out what would need to
be done if remains are unearthed would also be reasonable.

Given the proximity of the adjoining Sandylay and Moat Woods nature
reserve a condition requiring the development to be carried out in accordance
with section 4 of the Ecological Appraisal is considered necessary to ensure
that the development would not impact upon the surrounding biodiversity or
any protected species. Although landscaping is a reserved matter conditions
requiring future maintenance and management are considered necessary.
Whilst this is a greenfield site and it is therefore unlikely, given the evidence
presented by the Council at the Inquiry, it is appropriate to adopt a
precautionary approach and have a condition requiring an assessment of
contamination in order to ensure the health and safety of future occupiers.

In order to protect the trees shown to be retained a condition requiring
approval of protective fencing is considered relevant. The need to submit a
public art statement reflects the requirements set out in policy DC43 of the
CS and DCP and is therefore appropriate.

To ensure highway safety, protect the living conditions of neighbouring
properties during construction and to minimise the impact on the adjacent

2 Inguiry Document 18
# Planning Practice Guidance ID 21a

11

55



14.02.17

Appeal Decision APP/W1525/W/15/3121603

65.

66.

nature reserve a condition requiring the submission and approval of a
Construction Method Statement, which would control amongst other things
working hours; delivery times and routes; construction workers parking; dust
suppression measures etc. is considered appropriate.

In order to encourage sustainable travel patterns a condition requiring the
upgrading of the bus stops adjacent to the site, including the stop which
would need to be relocated as a result of the proposed site entrance, would
be reasonable.

At the Inquiry a local resident submitted a request® that should the
development be granted planning permission a condition be attached
requiring the public footpath that currently runs through the middle of the
site to be located to the southern edge of the site and the land on which the
footpath runs be made inalienable to protect it for future use by the
community. The relocation of a public footpath is a matter that would be
dealt with by a footpath diversion order under the Highways Act 1980 and as
a result a condition to move the footpath and make the land inalienable would
not meet the tests set out in paragraph 206 of the Framework.

Conclusion

67.

For the reasons given above and having regard to all other matters raised, I
conclude that the appeal should be allowed.

Jo Dowling

INSPECTOR

“* Inguiry Document 15

12

56



14.02.17

Appeal Decision APP/W1525/W/15/3121603

APPERANCES
FOR THE LOCAL PLANNING AUTHORITY:

Josef Cannon, of Counsel
He called

Simon Drummond-Hay Director, HDH Planning and Development Ltd

Richard Pestell Director, Peter Brett Associates

Jeremy Potter Senior Planning Officer, Chelmsford City Council
Simon Quelch Solicitor, Chelmsford City Council

Clive Tokley Independent Planning Consultant

FOR THE APPELLANT:

Giles Cannock, of Counsel

He called

Ivor Beamon Project Manager, Gladman Developments Ltd
Jonathan Dixon Associate Director, Savills

James Donagh Director, Barton Willmore

Gary Holliday Director, FPCR Environment and Design Ltd

John Londensborough Assistant Planner, Gladman Developments Ltd
Steve Lucas Director, Development Economics Ltd

George Venning Director, Bailey Venning Associates Ltd

INTERESTED PERSONS:

Terri Amory Local resident
Brian Barnes Local resident
Dot Creighton Local resident
James Donnelly Local resident
Councillor John Galley City Councillor for Boreham and Leighs ward
Joanne Hawes Local resident
Alan James Local resident
Robert McGuigan Local resident
13

57



14.02.17

Appeal Decision APP/W1525/W/15/3121603

Councillor Richard Poulter

Alison Ratcliffe

Jeff Therlow

Janet Thomas

City Councillor for Bicknacre and East and West
Hannigfield ward and Vice Chair of the Planning
Committee

Local resident
Great Leighs Parish Council

Local resident

DOCUMENTS SUBMITTED AT THE INQUIRY

Document 1:
Document 2:
Document 3:
Document 4:
Document 5:
Document 6:

Document 7:
Supply
Document 8:
Document 9:
Document 10:

Document 11:

Document 12:

Document 13:

Document 14:

Document 15:

Document 16:
Document 17:

Document 18:

Document 19:

Signed Statement of Common Ground for Education

Signed Statement of Common Ground for Affordable Housing
Draft section 106 Agreement

Opening submission of Appellant

Opening submission of the Council

Tables to accompany Mr Lucas’s Proof of Evidence

Signed Statement of Common Ground for Housing Land

Copies of transcripts from the residents of Great Leighs oral
evidence

Copy of transcript of Councillor John Galley's oral evidence

Copy of letter from Gladman Developments Ltd to Julie Broere
of Chelmsford City Council dated 15 January 2016 referred to
by Mr Jeff Thurlow in his oral evidence

Copy of traffic survey conducted by the Parish Council carried
out between 3-9 September 2015 referred to by Mr Brian
Barnes in his oral evidence

Hard copy of PowerPoint presentation (photo montage) by the
residents of Great Leighs

Copy of letter dated 15 June 2016 from Miss Janet Thomas

Copies of internal consultation responses for planning
application reference 14/01791/0UT

Written request from Mr James Donally for a suggested
condition

Replacement document for Core Document 8.3
Email of 17 June 2016 from Olivia Gibbons

Joint response by the appellant and the Council to queries
raised regarding the list of suggested conditions

Written legal justification for planning obligations produced by
the Council

14

58



14.02.17

Appeal Decision APP/W1525/W/15/3121603

Document 20:

Signed and dated copy of the S106 agreement

DOCUMENTS SUBMITTED AFTER THE CLOSE OF THE INQUIRY

Document 1
Document 2

Document 3

Document 4

Closing submissions on behalf of the Local Planning Authority
Closing Submission of the Appellant

Copy of appeal decision for Land east of Main Road,
Bicknacre, appeal ref: APP/W1525/W/15/3129306 and
covering email dated 26 July 2016 from Julie Broere on behalf
of the Council

Email response from Kate Fitzgerald on behalf of the appellant
dated 2 August 2016

15

59



14.02.17

Appeal Decision APP/W1525/W/15/3121603

Schedule of conditions

1) An application for the approval of the reserved matters shall be made to
the local planning authority no later than three years from the date of this
permission. The development hereby permitted shall take place no later
than two years from the date of approval of the last of the reserved
matters to be approved.

2) Details of the appearance, landscaping, layout and scale (hereinafter called
“the reserved matters”) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by
the local planning authority before any development takes place and the
development shall be carried out as approved.

3) The reserved matters submitted in accordance with condition 2 shall
include, but not be limited to, the following details to the extent that they
are relevant to the reserved matters application in question:

A. Layout

The layout of routes, buildings and spaces, the block form and
organisation of all buildings, the distribution of market and
affordable dwellings and full details of the approach to vehicle
parking including visitor parking (together with details of the design
approach for access points for undercroft parking), full details of the
approach to cycle parking including the location, distribution, types
of rack, spacing and any secure or non-secure structures associated
with the storage of cycles and the location and form of open areas
and where appropriate street furniture.

The identification of 3% of the dwellings to be wheelchair accessible
housing and to be constructed in accordance with Category 2 of the
Building regulations — Part M 2015.

The access and circulation of modes of travel, the design of roads
and paths and junction layout including the retention of existing
footpath links and the provision of new footpath and cycleway links
between development phases and the existing network.

B. Scale and Appearance

Scale, form and appearance of the architecture and public/private
realm definition.

Detailed drawings and sections showing the finished levels of all
parts of the development illustrated in relation to the levels of the
surrounding area and any adjoining buildings.

Details of the proposed treatment of all boundaries, including
drawings of any gates, fences, walls and railings.

Details of proposed materials of the development hereby permitted.

Details of the location and design of all artificial lighting and lighting
furniture to all buildings, amenity areas, roads and parking areas.

16

60



14.02.17

Appeal Decision APP/W1525/W/15/3121603

4)

5)

6)

7)

8)

C. Estate Roads

Details of the estate roads and footways (including layout, levels, visibility
splays, gradients, surfacing and means of surface water drainage) and the
surface treatment of the public footpaths across the site.

D. Landscaping

The landscape design and specification of hard and soft landscape works
including details of ecological habitat, corridors or foraging grounds,
measures to be taken to protect trees to be retained both within and
adjacent to the site and a programme for the carrying out of all hard and
soft landscaping.

The residential development hereby approved shall be limited to a
maximum of 100 dwellings.

The development will be constructed in accordance with the approved
access drawing number 1387/01 dated May 2014. No dwelling shall be
occupied on the site unless and until the access works shown in that
drawing have been completed to the satisfaction of the local planning
authority.

There shall be no discharge of surface water from the development onto
the highway.

No development shall take place until a programme of archaeological trial
trenching has been secured and undertaken in accordance with a written
scheme of investigation which has previously been submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority.

A mitigation strategy detailing the excavation/preservation strategy for any
archaeological deposits shall be submitted to the local planning authority
following the completion of this work.

No development shall commence on those areas containing archaeological
deposits until the satisfactory completion of fieldwork, as detailed in the
mitigation strategy, previously submitted to and approved in writing by the
local planning authority in consultation with its historic environment
advisors.

The applicant shall submit to the local planning authority a post-excavation
assessment (to be submitted within six months of the completion of
fieldwork, unless otherwise agreed in writing in advance with the Planning
Authority). This will result in the completion of post-excavation analysis,
preparation of a full site archive and report ready for deposition at the local
museum, and submission of a publication report.

No development shall take place until:

i. A detailed site wide surface water drainage scheme for the site has
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority. This shall be based on sustainable drainage principles and
an assessment of the hydrological and hydro-geological context of
the development; the Flood Risk Assessment and Surface Water
Drainage Strategy dated October 2014 prepared by Hydrock and the

17

61



14.02.17

Appeal Decision APP/W1525/W/15/3121603

consultation response dated 4 March 2015 from the Lead Local Flood
Authority confirming the 1 in 1 greenfield rate.

ii. A detailed site wide Sustainable Urban Drainage Management Plan
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority

The development shall not be carried out other than in accordance with
the approved schemes and shall thereafter be maintained in perpetuity
in accordance with the approved Sustainable Urban Drainage
Management Plan.

9) The development shall be carried out in accordance with Section 4 of the
Ecological Appraisal produced by FPCR dated October 2014.

If within a period of five years from the date of planting any
tree/hedge/plant, that tree/hedge/plant or any tree/hedge/plant planted in
replacement for it, is removed, uprooted, destroyed, or becomes, in the
opinion of the local planning authority, seriously damaged or defective,
another tree/hedge/plant of the same size and species as the original, shall
be planted in the same place unless the local planning authority gives its
written consent to any variation.

10)Prior to the occupation of any dwellings, a site-wide landscape
management plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
local planning authority. The plan shall cover all landscape areas other
than private domestic garden areas and shall include the long term
landscape design objectives, management responsibilities (and measures
to resist public ingress where appropriate), and a programme of
maintenance that will be applied in perpetuity. The development shall not
be carried out otherwise than in accordance with the approved landscape
management plan.

11)No development shall take place until a scheme to assess and deal with
any contamination of the site has been submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority.

Prior to the first occupation of any dwelling any remediation of the site
found necessary, shall be carried out and a validation report to that effect
submitted to the local planning authority for written approval.

12)Prior to the commencement of development details of the surfacing,
lighting, signage and street furniture to be applied to the roads, footways
and cycleways within the development shall be submitted to and approved
in writing by the local planning authority.

Prior to the occupation of any dwelling served by them the roads, footways
and cycleways shall be surfaced and provided with the associated furniture
as approved pursuant to this condition and shall thereafter remain as
approved for public use.

14)Within six months from the commencement of the development, a public art
statement shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority. The statement shall include the following:

18

62



14.02.17

Appeal Decision APP/W1525/W/15/3121603

i. Proposed Public Art and location including details of the chosen theme
and medium of the scheme; and

ii. Details of the installation and future maintenance.

15) No development shall take place including any ground works, until a

Construction Method Statement has been submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority. The development shall be constructed
in accordance with the approved details and shall include but not be limited
to:

e construction site access details;
» areas for parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;
« areas for loading and unloading of plant and materials;

= areas for storage of plant and materials used in constructing the
development;

» wheel and underbody washing facilities;

« measures to supress dust;

= measures to prevent the tracking out of mud and debris onto the highway;
+ hours of working and receiving deliveries; and

« measures to ensure the maintenance of the footpath route during the
construction period.

16) Trees that are indicated to be retained both within and on the boundaries of

the site shall be protected by a barrier erected in accordance with BS 5837:
2012 - trees in relation to design, demolition and construction -
Recommendation Figure 2, or as otherwise agreed in writing by the local
planning authority. The fence shall be erected before the commencement of
any clearing, demolition and building operations. No material shall be stored,
no rubbish dumped, no fires lit and no buildings erected inside the fence, nor
shall any change in ground level be made within the fenced area unless
previously agreed in writing by the local planning authority.

17) No occupation of the development shall take place until upgrades to the two

nearest bus stops to the site frontage on Main Road (northbound and
southbound) to include raised kerbs, passenger shelters, real time passenger
information and road markings as appropriate have been completed in
accordance with details that shall have been previously been submitted to
and approved in writing by the local planning authority.

19

63



Item 11 - 16/00486/0OUT — Appeal APP/C1625/\W/15/3133335

14.02.17

| @ The Planning Inspectorate

Appeal Decision
Inquiry opened on 2 August 2016
Site visit made on 16 August 2016

by Clive Hughes BA(Hons) MA DMS MRTPI

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government
Decision date: 21 November 2016

Appeal Ref: APP/C1625/W/15/3133335
Land rear of Canonbury Street, Berkeley, Gloucestershire

The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
against a refusal to grant planning permission.

The appeal is made by Charles Church Developments Ltd against the decision of Stroud
District Council.

The application Ref S.14/0619/FUL, dated 10 March 2014, was refused by notice dated
11 June 2015.

The development proposed, as amended, is erection of 188 dwellings, provision of new
access from B4066, landscaping and associated infrastructure.

The inquiry sat for 8 days on 2 to 5 and 9 to 12 August 2016.

1

Decision

The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for the erection of
188 dwellings, provision of new access from B4066, landscaping and associated
infrastructure on land at rear of Canonbury Street, Berkeley, Gloucestershire in
accordance with the terms of the application, Ref S.14/0619/FUL, dated 10
March 2013 subject to the thirty conditions set out in Annex 1 to this Decision.

Applications for costs
2

At the Inquiry applications for costs were made by Charles Church
Developments Ltd against Stroud District Council and by the Council against
Charles Church Developments Ltd. These applications are the subject of
separate Decisions.

Procedural matters

3.

The application as originally submitted was for the erection of 197 dwellings.
Prior to the determination of the application by the Council the scheme was
amended and the number of dwellings was reduced to 188. I have determined
this appeal on the basis of this reduced scheme.

Due to illness, the evidence of Richard Morton, on heritage matters, was

presented by Rob Sutton. Mr Sutton, who, in common with Mr Morton is

employed by Cotswold Archaeology, produced a new summary statement
(Document 5) in which he set out his own opinions.

Draft Agreements under s106 of the Act were submitted during the Inquiry.
These were subsequently replaced with draft Unilateral Undertakings (UUs) and
then by completed UUs which were submitted after the Inquiry closed in
accordance with an agreed timetable.

64



14.02.17

Appeal Decision APP/C1625/W/15/3133335

Main Issues

6.

The main issues are:

« Whether the Council is able to demonstrate a 5-year supply of housing
against a full objective assessment of housing need (OAHN) and the
implications of this in terms of national and local policy;

* The effect of the proposals on the landscape character of the area and in
particular on the setting of Berkeley;

« The effect of the proposals on the setting of Berkeley Castle a Grade I listed
building; on the setting of Berkeley Castle Registered Park, a Grade II*
Registered Park and Garden known as Home Park; and on the Berkeley
Conservation Area, and in particular on the inter-relationship between these
designated heritage assets and the town (noting that the town contains
other designated heritage assets); and

« Whether the proposals comprise sustainable development as defined in the
Framework and whether the benefits of the development are sufficient to
outweigh any identified harm.

Reasons

Background

b

10.

The appeal site comprises 11.18 ha of agricultural land immediately abutting
the eastern settlement boundary of Berkeley together with a further 0.66 ha of
highways land. It is divided into three fields separated by mature hedges that
run in a west/ east direction. It slopes downhill from west to east with a
watercourse, the Longbridge Rhyne, at the bottom of the slope and marking
the eastern boundary of the site. The other boundaries are formed by existing
housing in Berkeley to the west; the Berkeley Bypass (B4066) to the north;
and Canonbury Street with the backs of a few houses to the south. Further
east, beyond the Rhyne, is agricultural land and then the arc of the Bypass.

A public footpath crosses the site with stiles between the fields. It runs from
the Bypass to Canonbury Street with a link through between the housing to the
west into Canon Park. This provides a pedestrian link through to the school
and the commercial heart of Berkeley. Most of the southern boundary of the
site abuts the boundary of the Berkeley Conservation Area although the
southern tip of the site, where it adjoins Canonbury Street, lies within the Area.

The relevant planning history concerns a planning permission for landfill and
reinstatement of agricultural land in 1990. This was a temporary permission
and involved inert material to enable the slope to be regraded. This land has
now reverted to agricultural use. The site was promoted for residential
development through the Local Plan process in 2005 and was put to that Local
Plan Inspector as an Omission site. The Inspector recommended that the site
should be allocated for approximately 300 dwellings in order to provide a
source of housing and funding for public transport improvements to support the
standalone employment allocation in Sharpness. This recommendation was not
taken up by the Council and the allocation was not progressed in the Plan.

The site is identified in the Council’s Strategic Housing Land Availability
Assessment (SHLAA, 2011) which indicated a potential for the site to deliver

65



14.02.17

Appeal Decision APP/C1625/W/15/3133335

126 dwellings up to 2026 and a further 126 dwellings after 2026, The 2010

SHLAA report concluded that the site is deliverable and immediately available

with a potential for 251 dwellings between 2014 and 2026. It was the only
strategic site considered in Berkeley.

11. The proposals, as amended, are for the erection of 188 dwellings with a new
access from the Berkeley Bypass. The scheme would provide 132 market
houses and 56 affordable units, the latter split between affordable rent (27

houses) and shared ownership (29 houses). The number and mix of affordable

units has been agreed by the Council’s Housing Officer. The public footpath
would be retained.

12. The scheme as originally submitted was for 197 dwellings but, following a

Committee resolution to defer determining the application, this was reduced to

188. This reduction was to accord with the Committee resolution to

substantially reduce the adverse impact of the proposals on key heritage assets

and in particular to enable greater separation between the new housing and
the castle/ Conservation Area. The amended scheme provides no housing in
the southern field and enables the southern hedge across the site to be
retained. The southern field would provide an attenuation pond, a wildlife
pond, local wildlife areas and public open space.

Five year housing land supply

13. There is disagreement between the parties concerning the Council’s five-year
housing land supply. The Council considers it to be 6.59 years; the appellant

consider it to be either 4.1yrs using the existing OAHN or 2.9yrs if a revised

OAHN is used. A related area of disagreement concerns whether the buffer

should be 5% or 20%. There was no disagreement between the parties that
the proposed affordable housing would be a benefit of the scheme.

14. Concerning the OAHN, the parties produced an Inquiry Note (Document 38) in
which various areas of agreement and disagreement are set out. In particular
the Note says that it is agreed that for the purposes of assessing whether the
Council can demonstrate a five-year housing land supply the Local Plan figure

of at least 11,400 dwellings for the period 2006 to 2031 remains the

appropriate figure. The Council is committed to reviewing its housing policies
by December 2019. The appellant considers that the review will conclude that

the OAHN figure is greater than 11,400 due to changed circumstances. The

Council considers that the figure will be similar to that adopted. However, the

parties are in agreement that it is not for this Inquiry to determine what the
future OAHN figure should be. While I have taken account of these concerns
raised by the appellant I have determined this appeal on the basis of a
requirement of at least 11,400 dwellings within the Plan period.

15. The second bullet point of paragraph 47 of the Framework says that local
planning authorities should identify and update annually a supply of specific
deliverable sites sufficient to provide 5 years’ worth of housing with an
additional buffer of 5%. Where there has been a record of persistent under
delivery of housing they should increase the buffer to 20%. The Framework
does not define the term “persistent under delivery”. The delivery has to be
tested against the Council’s annualised requirement for the relevant years
based upon the actual requirement as now calculated and not against any
previous figures.

66



14.02.17

Appeal Decision APP/C1625/W/15/3133335

16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

21.

In this case, the Local Plan Inspector in his Report (November 2015) concluded
that the latest evidence on past housing provision did not suggest that there
had been a persistent under-delivery of housing in Stroud that might justify a
20% buffer. However, this was judged against an emerging requirement
target (399 dwellings per year) that has later proved to be an under-estimate
of the actual requirement. For the period 2006/7 to 2015/16 the
(retrospectively applied) adopted target is now 456 dwellings per year and that
is the figure I have used.

Persistent means the continued or prolonged existence of something. In this
case it relates to any under delivery of housing against a defined requirement
(456 dwellings per year). It is a judgement that does not need to take into
account the extent of any under delivery and it cannot reasonably have regard
to any likelihood of an improved performance in the future. In Stroud, the
under delivery of housing against the requirement has been intermittent rather
than persistent. In the last 10 years there have been four years of surplus and
6 years of deficit. While numerically the years of deficit have exceeded years
of surplus, the difference is not significant; the number of years of deficit is not
excessive; and the years of deficit are not consecutive. I do not consider that
this can reasonably be described as being persistent. In these circumstances I
am satisfied that the Council has demonstrated that there has not been a
persistent under delivery of housing and so a 5% buffer is appropriate.

The Council, based upon a 5% buffer, considers that it can demonstrate a
6.59yrs supply of housing land with a supply of 3,560 dwellings in the next 5
years against a requirement of 2,702. This is disputed by the appellant who
provided a requirement figure of 3,092 dwellings and a supply of 2,554
dwellings. This equates to approximately a 4.1yr supply and a shortfall of 538
dwellings. On the basis of a 5% buffer, however, it represents a supply of
about 4.75yrs and a shortfall of 148 dwellings.

In addition to the disagreement concerning the size of the necessary buffer,
the appellant considers that the Council has over-estimated the supply for the
period 2016/17 to 2020/21 by 1000 units. The disagreements relate to 11
sites, 2 with planning permission, 3 with outline planning permission and & with
no planning permission. These sites are therefore considered in turn, in the
same order as set out in Table JR12 (Document 24).

Site 11 Colethrop Farm: [5-year difference between the parties = 256
dwellings]. This site has the biggest difference between the parties. The
Council’s figures are based upon figures supplied by the developer; the
appellant’s figures were based upon a national average of completions for
major house builders of 40 units per sales outlet. The developers wrote to the
Council during the Inquiry to confirm that the sales strategy for the next phase
includes the sale of two parcels to a third party developer who would provide a
second sales outlet (Documents 41 & 43). This seems to me to be a good
indication of a close professional relationship between the Council and the
developers.

On this basis, two outlets each contributing an average of 48 units per year
seems reasonable and I see no reason to dispute the developers’ assessment
of delivery. The site has delivered 59 units per year with one outlet. This
figure is well above the appellant’s stated average of 40 units. I give only
limited weight to the appellant’s figures as they are based on a single outlet

67



14.02.17

Appeal Decision APP/C1625/W/15/3133335

22.

23.

24.

25.

26.

27.

and rely upon the national average. Inevitably some sites will deliver more
and some less than a national average.

Site 16 Stanley Mills: [5-year difference 74 dwellings]. This site has had the
benefit of full planning permission since 2011 but no development has yet
come forward. There has been a recent change of ownership. The housing is
enabling development and the repairs to the Grade I listed building have now
commenced. The site has now been taken over by Avant Homes who intend to
make a start with 10 dwellings in 2018/9 and 32 per year thereafter. There is
inevitably some uncertainty about the delivery of these units given the long
time since planning permission was granted. However, as a house builder has
now taken over the site it seems reasonable to accept the Company’s assertion
that development will commence in 2018.

Site 6C Lister Petter, Littlecombe: [5-year difference 142 dwellings]. St
Modwen is currently on site delivering 6A and 6B. They have averaged 57
units per year including 97 in the last year (when a phase was being
completed). The major infrastructure for the site has been completed and it is
agreed that Table JR12 should include 60 units for 2016/17. Given past
completion rates; the agreed figure of 60 for this year; and the stated
intentions of the developer, it is not clear what judgement the appellant applied
to the developer’s questionnaire response to end up with the lower figure of the
national average for this site. This is well below the figure the developer has
previously achieved. I see no reason not to accept the Council’s figures.

Site 17 Land south of Leonard Stanley Primary School: [5-year difference 10
dwellings]. There have been delays due to a village green application and
judicial review. This is a greenfield site and a reserved matters application has
recently been submitted. The submitted plans identify Barratt Homes and
David Wilson Homes as the developers. Both parties agree on the likely timing
of the development, the only difference is the rate of delivery with the Council
relying on the figures provided by Gladman Developments Ltd and the
appellant relying on national average building rates. The only question is how
many units will come forward each year; the difference between the parties is
small. I have no reason not to accept the developers’ estimates.

Site 51 Land west of Stonehouse: [5-year difference 200 dwellings]. This is a
strategic allocation for 1350 dwellings in the Local Plan; its deliverability and
viability was tested at the Examination in Public. The developers, Redrow
Homes, averaged almost 60 units per year at another site in the District and
they intend to have two outlets initially with possibly 3 outlets in due course.
Some 20-40% of each phase would be affordable housing developed by a
registered provider. The anticipated delivery of 50 units per year per outlet
seems reasonable.

However, the site masterplan has yet to be considered by the Council and the
first reserved matters application has yet to be submitted (although it is
anticipated later this year). There is infrastructure to be provided. While there
is little difference between the parties concerning the rate of delivery once
development commences, I am not convinced that the site is likely to deliver
50 units in 2016/17; the appellant’s contention that delivery would commence
in the following year seems more realistic.

Site 42 Land adjacent Fountain Crescent: [5-year difference 14 dwellings]. The
site is owned by the Council. A 2008 planning permission for 14 dwellings has

68



14.02.17

Appeal Decision APP/C1625/W/15/3133335

28.

29.

30.

31,

lapsed and the Council now intends to sell the land, together with an adjacent
site, for 21 dwellings. The marketing exercise commenced during the Inquiry
with expressions of interest requested by 24 August 2016. Due to the
commencement of marketing it seems likely that development will take place
within 5 years but the Council’s estimate that delivery will commence in
2016/17 is too optimistic. Nonetheless, there seems no reason as to why the
site should not be developed within the 5 year period.

Site 44 North East Cam: [5-year difference 130 dwellings]. This is a strategic
allocation in the Local Plan and there is an outline planning application awaiting
determination. Both parties agree that delivery will commence during the 5
year period the differences relate to the timescale and rate of delivery. The
site promoter is still in talks with developers and the Council’s timescale for
delivery seems unrealistic. At the Inquiry the Council accepted that one years’
slippage would be sufficient but even that would be a very tight timescale. I
consider that the appellant’s estimate of delivery commencing in 2019/20 is
realistic. The rate of delivery must remain unknown at this stage as there is no
developer on board but there is relatively little difference between the parties
on this.

Sites 45 & 46 Hunts Grove extensions at Hardwicke and Haresfield: [5-year
difference 20 dwellings (10 per site)]. These sites are only split by a Parish
boundary. It is part of a large strategic allocation in the Local Plan that will
deliver 750 dwellings by 2031. It is part of Colethrop Farm (Site 11) for which
340 out of 1751 dwellings have so far been delivered and for which the Council
estimates a further 436 will come forward within 5 years. There is no certainty
that the developers will commence this part of the development before the
approved scheme is completed. The Council has used the developer’s figures
but there is no evidence to suggest that it will definitely come forward within
the 5 year period.

Site 47 Sharpness: [5-year difference 110 dwellings]. This is a complex site
with no planning permission. The Council is in advanced discussions with the
developers but the site has not yet been marketed. The Local Plan Inspector
took account of deliverability and the Council considers that delivery will
commence in 2018/19 at a modest rate. The appellant does not consider that
development will commence within the 5 year period. The response from the
developer to the Council’s review of its 5-year housing land supply was to keep
the numbers unchanged but with the caveat that they were reviewing the
phasing of delivery. This site has a number of challenges that will impact on
delivery I am not convinced that either the developer or the Council have
demonstrated that it will come forward within 5 years.

Site 50 Wimberley Mill: [5-year difference 44 dwellings]. There is no
disagreement concerning delivery, it is the timescale and rate of delivery that
is at issue. The site is a strategic allocation in the Local Plan. The Council
anticipates delivery to commence in 2017/18; the appellant says the following
year. Outline planning permission has only recently been granted and there
are pre-commencement conditions to discharge. It seems more likely that
delivery will commence in 2018/19 as suggested by the appellant. The site is
to be built by a local builder who has carried out other residential
developments in the area and I see no reason to dispute the anticipated rate of
delivery. This would only have a minor impact on the 5 year delivery.

69



14.02.17

Appeal Decision APP/C1625/W/15/3133335

32,

33.

34.

Overall, therefore, I consider that the Council has been unduly optimistic in
respect of some sites but generally it has demonstrated that most sites are
deliverable within 5 years. Most of the anticipated rates of delivery, which are
those supplied by the developers themselves, are reasonable.

I have accepted that a 5% buffer is reasonable and so the total five-year
housing land supply requirement is 2,702, including 293 brought forward from
previous years’ shortfall [(456x5 + 293)x 1.05]. Taking account of the
downward adjustments I have made arising from reducing the delivery of
several of the above sites, the deliverable supply is 3,166 dwellings [3,560 -
394]. This would give a supply of 5.85 years. Even with a 20% buffer there
would still be a supply in excess of 5 years (5.15 years). I conclude on the first
issue, therefore, that the Council can demonstrate a supply of deliverable
housing sites in excess of 5 years.

Concerning affordable housing, the Local Plan Inspector identified that the
Council’s Housing Strategy confirmed that its provision is one of the Council’s
corporate priorities, He acknowledged that the Council accepted that the 30%
target provision would not deliver all the affordable housing needed. At the
Inquiry unchallenged evidence showed that the need for affordable housing
exceeds 100% of the annual level of overall housing delivery for the remainder
of the Plan period. The provision of 30% affordable housing on this site (56
units) therefore carries very significant weight in favour of the development.

The effect of the proposals on the landscape character of the area and in particular
on the setting of Berkeley

35.

36.

37.

The appeal site lies on an east facing slope abutting the eastern boundary of
Berkeley. Immediately to the west of the site are bungalows and houses within
the settlement boundary. That row of dwellings runs north/ south along the
ridge line with dwellings and roofs clearly visible from the east; they sit above
the appeal site for its entire length. The Officers’ Report notes that the urban
edge follows the top of the locally prominent Sandstone Ridge. This edge is
especially noticeable in long views from the east, particularly from the B4066
between Mobley and Berkeley, and from sections of the Berkeley Bypass. The
B4066 is the principal road into Berkeley as the River Severn precludes access
from the west by anything other than local traffic.

The Statement of Common Ground identifies that the site lies within Stroud
District Council Landscape Character Area (LCA) Sandstone Ridge. The land at
the foot of the slope, outside the appeal site, lies within the Undulating
Lowlands LCA. The site and its surroundings display many of the
characteristics of the Sandstone Ridge LCA including its arable and pasture
use; the hedgerows enclosing medium scale fields; and the landscape being
predominantly rural. The landscape has no specific designation or protection
but it is locally both prominent and distinctive. It abuts a highly valued
heritage landscape to the south which is considered in more detail below.

Local Plan Policy ES7 says that the Council’s Landscape Assessment will be
used when determining applications for development in the rural area. The
policy sets out two criteria that have to be met for new development including
a requirement that the location is sympathetic to and complements the
landscape character and that natural features, such as trees and hedgerows
that contribute to the landscape character of the wider area, should be retained
and managed.

70



14.02.17

Appeal Decision APP/C1625/W/15/3133335

38.

39.

40.

41.

42.

43.

In this case the development is outside the settlement boundary and therefore
it is inevitable that there will be some harm to the existing landscape
character. One of the key characteristics identified in the LCT is the presence
of more recent housing estates on the outskirts of Berkeley. The site also has
to be seen in the context of its past. It was a landfill site and so the contours
have been artificially changed; it is not an intact landscape. In addition, the
housing along the top of the ridge above the site means that the landscape of
the site’s surroundings is not intact either. The Bypass, in a cutting below the
site, also represents a modern landscape feature adjacent to the site.

The impact on trees and hedgerows is not a reason for refusal. The hedges
between the fields would be retained, although a gap would need to be created
in the hedge between the middle field and the northern field to allow access.
The hedge adjacent to the Bypass, which is about 30 years old, would need to
be removed and largely replanted.

Overall, while the landscape has no particular protection, the site itself is in
agricultural use and contributes positively to the landscape character of the
area. The proposed housing would fail to retain the open character of the site
and would not complement the landscape character. This has to be seen in the
context that it is not an intact landscape.

Concerning the effect on the setting of Berkeley, the site is quite well contained
and from outside the site it is really only visible from the east. From public
viewpoints to the north, south and west, there would be virtually no impact on
the setting of Berkeley. The Council submitted a plan showing existing visibility
(Christine Marsh: Plan HDA7?7) which identified public viewpoints from roads and
footpaths. This plan is striking in that, disregarding the public footpath across
the site, there are only open views of the site for a few metres around the
Alkington Lane/ B4066 junction; for a short section of the Berkeley Bypass just
below the site; and from a public footpath to the east (Hamfallow FP51). There
are also partial views from around these open views and from Canonbury
Street to the south of the site and further glimpses from the B4066, the Bypass
and three public footpaths. Considering the fact that it would be on an east
facing slope, public views from the east would be highly restricted.

In all these views the site is seen against the backdrop of the slope topped by a
continuous row of houses and bungalows. From the Bypass, in particular, the
two storey houses in Canon Park are highly visible at the top of the slope. This
urban backdrop means that the impact on the setting of Berkeley is far more
limited that would be the case if the top of the ridge had not already been
developed by modern housing. It is from the B4066, around the junction with
Alkington Lane, that the proposals would be likely to have their greatest visual
impact. This is about 600m from the eastern boundary of the middle field.

The southern field is closest to most observers’ line of sight and this would
remain undeveloped, thereby retaining a green and open foreground for
Berkeley. Here the existing views of the field and the roofs of the bungalows
on the ridge would remain.

I conclude on this issue that there would be some harm to the landscape
character of the area and some limited conflict with Policy ES7. That is
inevitable for any development outside settlement boundaries. In this
instance, however, the development would not be unduly prominent in the
landscape due to the limited number of viewpoints from which it could be seen.

71



14.02.17

Appeal Decision APP/C1625/W/15/3133335

Any harm would be local and the retention of hedges and the provision of
additional landscaping would mean that, in the longer term, its visual impact
would be limited. There would, nonetheless, be some limited conflict with the
development plan.

The effect of the proposals on the setting of Berkeley Castle a Grade [ listed
building,; on the setting of Berkeley Castle Registered Park, a Grade II'** Registered
Park and Garden known as Home Park; and on the Berkeley Conservation Area,
and in particular on the inter-relationship between these designated heritage
assets and the town

44,

45,

46.

47.

48.

I have had regard to my statutory duties under the Planning (Listed Buildings
and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 as amended, and in particular sections 66(1)
and 72(1). These require that I have special regard to the desirability of
preserving a listed building or its setting or any features of special architectural
or historic interest which it possesses and to pay special attention to the
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of a
Conservation Area when considering whether to grant planning permission.

The northern boundary of the Berkeley Conservation Area is immediately to the
south of the appeal site with a small part of the site falling within the Area.
Within this Conservation Area is Berkeley Castle (Grade I) which is itself within
the Berkeley Castle Registered Park and Garden (Grade II*) The part of this
Garden known as Home Park lies to the south of Canonbury Street and around
the castle itself. Part of this, between the castle and Canonbury Street, is
wooded and is known as Castle Covert. There are further lines of mature trees
either side of Canonbury Street. Adjacent to the castle is the church of St Mary
the Virgin with its separate tower. There are many other listed buildings within
the Conservation Area and, to the east of the site, is Pike House (Grade II).

I have considered the impact of the proposed development on each of the cited
designated heritage assets. However, the first reason for refusal relates
specifically to the castle, the registered parkland and the Conservation Area. It
says that the proposals would lessen the legibility of the inter-relationship of
the castle to the park, the town and the wider landscape. I have therefore
considered the impact of the proposed development on the individual heritage
assets first, before considering the impact on the legibility of the inter-
relationship between these heritage assets.

I have had regard to the wide range of expert opinions that were before the
Inquiry and to their extremely different conclusions on the likely impact of the
proposals. I have also had regard to the fact that, before determining the
planning application, the Council commissioned an independent Heritage and
Landscape Assessment of the amended scheme. I have also considered the
written opinions from Heritage England.

Concerning the Conservation Area, I fully accept the Council’s contention that
one of the key components of its setting, when approached from the east, is
the element of surprise. I also accept that the views from the east are the key
views as far as this appeal is concerned as that is the principal direction from
which the appeal site can be seen. I do not accept, however, that when
approaching from the east the town remains hidden over the brow of the hill.
Indeed, the entire ridge line is topped by a row of bungalow roofs and, further
north, by two storey houses. These properties flag up the presence of the
town well before one arrives. Nonetheless, from the east, most of the

12



14.02.17

Appeal Decision APP/C1625/W/15/3133335

49,

50.

51,

52.

53.

54.

Conservation Area itself remains hidden and from the road there are only
glimpses of the other principal buildings such as the castle and the church
tower.

The amended scheme keeps the proposed development at arm’s length from
the Conservation Area. The field closest to the Area would remain open and
the mature hedge that forms its northern boundary would be retained. This
open space, and hedge, would provide a significant buffer and, as set out by
the Council’'s consultants, would enable the Conservation Area boundary to be
identifiable on the approach to Berkeley. The modern dwellings along the ridge
line are clearly visible when approaching the town and encroach on the
Conservation Area more closely than would the proposed development.
Nonetheless, in views from around the B4066/ Alkington Lane junction and
when looking north from Canonbury Street there would be some limited harm
to the way in which the Conservation Area would be appreciated. This harm
would be less than substantial.

The castle lies well to the south of the appeal site and there is no real inter-
visibility between them. The trees in Castle Covert, as well as the trees and
buildings either side of Canonbury Street, ensure that any glimpses of the
castle from the appeal site are minimal. The only way in which the appeal site
could be considered to form part of the setting of the castle is when viewed
from the east, especially from the B4066. While it is possible to see glimpses
of the castle, through trees, and the appeal site together from a short distance
along the B4066, this view is fleeting and neither the significance of the castle,
or its setting, can be readily appreciated from this viewpoint.

I agree with the opinion of the Council’s consultants, and the appellant’s expert
witness, that the amended scheme would have no effect on the setting or
significance of the castle.

Concerning the effect of the proposals on the setting of the Berkeley Castle
Registered Park and Garden, this heritage asset is in two distinct parts. From
Whitcliff Park, to the south, there would be distant views of the appeal site but
due to the distance involved, the trees/ hedge along the southern boundary of
the middle field and the existing housing to the west, the impact on the setting
of this part of the asset would be negligible.

The significance of the Home Park part of the Park and Garden, which lies
around the castle, is greater in that it forms the designed setting for the castle.
The presence of Castle Covert, immediately to the north of the castle and
between it and the appeal site, indicate that views to the north do not form
part of any intended outlook or view from the castle or from Home Park.
Indeed, from Home Park, the appeal site is completely hidden by trees, hedges
and buildings. The appeal site clearly does not form part of any intended view
out from this heritage asset. The development would not impact upon its
significance. The proximity of the proposed development, and the views of
Home Park and the appeal site from the east, would mean that there would be
some, albeit limited, harm to its setting.

I have also considered the impact on the setting of Pike House which, although
not referred to in the reasons for refusal, is a prominent listed building that
appears in the foreground of views towards the castle, Home Park and the
appeal site from the approaches to Berkeley along the B4066 from the east.
This building has a historic link with the castle and replicates some of its

10

73



14.02.17

Appeal Decision APP/C1625/W/15/3133335

55.

56.

57.

58.

59.

architectural features and it is recorded as a turnpike in 1824. Its location
beside the road is an obvious necessity and is one that makes a considerable
contribution to its setting. However, its immediate setting has been
encroached upon by modern farm buildings. This inter-relationship is
particularly noticeable in views from the public footpath across the appeal site.

Looking in the other direction, towards the appeal site from the B4066 to the
west of Mobley, there would be a high degree of separation between the Pike
House and the housing on the appeal site. In part of this gap the roofs of the
bungalows above the southern field are visible but do not harm the setting. I
agree with the Council’s consultants that the proposals would not harm either
the significance or the setting of this heritage asset.

The proposed housing would be almost completely screened from the castle by
trees. There was much discussion at the Inquiry concerning the health and
likely lifespan of a selection of these trees. However, these represent only a
fraction of the total trees in the Castle Covert and it is evident that young trees
are growing up in what is evidently managed woodland. These saplings will
doubtless replace the mature trees in due course and there is no evidence that
there are plans to clear the woodland. Indeed, it is part of the attraction for
visitors to the castle and includes play facilities for children.

In considering the effect of the proposals on the legibility of the inter-
relationship between these heritage assets, the topography is important but so
too is existing development, planting and achievable views. There is no
dispute between the parties that the principal views are from the east. That is
the only direction from which this inter-relationship can really be appreciated.
The trees in Castle Covert provide a highly effective screen such that, when the
trees are in leaf, only limited glimpses of the castle and church tower can be
achieved from the appeal site. While the slope of the hillside can be seen,
much of this has already been regraded by landfill and in any case it is some
distance from the castle. The proposals involve keeping the southern field
undeveloped, with no housing to the south of an existing mature hedge, which
would be retained.

The best place to view the town’s various heritage assets, and the inter-
relationship between them, is from the south/ south west. When viewed from
here, this inter-relationship between the castle, Home Park, the town,
including, in particular, the church and its detached tower, and the wider
landscape is seen in the context of a significant amount of more recent housing
in Berkeley. This housing does not unacceptably detract from the setting of the
designated heritage assets or the inter-relationship between them. The town
nestling around the castle is an important component in Berkeley’s history.

The proposed houses would be sited a significant distance from the castle and
some distance from the Conservation Area. While the appearance of part of
the site would change, due to the proposed housing, there would be no change
to the inter-relationship of the castle to the park or to the town. The slope of
the land would still be able to be appreciated so the relationship of the castle to
its landscape setting would remain. In a few, limited, views from the east,
glimpses of the castle and views of the new housing would both be visible at
the same time. However, visibility does not equate with harm. While I have
found some limited, less than substantial harm to the setting of some heritage
assets, I do not consider that the proposals would unacceptably lessen the

bl |

74



14.02.17

Appeal Decision APP/C1625/W/15/3133335

legibility of the inter-relationships cited in the reason for refusal. The less than
substantial harm to the setting of heritage assets, and the resultant limited
conflict with Local Plan Policy ES10, needs to be weighed with the public
benefits of the proposal in accordance with paragraph 134 of the Framework
and paragraph 5 of Policy ES10.

The planning balance

60.

61.

62.

63.

64.

When the planning application was first reported to the Council’s Development
Control Committee in December 2014 it was with an Officer recommendation to
approve. However, determination of it was deferred to enable the applicants to
make amendments. In particular, to substantially reduce the adverse impacts
on key heritage assets and make the application more acceptable in planning
terms. There was no objection raised by Members to the principle of the
development even though it was acknowledged that the site lies outside the
settlement boundary of Berkeley and that the Council considered that it had a
5 year supply of deliverable sites for housing.

The application was subsequently amended, the number of dwellings was
reduced and all the proposed housing was removed from the southern field,
closest to the Conservation Area. Notwithstanding a further Officer
recommendation to approve the development, in June 2015 Members resolved
to refuse permission. The reasons for refusal related to heritage and landscape
issues, not to the principle of development outside the settlement boundary.

At that time the Stroud Local Plan had not yet been adopted and the
development plan included the Stroud District Local Plan which ran until June
2011 and so was out of date albeit that some policies within it were subject to
a Saving Direction (October 2008).

The Stroud Local Plan has now been adopted and forms part of the
development plan for the area. The determination of this appeal must be made
in the light of policies within that Plan. Policy CP1 includes a presumption in
favour of sustainable development in line with the presumption as set out in
paragraph 14 of the Framework, although as there is a five-year housing land
supply the presumption as set out in paragraph 14 does not apply here.

The Framework says that the policies within it as a whole constitute the
Government's view of what sustainzble development in England means in
practice. Paragraph 7 identifies that there are three dimensions to sustainable
development: economic, social and environmental. In economic terms, the
Local Plan says that the District will accommodate at least 11,400 additional
dwellings by 2031, While I have identified that the Council can demonstrate a
deliverable five-year housing land supply, this does not mean that further
housing should necessarily be refused as the stated figure is a minimum
provision, not a target. In any case, it is acknowledged that the figure of
11,400 cannot be reached by simply relying on allocations in the Local Plan and
other land will need to come forward during the Plan period.

There are other economic benefits of the development, including the provision
of jobs during the construction phase and the likely support that new residents
would provide for shops and other businesses in Berkeley. This was a point
raised by Berkeley Town Council, who spoke in support of the proposals at the
Inguiry, and who described Berkeley as a town in decline that urgently needs
new families to revitalise it and keep the local services.

12

75



14.02.17

Appeal Decision APP/C1625/W/15/3133335

65.

66.

67.

68.

69.

70.

I have had regard to concerns that the proposals may so harm the appearance
of the area that there would be an impact on tourism. However, the proposed
housing would be some distance from the Conservation Area and there is no
unacceptable harm to the setting of the castle or other designated heritage
assets. There is only one main public viewpoint from which the castle and the
new development would be likely to be seen and, given the distance between
them, the impact on the view would not be unacceptable or be likely to
adversely affect tourism. The history of the area could still be “read” in the
landscape and I do not consider that these proposals would harm tourism such
as to have a significant adverse economic impact. Against this, there would
undoubtedly be economic benefits arising from the proposals.

In terms of the social role, the new housing would be provided in reasonable
proximity to the local services. The site immediately abuts the settlement
boundary and there is existing housing to the west. There is pedestrian access
through this housing that leads to the town centre and local services. The
Town Council produced its Town Housing Needs Survey (2010) which, while not
fully up to date, demonstrated a need for affordable housing in Berkeley. The
provision of affordable housing would be a social benefit of some weight as
there is a significant need for additional affordable housing in the District.

While the Council argued that the site is not in a sustainable location, this
seems at odds with the Officers’ reports in respect of the provision of affordable
housing at Fishers Road which was described as being in a highly sustainable
location in Berkeley. The Officers’ report in respect of a planning application
for a rural exception scheme of 10 affordable dwellings in Lynch Road, on a site
outside but abutting the settlement boundary, commented that the site had
easy access to facilities within the town indicating a degree of sustainability.
While there could be some reliance on the car in this semi-rural location this
was not judged sufficient to warrant refusal.

As set out above there would be some less than substantial harm to the setting
of the Conservation Area and some limited harm to the landscape. However,
the houses would be separated from the Conservation Area by the southern
field and it has a mature hedge along its northern boundary that would
minimise the impact. In landscape terms there would be some harm arising
from the development. This is inevitable for any housing on a greenfield site.
The only views of the site are from the east and, in those views, the housing
along the ridge is already visible so the harm is localised, limited and
contained. In addition, there is ample scope for additional landscaping to
supplement the retained hedges and to minimise any harm.

On balance, therefore, while there is some environmental harm, this is limited
and localised and is significantly outweighed by the economic and social
benefits of the development. I conclude that the proposals comprise
sustainable development as described in the Framework. While this does not
trigger the presumption set out in paragraph 14 of the Framework, this
nonetheless weighs in favour of the development.

I have also had regard to the provisions of Policies CP2, CP3 and CP15 of the
Local Plan. This Plan post-dates the decision on this planning application and,
although the (then) emerging Policy CP3 is referred to in the Officers’ reports
to Committee, conflict with it does not form any part of the reasons for refusal.
Indeed, when the application was initially deferred by Members, the reasons for

13

76



14.02.17

Appeal Decision APP/C1625/W/15/3133335

/1.

72,

73

74.

75.

the deferral do not mention any concern about the site’s location outside the
settlement boundary or refer to these emerging policies.

Nonetheless, the site is not identified in Policy CP2 as a strategic housing site
and this policy also says that housing development will take place within
settlement development limits. Only limited development will take place
outside of these areas and in accordance with other policies in the Plan. Policy
CP2 also states that outside the strategic sites, development will take place in
accordance with the settlement hierarchy set out in the Plan.

This hierarchy is set out in Policy CP3 which identifies Berkeley as a second tier
settlement and as a Local Service Centre. The policy says that these Centres
have the potential to provide for modest levels of jobs and homes in order to
help sustain and, where necessary, enhance their services and facilities.
Supporting paragraphs 2.74 and 2.76 of the Local Plan refer to concentrating
housing growth in settlements and within defined settlement boundaries.

Policy CP15 sets out the principles with which development cutside identified
settlement development limits need to comply. These proposals do not comply
with any of the cited principles.

The appeal site lies outside the settlement boundary of Berkeley and so the
proposals are in conflict with these policies. Although the Council has not cited
this conflict in its reasons for refusal, it nevertheless weighs against the
development in the overall planning balance.

I have concluded that the Council can demonstrate a deliverable five-year
supply of housing land and that the proposals comprise sustainable
development as described in the Framework. The identified harm to
designated heritage assets is less than substantial and this harm is outweighed
by the public benefits as set out above. The harm to the landscape is localised
and limited. It principally affects views from the east and views looking out
from the public footpath within the site. There is also conflict with the
development plan, and in particular with part of Policy CP2 and with Policy CP3.

The benefits of the proposals have to be weighed against this harm. These
include the stated objective of accommeodating at least 11,400 additional
dwellings in the District by 2031 as set out in Policy CP2. The other benefits
include the provision of market housing in accordance with the Government’s
objective, as set out in paragraph 47 of the Framework, of boosting
significantly the supply of housing. The provision of 56 units of affordable
housing carries significant weight in the light of the acknowledged shortage in
the District. The economic and social benefits outlined above all weigh in
favour of the proposals.

Conditions and Undertakings

Conditions

76.

The parties set out a list of agreed conditions in the SoCG. These were
discussed at the Inquiry and, where appropriate, I have amended them. A
condition identifying the approved plans is necessary for the avoidance of
doubt. Conditions concerning external materials, boundary treatments,
landscaping and tree protection measures are necessary in order to protect the
appearance of the area.

14

77



14.02.17

Appeal Decision APP/C1625/W/15/3133335

77.

78.

79.

Details of the proposed pumping station, surface water drainage and foul
sewerage and drainage need to be submitted to and approved by the Local
Planning Authority in order to reduce the risk of flooding and minimise the risk
of pollution and because no such details have been submitted. Details of a
scheme to deal with any ground contamination are necessary to protect the
health of future residents and due to the landfill that has taken place on the
site. Details of the construction of foundations are required to safeguard
ground waters.

Details of a Construction Environmental Management Plan, a Landscape
Ecological Management Plan, a lighting strategy, the proposed pond and access
to the Key Wildlife Site are required to safeguard flora and fauna on the site
and using the site and its surroundings. A programme of archaeological work
is necessary to advance understanding of heritage assets which otherwise may
be lost.

The carriageways and pedestrian links and improvements need to be provided
and constructed in accordance with approved details, including a timescale for
their provision, and in accordance with the approved plans to ensure that there
is a satisfactory means of access to the dwellings before they are first occupied
and that there are safe and suitable pedestrian routes. The details of the
proposed bus stop improvements need to be submitted to ensure that these
are provided before the dwellings are first occupied. A construction method
statement is needed to minimise potential impact on the public highway. Fire
hydrants need to be provided to ensure that there is adequate water
infrastructure in the event of fire. Noise mitigation measures need to be
provided for the identified dwellings close to the Bypass to ensure an adequate
level of residential amenity for future residents.

Undertakings

80.

81.

82.

The appellant initially submitted two draft Agreements under s106 of the Act
but, due to differences of opinion with the two Councils involved (Stroud
District Council and Gloucestershire County Council), two UUs in draft form
were submitted towards the close of the Inquiry and were the subject of
discussion on the final day of the Inquiry. Completed UUs were subsequently
submitted in accordance with an agreed timetable. The obligations comprise
financial contributions towards pre-school provision; primary school provision;
libraries; public transport enhancements; a travel plan and off-site recreation
in Berkeley. Provision is also made for 30% of the housing to comprise
affordable housing.

Concerning the UU to the District Council (Document 56), this is unacceptable
to the Council for various reasons. While the Council acknowledges that some
of the points it raised at the Inquiry have been acceptably amended, there
remain a number of areas where the UU remains unacceptable. However, there
is no suggestion that the UU is in any way invalid; it simply does not include all
the detailed requirements sought by the Council.

With regard to the outstanding issues, the disputed wording is not so
unacceptable that it would mean that either the affordable housing or the open
space would not be provided. The lack of a requirement to provide a certified
copy of the transfer of the affordable housing to the Registered Provider, for
example, may make monitoring more difficult but would not prevent or even
delay the transfer. With regard to the Council’s concerns about the provision of

15

78



14.02.17

Appeal Decision APP/C1625/W/15/3133335

83.

84.

85.

86.

service systems within the Open Space, as set out in paragraph 3.6 of the UU,
I have imposed a condition requiring the Council’s approval of any such
systems within this part of the site to ensure that the integrity of the Open
Space will be maintained. Overall I am satisfied that the main objectives of the
UU will be achieved even if some of the details are not in accordance with the
Council’s preference.

Concerning the UU to the County Council (Document 57), the District Council
has stated that although many of the points that had been in dispute have
been resolved it remains unacceptable to the County Council as there is no
agreement concerning the question of bonding. The remainder of the UU,
including the education, pre-school, libraries, transport, and travel plan
contributions, as well as the residential travel plan, are all acceptable to the
County Council.

The County Council wants the financial contributions to be paid up front to
ensure that they are paid as their powers of enforcement under s106 cannot
achieve an instant receipt of monies should the developer breach the
obligation. However, the UU ensures that the contributions are phased such
that they are triggered by the occupation of various proportions of the
dwellings. This ensures that the contributions are due before the development
is completed and fully occupied.

Of greater concern is the fact that the County Council is not a signatory to the
Undertaking and so there is nothing in the UU to ensure that the contributions
are used for the purposes specified in the UU. However, I consider that it is a
reasonable expectation that a responsible public body would use the monies for
the stated purposes.

Overall I am satisfied that both the UUs are valid and meet the tests in
paragraph 204 of the Framework and accord with the provisions of the
Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations. I can
therefore take them into account in this Decision.

Conclusions

87.

I conclude that there is some conflict with the development plan albeit that the
plan pulls in different directions. The other material considerations include the
scheme providing much needed market and affordable housing; that it would
constitute sustainable development; that the Council raised no policy
objections in its reasons for refusal to the housing being sited outside the
settlement boundary; and the support for the proposals from the local
community in the form of the Town Council. I conclude that the policies that
support the proposals, taken together with the other material considerations
outlined above, carry the greater weight and outweigh the limited harm that
would arise. The other material considerations, therefore, are such that they
outweigh the provisions of the development plan and so the appeal is allowed.

Clive Hughes

Inspector

16

79



14.02.17

Appeal Decision APP/C1625/W/15/3133335

APPEARANCES
FOR THE APPELLANT:
Charles Banner Of Counsel; instructed by Bilfinger GVA
He called
Jeremy Barrell BSc Managing Director, Barrell Tree Consultancy

FArborA DipArb CBiol
FICFor FRICS

Rob Sutton BSc(Hons) Head of Heritage Consultancy, Cotswold
MCIfA Archaeology

Catherine Mitchell Technical Director, SLR Consulting
BA(Hons) MPhilLD CMLI

David Parker MSc Chairman, Pioneer Property Services Ltd
BA(Hons) DMS FCIH

Jeff Richards BA(Hons) Office Director, Turley

MTP MRTPI

Peter Stockall BSc DipTP Director, Bilfinger GVA

MRTPI

Paul Moody Persimmon Homes

FOR THE LOCAL PLANNING AUTHORITY:

Sasha Blackmore Of Counsel; instructed by Council Solicitor
She called
Mark Hemming HND(Arb) Tree Officer, Stroud DC
Christine Marsh BA(Hons)  Associate Landscape Architect, Hankinson

DipLA CMLI Duckett Associates

Kate Russell BA MSc IHBC  Conservation Officer, Stroud DC

Mark Russell BA(Hons) Planning Strategy Manager, Stroud DC
DipUP MRTPI

John Longmuir BA(Hons) Development Manager, Stroud DC
DipUD MRTPI

Mike Wallbank Solicitor, Stroud DC

INTERESTED PERSONS:

Charles Berkeley Local resident

Ralph Pinnell Local resident

Prue Vernon CPRE

Barbara Gibbons Local resident

John Stanton Local resident

Cllr Gordon Craig District Councillor

Liz Ashton Mayor of Berkeley; Chair, Berkeley Town Council
Jean Stanton Local resident

DOCUMENTS SUBMITTED DURING THE INQUIRY

Appellant’s opening statement

Local Planning Authority’s opening remarks

Plan showing positions of trees (Mark Hemming)
Street elevations (Drawing No SE.O1 Rev B)

BN

157

80



14.02.17

Appeal Decision APP/C1625/W/15/3133335

25
26

27
28

29
30

31

42

43

44
45
46
47

Rob Sutton - Summary of evidence

Rob Sutton’s cv

Statement by Charles Berkeley

Notice of Decision by Stroud District Council’s Standards Panel
Figure 5.2.1 of evidence of David Parker

Tables JRT11 and JR12 to evidence of Jeff Richards

Updated list of application documents and plans

Stroud District Council Constitution

Statement by Prue Vernon on behalf of CPRE

Statement by Barbara Gibbons

Bundle of 7 photographs submitted by Barbara Gibbons
Statement by John Stanton and 3 accompanying photographs
Statement by Clir Gordon Craig

Statement by Jean Stanton

Extract from book by Simon Jenkins

Council’s neighbour notification letter

List of persons notified by Council

Comparison between evidence of Mark Hemming and Jeremy Barrell
in respect of 11 identified trees

Plan showing positions of the 11 identified trees and photographs
Document bundle produced by Turley in advance of round table
discussion

Bleeding canker of the horse chestnut (Forest Research)

Appeal decision APP/C1625/A/11/2165671 - Land off Box Road,
Cam, Gloucs.

Photograph of trees looking towards Canonbury Street

Claim Form: Stroud DC vs SoSCLG, Crest Nicholson (South west)
Ltd and Kingswood Parish Council (C0O/1717/2016)

Stroud DC vs SoSCLG [2016] EWHC 1940 (Admin)

Examination of the Stroud District Local Plan: Inspector’s initial
conclusions on Stage 1 of the Examination (02.06.14)

Appeal decision APP/C1625/A/11/2165865 Land at Sellars farm,
Hardwicke, Gloucs.

Statement and enclosures of Liz Ashton, Berkeley Town Council
A Review of Stroud DC’s Five Year Housing Land Supply - Evans
Jones (Sept 2013)

Annual completions compared against annual requirements
Plans for 4 round table sites

Case Officer's Review: Garages, Fishers Road, Berkeley

Officer's Report: Lynch Road, Berkeley

OAHN Note

Site layout plan, Leonard Stanley, Stonehouse (516/1398/REM)
Site layout plan, Land off Chestnut Park Estate, Kingswood

Email from Brinley Owen to Mark Russell re Hunts Grove (11 August
2016)

Email from Pippa Stroud re Fountain Crescent, Wootton Under Edge
(11 August 2016)

Email from Mark Russell to Tony Clements re Hunts Grove (11
August 2016)

Stroud DC’s comments on draft UU and copy of draft UU

Local Planning Authority’s closing remarks

Forest of Dean vs SoSCLG and Gladman [2016] EWHC 421 (Admin)
Appellant’s closing submissions

13

81



14.02.17

Appeal Decision APP/C1625/W/15/3133335

48 Application for costs by appellant
49  Application for costs by Local Planning Authority

50

Emails from Jamie Cooper to Peter Stockall & PINS concerning

adoption of Local Plan (25 November 2015)

51

Email from Charles Banner to Sasha Blackmore concerning Council

scheme of delegation (12 August 2016)

52

Draft UU to Gloucestershire County Council

53 Comments by Gloucestershire CC on Draft UU

DOCUMENTS SUBMITTED AFTER THE CLOSE OF THE INQUIRY

54  Letter dated 19 August 2016 (with enclosures) from Stroud DC to
PINS concerning the submitted Unilateral Undertakings

55  Letter dated 24 August 2016 (with enclosures) from Davies and
Partners Solicitors to PINS responding to Stroud DC's comments

56 Deed of Unilateral Undertaking to Stroud District Council dated
24 August 2016

57 Deed of Unilateral Undertaking to Gloucestershire County Council
dated 24 August 2016

Annex 1 - List of Conditions (30 conditions)

1)
2)

3)

4)

5)

6)

The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than three years
from the date of this decision.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance
with the approved plans listed in Annex 2 to this Decision.

No development shall commence until samples of the materials to be
used in the construction of the external surfaces of the buildings hereby
permitted have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with
the approved samples.

Prior to the first occupation of any of the dwellings hereby permitted, full
plans and construction details including materials of all boundary walling
and fencing, in broad accordance with Drawing No PERS130306-SWBP.01
Rev E, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The development shall then be carried out in
accordance with the approved scheme.

Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, full
plans and construction details (including materials) of the proposed
pumping station shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The development shall then be carried out in
accordance with the approved plans and maintained as such thereafter.

No development of any form (other than investigative works required in
compliance with this condition) shall take place until a scheme of surface
water disposal has been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. Before these details are submitted an
assessment shall be carried out of the potential for disposing of surface
water by means of a sustainable drainage system in accordance with the

19

82



14.02.17

Appeal Decision APP/C1625/W/15/3133335

7)

8)

principles set out in the Framework and the results of the assessment
provided to the Local Planning Authority. Where a sustainable drainage
scheme is to be provided, the submitted details shall:

i. provide information about the design storm period and intensity, the
method employed to delay and control the surface water discharged from
the site and the measures taken to prevent pollution of the receiving
groundwater and/or surface waters;

ii. include a timetable for its implementation; and

iii. provide a management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the
development which shall include the arrangements for adoption by any
public authority or statutory undertaker and any other arrangements to
secure the operation of the scheme throughout its lifetime.

The approved drainage scheme shall then be implemented prior to the
first occupation of the dwelling to which it relates.

No development of any form (other than investigative works required in
compliance with this condition) shall take place until a scheme for the
drainage of foul sewerage has been submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority. The submitted scheme should be
supported by the appropriate level of required evidence of ground
conditions and modelling of the scheme to demonstrate that they are
feasible. The scheme shall then be implemented in accordance with the
approved details prior to the occupation of the phase of the development
to which it relates.

No development of any form (other than investigative works required in
compliance with this condition) shall take place until a scheme to deal
with ground contamination, controlled waters and/or ground gas has
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The scheme shall include all of the following measures, unless
the Local Planning Authority dispenses with any such requirement
specifically in writing:-

i. A Phase I site investigation carried out by a competent person to
include a desk study, site walkover, the production of a site conceptual
model and a human health and environmental risk assessment,
undertaken in accordance with BS 10175:2011 Investigation of
Potentially Contaminated Sites — Code of Practice.

ii. If identified as required by the above approved Phase 1 site
investigation report, a Phase II intrusive investigation report detailing all
investigative works and sampling on site, together with the results of the
analysis, undertaken in accordance with BS 10175:2011 Investigation of
Potentially Contaminated Sites — Code of Practice. Where required, the
report shall include a detailed quantitative human health and
environmental risk assessment including off site receptors.

iii. If identified as required by the above approved Phase II intrusive
investigation report, a remediation scheme detailing how the remediation
will be undertaken, what methods will be used and what is to be
achieved. A clear end-point of the remediation should be stated, such as
site contaminant levels or a risk management action, as well as how this
will be validated. Any ongoing monitoring should also be outlined. No

20

83



14.02.17

Appeal Decision APP/C1625/W/15/3133335

9)

10)

11)

12)

13)

deviation shall be made from this scheme without prior written approval
from the Local Planning Authority.

No part of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied until:-

1. Any previously unidentified contamination encountered during the
works has been fully assessed and an appropriate remediation scheme
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

2. A verification report detailing the remediation works undertaken and
quality assurance certificates to show that the works have been carried
out in full accordance with the approved methodology has been
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.
Details of any post-remedial sampling and analysis to show that the site
has reached the required clean-up criteria shall be included, together with
the necessary documentation detailing what waste materials have been
removed from the site.

No development of any form (other than investigative works required in
compliance with this condition) shall take place, until a comprehensive
scheme of foundation construction for all dwellings (on a plot by plot
basis) and other buildings hereby permitted has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The submitted
scheme shall include full details as to the method of foundation
construction and design including any penetrative or piling measures. The
development shall be carried out in strict accordance with the approved
details.

No development of any form (other than investigative works required in
compliance with this condition) shall take place until a Construction
Environmental Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The submitted plan shall include
comprehensive measures and timetable to safeguard all ecological
interests on the site during all stages of construction from site clearance
to final occupation. The development shall then be carried out in strict
accordance with the approved plan for the duration of all construction
related activities.

The development hereby permitted should not commence until a detailed
Landscape Ecological Management Plan has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The submitted plan
shall include full details as to how and by whom such areas are to be
managed along with the extent of such areas and their maintenance
regime. The development shall then be carried out and maintained in
accordance with the approved plan.

Prior to the first occupation of any of the dwellings hereby permitted, a
comprehensive lighting strategy, including a timetable for its
implementation, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The submitted strategy shall include full details
as to the extent, nature and location of all external lighting sources for all
areas of the development. The development shall then be carried out and
maintained in accordance with the approved strategy.

The development hereby permitted shall not commence until full
construction details and plans of the proposed wildlife pond have been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The

7 |

84



14.02.17

Appeal Decision APP/C1625/W/15/3133335

14)

15)

16)

17)

18)

submitted plan shall include full details as to the size, volume and design
of the pond along with a timetable for its implementation and details of a
maintenance regime. The development shall then be carried out and
maintained in accordance with the approved plan.

The development hereby permitted should not commence until a scheme
(limited to the proposed measures provided in Environmental Statement
Addendum October 2014 and MWA Response to Stroud DC 12 August
2014 comprising signage and if deemed necessary and feasible, a dog
waste bin) for the management of public access from the development to
the Key Wildlife Site of the Berkeley Heath Water Meadows has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
development shall then be carried out and maintained in accordance with
the approved scheme.

No development shall take place within the application site until the
applicant, or their agents or successors in title, has secured the
implementation of a programme of archaeological work in accordance
with a written scheme of investigation which has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

No development shall commence until details of both hard and soft
landscape works have been submitted to and approved in writing by the
local planning authority. These details shall include:

i) a statement setting out the design objectives and how these will be
delivered;

ii) earthworks showing existing and proposed finished levels or
contours;

iii) means of enclosure and retaining structures;
iv) boundary treatments;
v) hard surfacing materials; and

vi) an implementation programme, including phasing of work where
relevant.

The landscaping works shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details before any part of the development is first occupied in
accordance with the agreed implementation programme.

All planting comprised in the approved details of landscaping should be
carried out during the months of October to March inclusive following
occupation of the building or completion of the development, whichever is
sooner.

No development of any form (other than works required in compliance
with this condition) shall take place until a scheme of tree protection
works for the retention of all retained trees and hedges has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
submitted scheme shall be prepared in accordance with the
recommendations within BS 5837:2012 and shall include a timetable for
the implementation and maintenance of such works. The Tree Protection
Works shall then be implemented in accordance with the approved
scheme and timetable and maintained as such for the duration of all
construction related activities.

22

85



14.02.17

Appeal Decision APP/C1625/W/15/3133335

19)

20)

21)

22)

23)

24)

25)

No development of any form (other than works required in compliance
with this condition) shall take place until an Arboricultural Constraints
Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The submitted documentation shall include full details of all
works and engineering operations (includes level changes, services runs
and surfacing works) proposed within identified root protection zones
(RTZs) and related mitigation works. The development shall then be
carried out in accordance with the approved scheme.

None of the dwellings hereby permitted shall be occupied until the
carriageway(s) (including surface water drainage/disposal, vehicular
turning head(s) and street lighting) providing access from the nearest
public highway to that dwelling have been completed to at least binder
course level and the footway(s) to surface course level.

None of the dwellings hereby permitted shall be occupied until a scheme
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority for the provision of fire hydrants (served by mains water
supply). No individual dwelling shall be occupied until the hydrant
serving that property has been provided in accordance with the approved
scheme.

No housing building operations shall commence until the first 20m of the
proposed access road, including the junction with the existing public road
and associated visibility splays, has been completed to at least binder
course level in accordance with plan no P646/10D and shall be retained
as such thereafter unless and until adopted as highway maintainable at
public expense.

None of the dwellings hereby permitted shall be occupied until the site
access has been completed in all respects in accordance with plan no
P646/10D including footways and the pedestrian refuge and this access
shall be retained as such thereafter unless and until adopted as highway
maintainable at public expense.

No development shall commence until details of the proposed pedestrian
improvements identified on plan P646/27 together with enhancements
(limited to dropped kerbs and tactile paving only) to provide further
pedestrian crossing points at the junctions of The Leys and Canon Park
(across the Leys), and Fieldview and Station Road (northern and eastern
arms), have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. Unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local
Planning Authority, the approved works shall then be completed in all
respects prior to first occupation and shall be retained as such thereafter
unless and until adopted as highway maintainable at public expense.

No development shall commence until details of the works to the
proposed pedestrian links to the south (as shown on Plan P646/27 with
the further addition of cyclist dismount signage) and west of the site
(limited to end of cycleway signage) have been submitted to and agreed
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Unless otherwise agreed in
writing with the Authority, the approved works shall then be completed in
all respects prior to first occupation and shall be retained as such
thereafter unless and until adopted as highway maintainable at public
expense.

23

86



14.02.17

Appeal Decision APP/C1625/W/15/3133335

26)

27)

28)

29)

30)

Prior to commencement of the residential units hereby approved details
of bus stop enhancements (comprising shelters, timetables and raised
platforms) at the existing ‘Canon Park’ bus stops on Station Road and the
existing ‘Berkeley Castle’ bus stops on Canonbury Street shall have been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Authority, the approved
works shall then be completed in all respects prior to first occupation and
shall be retained as such thereafter unless and until adopted as highway
maintainable at public expense.

Prior to the commencement of development details of bollards or similar
traffic calming or constraining measures to be provided at the entrances
to the existing public footpath (as defined on Plan P646/27 and the
connection point onto B4066) across the site (part of Berkeley Footpath
3), together with a timetable for implementation shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
development will thereafter be completed in accordance with the agreed
details unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Authority.

The development hereby permitted shall not commence until a
Construction Method Statement has been submitted to, and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved Statement shall be
adhered to throughout the construction period. The Statement shall
include full details and plans of:

i. areas for the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;
ii. areas for the loading and unloading of plant and materials;

iii. areas for the storage of plant and materials used in constructing the
development;

iv. wheel washing facilities;

v. measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction;
and

vi. hours of site working / operation.

The development hereby approved will be carried out in strict accordance
with the recommended mitigation measures set out within the submitted
Hepworth Acoustics Noise Assessment 31529.1 v3 dated March 2014 and
verification provided prior to occupation of the dwellings to which the
mitigation relates.

The development hereby permitted shall not commence until details of
the installation and maintenance of any water, gas, electricity or
telecommunication service systems to be installed within that part of the
site to the south of Plot 131 have been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried
out in accordance with the approved details.

24

87



14.02.17

Appeal Decision APP/C1625/W/15/3133335

Annex 2 - List of Plans

FINAL SUBMITTED PLANNING DRAWINGS

IDrawing Description Doc Number Isize |Amendments
Location Plan LP.01 A3 [ v [ \
fsite Layout sL.01 o F e (VB o H |1 L
[eotoured site Layout st.01 a0 \
[Existing site Layout [esL.01 A0 \ \
fsite sections / Street Elevations fse.01 A1 \
|pdoptable Coding Layout facL.o1 A0 \
Pduieﬂuls Layout rb‘IL.(H IAD i1 Ly P F
Boundary Plan BP.01 AD \ A P [E
Affordable Housing Layout IAHP.01 A0 \ A B E |f
Landscape Management Plan LMP.01 lAD A
lHouse Type Alnwick Plans & Elevations HT.ALN.pe A3 \ \
Iﬂnuse Type Hanbury Plans & Elevations HT.HAN A3 ! !
Iﬂouse Type Souter Elevations HT.SOU.e A3 i} !
IHDuse Type Souler Plans HT.50U.p A3 v \
IHouse Type Haffield Plans & Elevations HT.HAT A3 \ \
lHuuse Type Stofford Plans & Elevations HT.STA.pe A v !
F-louse Type Rushbury Plans & Elevations HT.RUS.pe A3 X \
r-louse Type lumiey Elevalions HT.LUM.e A3 1) \
P‘lnuse Type lumley Pans HT.LUM.p A3 v !
lHouse Type Chedworth Plans & Elevafions HT.CHE.pe A3 \ \
[House Type Chedworth A Plans & Elevations HT.CHE.A.pe |A3 \ \
House Type Warwick Plans & Elevations HT.WAR.pe A \ \
House Type Tounton Plans & Elevations HT.TAU.pe A3 ! A
House Type Marylebone Plons & Elevolions HT.MAR.pe A3 \ \
Iﬂause Type Fenchurch Elevafions HT.FEN.e A3 v !
IHouse Type Fenchurch Plans HT.FEN.p A3 i !
IHuuse Type Bond Elevations HT.BON.e A3 v !
Iﬂnuse Type Bond Plans HT.BON.p A3 \ \
house Type Bond A Elevalions HT.BON.A.e A3 L \
House Type Bond A Plans HT.BON.A.p A3 X \
House Type Holbum Elevalions HT.HOL.e A3 X \
House Type Holbum Plans HT.HOL.p A3 \ !
House Type Holbum A Elevalions HT.HOL.A.e A3 \ A
r’}uuse Type Holbum A Plans HT.HOL.A.p A3 i A
Il-)euse Type 2BH Plans & Elevations HT.2BH.pe A 1 \
FDUSE Type 3BH Plans & Elevations HT.3BH.pe A3 A !
Fouse Type 4BH Plans & Elevations HT.4BH.pe A3 v \
[earages sheet 1 [cAR.01.pe A3 \ \
Jearages sheet 2 [ear.02.pe A3 \ \

arages Sheet 3 [cAR.03.pe A3 \ \

arages Sheet 4 |<;Aa_n4_pe A3 \ \

25

88



14.02.17

@ The Planning Inspectorate

Costs Decision
Inquiry opened on 2 August 2016
Site visit made on 16 August 2016

by Clive Hughes BA(Hons) MA DMS MRTPI

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government
Decision date: 21 November 2016

Costs application in relation to Appeal Ref: APP/C1625/W/15/3133335
Land rear of Canonbury Street, Berkeley, Gloucestershire

« The application is made under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, sections 78,
320 and Schedule 6, and the Local Government Act 1972, section 250(5).

« The application is made by Charles Church Developments Ltd for a partial award of
costs against Stroud District Council.

« The inquiry was in connection with an appeal against the refusal of planning permission
for the erection of 188 dwellings, provision of new access from B4066, landscaping and
associated infrastructure.

« The inquiry sat for 8 dayson 2 to 5 and 9 to 12 August 2016,

Decision
1. The application for an award of costs is refused.
The submissions for Charles Church Developments Ltd

2. The application was made in writing {Inquiry Document 48) and sought to
recover the appellant’s costs in respect of two specific matters. These relate to
(i) trees and (ii) the Council’s new argument that planning permission should
be refused for policy reasons even if the cited reasons for refusal are not
upheld. In respect of (i) the Council could have saved Inquiry time if the trees
the Council considered to be particularly relevant had been identified in
advance. Concerning (ii) the Council was, in substance, saying that there is a
policy reason for refusal, notwithstanding its absence from the Members’ stated
reasons for refusing the planning application. This situation is covered by the
6" bullet point of paragraph 16-47-20140306 of Planning Practice Guidance
(PPG).

The response by Stroud District Council

3. In response to point (i), the Council’s Statement of Case (SoC) made it clear
that the Council intended to bring evidence concerning the longevity of the
trees. There was no wasted expense. The parties’ respective witnesses carried
out a site visit together and there was little common ground; they could not
even agree on the likely life span of the trees. The SoC makes it clear that the
Council intended to give evidence in respect of the health and likely longevity
of the trees within the castle grounds.

4, Concerning (ii) this related to Policies CP2, CP3 and CP15 of the Local Plan.
The appellant was continuing to misinterpret and misunderstand the Council’s
case, despite the number of times it had been discussed during the Inquiry.
The Statement of Common Ground {SoCG) identifies that these policies would

www.planningportal .gov.uk/planninginspectorate

89



14.02.17

Costs Decisions APP/C1625/W/15/3133335

be discussed at the Inquiry. All parties knew they would be discussed. They
form part of the development plan. There were no extra costs related to
discussing them. The policies form part of the s38(6) balance.

Reasons

5:

Paragraph 16-028-20140306 of PPG advises that parties in planning appeals
normally meet their own expenses and that all parties are expected to behave
reasonably to support an efficient and timely process. Where a party has
behaved unreasonably, and this has directly caused another party to incur
unnecessary or wasted expense in the appeal process, they may be subject to
an award of costs.

With regard to the evidence concerning trees, this was clearly in support of the
council’s first reason for refusal as it relates specifically to the inter-relationship
of the castle to the park, the town and the wider landscape. If the trees were
not there, the legibility of that inter-relationship would be clearer. The Council
flagged in advance that the health and likely longevity of the trees within the
castle grounds was an issue that it would pursue at the Inquiry. That was set
out clearly in paragraph 3.12 of its SoC. While it would have been helpful if the
Council had set out in advance which trees it had particular concerns with,
given the level of disagreement between the parties, and the need for the
appellant’s witness to refer to other trees within the grounds, I do not consider
that this unreasonably extended the Inquiry or resulted in wasted expenditure
by the appellant. This is also evidenced by the fact that a joint site meeting
between the respective expert witnesses, held before the Inquiry opened, did
not resolve the issue.

Concerning Local Plan Policies CP2, CP3 and CP15 these policies form part of
the development plan and are clearly material considerations. One of the
Council's witnesses, under cross examination, implied that these policies on
their own would represent ground for dismissing the appeal. However, he also
made it clear that these policies were not cited in the reasons for refusal. I
acknowledge that the Council was in a difficult position when determining the
application the subject of this appeal in that at that time it could not
demonstrate a five-year housing land supply and it did not have an up to date
Local Plan. Circumstances changed and by the time of the appeal, however,
the Council was able to argue that it had both a five-year housing land supply
and an up to date Local Plan.

The Council repeatedly made it clear that it was not advancing a new reason
for refusal. The development plan is the starting point and these policies form
part of that and so must be a material consideration of some weight. I accept,
however, that the Council was not advancing a new reason for refusal and this
appeal has been determined on that understanding. The SoCG, at paragraph
5.4, makes it clear that all three policies would be discussed at the inquiry as
they “go to the heart of the overall Plan strategy”. The discussion of these
policies was essential to a full understanding of the Local Plan. This discussion
did not result in any wasted or unnecessary expense for the appellant.

Concerning the applications made by both parties for the recovery of their
costs in making the applications for costs, I do not consider that such an award
is appropriate for either party as neither party has demonstrated that there
was unreasonable behaviour by the other party.

www .planningportal.gov.uk/planninginspectorate 2

90



14.02.17

Costs Decisions APP/C1625/W/15/3133335

10. I therefore conclude that unreasonable behaviour, resulting in unnecessary

expense as described in PPG, has not been demonstrated and that an award of
costs is not justified.

Clive Hughes

Inspector

www .planningportal.gov.uk/planninginspectorate 3

91



14.02.17

@ The Planning Inspectorate

Costs Decision
Inquiry opened on 2 August 2016
Site visit made on 16 August 2016

by Clive Hughes BA(Hons) MA DMS MRTPI

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government
Decision date: 21 November 2016

Costs application in relation to Appeal Ref: APP/C1625/W/15/3133335
Land rear of Canonbury Street, Berkeley, Gloucestershire

« The application is made under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, sections 78,
320 and Schedule 6, and the Local Government Act 1972, section 250(5).

« The application is made by Stroud District Council for a partial award of costs against
Charles Church Developments Ltd.

« The inquiry was in connection with an appeal against the refusal of planning permission
for the erection of 188 dwellings, provision of new access from B4066, landscaping and
associated infrastructure.

« The inquiry sat for 8 dayson 2 to 5 and 9 to 12 August 2016,

Decision
1. The application for an award of costs is refused.
The submissions for Stroud District Council

2. The application for a partial award of costs was made in writing (Inquiry
Document 49). It alleges unreasonable behaviour by the appellant in respect
of 4 matters: (i) an alleged new reason for refusal based on Local Plan Policies
CP2 and CP3; (ii) the late introduction of a new issue based upon the OAHN;
(iii) changes to the Unilateral Undertaking at a late stage; and (iv) changes to
the appellant’s Statement of Case (SoC) in respect of the five-year housing
land supply. The Council also sought costs in respect of making the application
for an award of costs.

3. In reply to the appellant’s response, the Council added that Policies CP2 and
CP3 form part of the overall planning balance. In respect of the OAHN the
Council was put in a difficult position as it did not want to incur additional
expense arising from an adjournment. The joint position statement (Inquiry
Document 38) does not mean that the appellant had acted reasonably. The
Inspector had raised concerns about delivery of affordable housing at an early
stage. Concerning the appellant’s SoC the Council was faced with a moving
target. Knowing the case being put against you in advance is important.

The response by Charles Church Developments Ltd

4, The appellant responded to each part of the application in turn. In respect of
Policies CP2 and CP3 (i), these policies formed part of the Council’s case so
cross examination was reasonable and the appellant cannot understand the
Council’s concems about wasted time. The appellant had sought clarification
from the Council as to whether these policies were part of the reasons for
refusal and had sought further clarification as to whether Officers had

www.planningportal .gov.uk/planninginspectorate

92



14.02.17

Costs Decisions APP/C1625/W/15/3133335

delegated powers to add to the reasons for refusal. This clarification had been
sought by email as a formal response was required.

Concerning the OAHN (ii), this has to be seen in the light of the fact that the
appellant’s Statement of Case was submitted in August 2015, long before the
Local Plan was adopted. The appellant’s evidence on this topic relates to
events in May to July 2016 so it was not unreasonable to raise them. The SoC
predates these changes. A position statement was produced by the parties so
no Inquiry time was wasted.

The appellant changed the 5106 Agreement (iii) to accommodate the
requirements of the Council. It was an attempt to respond to the criticisms in
the Council’s evidence and was part of the normal negotiation process. In the
event the appellant chose to withdraw the s106 and submit a Unilateral
Undertaking.

With regard to the five-year housing land supply (iv) the appellant’s Statement
of case pre-dated the Local Plan Inspector’'s Report. It is not possible to freeze
this issue at any given point in time. Had the appellant set out the position in
August 2015, in the SoC, it would have been a wasted exercise as the figures
would have been so far out of date.

In response to the application for the recovery in respect of making the
application for a partial award of costs, the appellant sought recovery of the
costs involved in the appellant’s application for costs.

Reasons

9.

10.

11,

Paragraph 16-028-20140306 of Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) advises that
parties in planning appeals normally meet their own expenses and that all
parties are expected to behave reasonably to support an efficient and timely
process. Where a party has behaved unreasonably, and this has directly
caused another party to incur unnecessary or wasted expense in the appeal
process, they may be subject to an award of costs.

With regard to Policies CP2 and CP3, I have accepted the Council’s position
concerning their relevance to the determination of this appeal. Put simply,
they form part of the development plan. At one point, during a cross
examination, it appeared that the Council may have been trying to introduce
them in a third reason for refusal that had not been put forward by Members.
It was reasonable for the appellant to seek clarification and to ensure that
there was no prejudice to the appellant’s position. While the appellant’s
response may have gone further than was necessary, it would have been
helpful if the Council made its position clear at the outset. I do not consider
that either party acted unreasonably in this regard, although Inquiry time could
have been saved had the parties made their respective positions clear at the
outset.

The issue of the OAHN was flagged up in advance of the Inquiry. In the event
no Inquiry time was spent on this matter as a position statement was put
forward by the parties. Given the fact that about a year had passed between
writing the SoC and the Inquiry, during which the Local Plan Inspector had
reported and the Local Plan had been adopted, I do not consider that it was
unreasonable for the appellant to have raised the matter.

www .planningportal.gov.uk/planninginspectorate 2

93



Costs Decisions APP/C1625/W/15/3133335

12.

13.

14.

15.

The changes to the s106, and its eventual conversion to a UU, were part of the
normal negotiations that accompany any such Agreement. It was unfortunate
that the Agreement was submitted late in the day, but the changes introduced
were a direct response to the evidence of the Council. While the changes
proved unnecessary, as they were not acceptable to the Council, it was not
unreasonable for the appellant to have attempted to overcome the Council’s
concerns in this way.

The situation in respect of the five-year housing land supply is very similar to
that surrounding the OAHN. The appellant’s SoC says that the Council’s
position on whether it can demonstrate a five-year housing land supply is
unclear due to appeal decisions and the (then) emerging Local Plan. The SoC
makes it clear that the onus is on the Council to demonstrate a five-year
housing land supply, not for the appellant to demonstrate the absence of one.
As the matter was clearly flagged up in advance, and due to the evidence
subsequently produced at the Inquiry, I am satisfied that there was no
unreasonable behaviour by the appellant.

Concerning the applications made by both parties for the recovery of their
costs in making the applications for costs, I do not consider that such an award
is appropriate for either party as neither party has demonstrated that there
was unreasconable behaviour by the other party.

I therefore conclude that unreasonable behaviour, resulting in unnecessary
expense as described in PPG, has not been demonstrated and that an award of
costs is not justified.

Clive Hughes

Inspector

www .planningportal.gov.uk/planninginspectorate 3

94




Agenda Item 5b
TEWKESBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL

Report to: Planning Committee

Date of Meeting: 14 March 2017

Subject: Planning Application Reference 15/00749/0UT

Report of: Annette Roberts, Head of Development Services

Corporate Lead: Robert Weaver, Deputy Chief Executive

Lead Member: Councillor D M M Davies, Lead Member for Built
Environment

Number of Appendices: 1

Executive Summary:

Planning Application reference 15/00749/OUT was validated on 6 July 2015. An appeal has
been made against the fact that the Council did not determine the application within the
relevant statutory timescale (16 weeks). A Public Inquiry has been arranged to start in June
2017 and the Committee must advise the Secretary of State for Local Government how it
would have determined the application had the Council remained the determining authority.

Recommendation:

That the Committee determine to advise the Secretary of State for Communities and
Local Government that it would be MINDED TO REFUSE planning application reference
15/00749/0UT.

Reasons for Recommendation:

As set out in Appendix 1.

Resource Implications:

The Council will need to provide evidence to the appeal, taking Officer time and requiring the
engagement of consultants to address specific issues.

Legal Implications:

None.

Risk Management Implications:

If, through the course of the appeal, any reasons for refusal put forward by the Council would
be considered to result in unreasonable behaviour by the Council which could then result in an
adverse award of costs against it, officers will take legal advice on whether such reasons
should be pusued.

95



Performance Management Follow-up:

Officers will arrange for the Council’s case to be presented at Public Inquiry.

Environmental Implications:

As set out in Appendix 1.

1.0

1.1

2.0

2.1

2.2

3.0

3.1

4.0

4.1

5.0

5.1

6.0

6.1

7.0

7.1

INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND

Planning Application reference 15/00749/OUT was validated on 6 July 2015. An appeal
has been made against the fact that the Council did not determine the application within
the relevant statutory timescale (16 weeks). A Public Inquiry has been arranged to start
in June 2017.

The Planning Application

Planning Application reference 15/00749/OUT proposes the following:

A mixed use development comprising demolition of existing buildings, up to 1,300
dwellings and 8.31 hectares of land for employment generating uses comprising a
neighbourhood centre of 4.23ha (A1, A2, A3, A4, A5, D1, D2, B1), office park of 1.31ha
(B1) and business park of 2.77ha (B1 and B8 uses), primary school, open space,
landscaping, parking and supporting infrastructure and utilities, and the creation of new
vehicular accesses from the A40 Gloucester Northern Bypass, Innsworth Lane and
Frogfurlong Lane.

The Officer recommendation as to how the application should be determined had the
Council still been the determining authority is set out in the Officer report attached at

Appendix 1.

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

None.

CONSULTATION

Consultation has been carried out in accordance with the Development Management
Procedure Order 2015. The application has been advertised in the local press and by
way of site notices in the local area.

RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES/STRATEGIES

As set out in Appendix 1.

RELEVANT GOVERNMENT POLICIES

As set out in Appendix 1.

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (Human/Property)

The Council will need to provide evidence to the appeal, taking Officer time and requiring
the engagement of consultants to address specific issues.

96



8.0 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS (Social/Community Safety/Cultural/ Economic/
Environment)

8.1 As set out in Appendix 1.

9.0 IMPACT UPON (Value For Money/Equalities/E-Government/Human Rights/Health
And Safety)

9.1 As set out in the report.
10.0 RELATED DECISIONS AND ANY OTHER RELEVANT FACTS

10.1  As set out in Appendix 1.

Background Papers: As set out in Appendix 1.

Contact Officer: Paul Skelton, Development Manager
01684 272102 paul.skelton@tewkesbury.gov.uk

Appendices: Appendix 1 — Officer Report for application reference 15/00749/0UT

97



Appendix 1

15/00749/0UT Land North of Innsworth Lane, Innsworth

Valid 06.07.2015 A mixed use development comprising demolition of existing buildings, up
to 1,300 dwellings and 8.31 hectares of land for employment generating
uses comprising a neighbourhood centre of 4.23ha (A1, A2, A3, A4, A5,
D1, D2, B1), office park of 1.31ha (B1) and business park of 2.77ha (B1
and B8 uses), primary school, open space, landscaping, parking and
supporting infrastructure and utilities, and the creation of new vehicular
accesses from the A40 Gloucester Northern Bypass, Innsworth Lane and
Frogfurlong Lane.

Grid Ref 385508 221165

Parish Innsworth

Ward Innsworth With Down Robert Hitchins Limited

Hatherley
C/O Agent

RECOMMENDATION Minded to Refuse
Policies and Constraints

National Planning Policy Framework

Planning Practice Guidance

Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan to 2011 - March 2006 - Policies GNL2, GNL8, GNL11, GNL15, HOU4,
HOU13, GRB1, TPT1, TPT3, TPT6, TPT9, EMP2, RET4, EVT1, EVT2, EVT3, EVT5, EVT9, LND4, LND?7,
RCN1, RCN2, RCN10 and NCNS5.

Main Modifications JCS - SA1, SP1, SP2, SD1, SD4, SD5, SD7, SD10, SD11, SD13, SD15, INF1-8, SA1
and A1

Affordable Housing SPG

Flood and Water Management Supplementary Planning Document

Public Right of Way

Human Rights Act 1998 - Article 8 (Right to Respect for Private and Family Life)

The First Protocol, Article 1 (Protection of Property)

The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations - 2010

The Localism Act 2011

Green Belt

Listed Buildings - various

Public Rights of Way (PROW)

Consultations and Representations

Innsworth Parish Council - Comments as follows:

- Highways issues including the need to widen Frogfurlong Lane;

- Neighbourhood centre should include doctor's surgery, dentist's and pub serving food;
- No need for another community hall;

- Proposed sports changing facilities could include a bar and social area;

- Query whether enough secondary school places in the area;

- Wish to see provision of land for burials and allotments.

Down Hatherley Parish Council - Objects on Green Belt, prematurity and highways grounds. Also refer to
comments the Parish Council made to the JCS consultation in 2012 on the following issues:

- The character of Down Hatherley;

- Retention of Green Belt;

- The need to avoid further flooding;

- Roads and traffic;

- Impacts of the airport on new housing;

- Traveller sites.

Churchdown Parish Council - Objects on the following grounds:
- Loss of Green Belt;

- Traffic impacts;

- Impacts on the Innsworth Meadows SSSI;

- Flood risk;

98



- Urban Design (support the Urban Design Officer comments);

- Location of employment land;

- Lack of clarity on neighbourhood centre proposals;

- No reference to secondary school provision;

- Impacts of the airport;

- Note should be taken of the Churchdown and Innsworth Neighbourhood Plan.

Landscape Consultant - Objects on the following grounds:

- There is no clear Green Infrastructure (Gl) Strategy which should be at the heart of the masterplan;

- The ES does not address potential cumulative impacts;

- The LVIA does not address the cumulative impacts (with Twigworth);

- There would be a substantial loss of open countryside and perception of openness particularly when
taking into account the cumulative impacts.

Urban Design Officer - Objects:

- The DAS appears to be fairly generic;

- The masterplan has a lack of a clear and understandable movement network resulting in poor
connectivity between different land uses;

- The high street is not an appropriate location for purely employment uses;

- The Gl is poorly considered and badly connected;

- The parameters plans are confusing and do not give a clear understanding of the character of the
proposed place;

- Overall the broad location of land uses is considered acceptable, however the movement network
and green infrastructure need to be totally reconsidered.

Environmental Health Officer

Air Quality

- The proposed A40 junction requires further investigation based on the final design before planning
permission is granted;

- Otherwise, generally agree with the conclusions of the Environmental Statement;

- Conditions required to secure low emission boilers and electric vehicle charging points.

Lighting - No objection subject to conditions.

Noise/Odour - No objection subject to conditions for a Construction Environmental Management Plan; noise

mitigation for dwellings; extraction systems for any catering uses.

Contaminated land - No objection subject to conditions.

Strategic Housing Enabling Officer - Objects to 30% affordable housing. The evidence base supporting
the emerging JCS suggests 35% affordable housing should be provided on qualifying sites.

Conservation Officer - No Objection.

Community and Economic Development Manager - Provides advice on requirements for on-site open
space. Requests contributions towards community/sports facilities.

Lead Local Flood Authority - No objection subject to conditions.

Highways England - Recommend non-approval of the application due to insufficient information to assess
the impact of the proposed development on the strategic road network.

County Highways Officer - Object on the basis that it has not been demonstrated that the proposed
development has taken up the opportunities for sustainable transport modes to reduce the need for major
transport infrastructure; that safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all people; and that
improvements can be undertaken within the transport network that cost effectively limit the significant
impacts of the development.

County S$106 Officer - Requests contributions towards pre-school, primary and secondary education and
libraries.

County Archaeologist - No objection subject to condition.

Environment Agency - No objection subject to conditions relating to levels, flood compensation and
ecological betterment/mitigation. Further information requested on climate change allowance.

99



Natural England - Object due to lack of information/assessment of the Innsworth Meadows SSSI, including
impacts on hydrology.

Gloucestershire Wildlife Trust - Object on grounds of lack of evidence that Innsworth Meadow will be
adequately protected and enhanced. The application doesn't go far enough towards the aspirations of the
NPPF guidance in paras 9 and 109. There is need for further work on drainage, Gl (and indeed whole layout)
and habitat enhancement, especially with reference to the SSSI. We would wish to see a site-wide Gl
strategy produced at Stage Phase One into which later phases are fitted.

Tree Warden - Crucial that wildlife corridors and habitats are retained and enhanced sensitively. Traditional
and relic orchards and veteran perry pear trees should be retained.

Historic England - request appropriate assessment of the setting of Grade I1* heritage assets in the area.
Severn Trent Water - No objection subject to condition.

Public Health England - Some concerns regarding air quality reflecting the Environmental Health Officer
comments. Agree land contamination requires further assessment and that a condition is required for a
scheme of mitigation/control.

Gloucester City Council - Supports the principle of development subject to the following:
- Retail provision should not be for comparison goods;

- Gypsy and traveller provision should be properly addressed;

- Employment land provision should be increased to reflect the JCS;

- Opportunities to enhance ecological connectivity should be explored;

- Requisite facilities should be secured through section 106 obligations.

29 letters of objection have been received including one from the Gloucester City Councillors representing
neighbouring wards. The reasons for objecting to the application are summarised as follows:

- The site is in the Green Belt and should be protected,;

- There would be a negative impact on the character of the area which would become a suburb of
Gloucester,;

- There is a serious lack of infrastructure in the area to cope with a development of this scale;

- Flood risk would be increased; the water table in the area is high and the fields already flood multiple
times per year. The drainage system can't cope;

- The local highway network can't cope with the extra traffic; the Longford roundabout is already a
bottleneck;

- Proximity to the airport and Imjin barracks is a concern;

- Brownfield sites should be used in preference to Green Belt;

- All Green Belt is precious and should be retained,;

- Impact on wildlife;

- Traffic in Churchdown would be chaos in the rush hour. There are already serious problems at the
Hare and Hounds roundabout;

- The proposal would result in a huge strain on local infrastructure and an increase in anti-social
behaviour,

- There is insufficient infrastructure in the area;

- There has been no change since the previous refusal;

- No regard has been given to the need for secondary school provision;

- There is no work for people already living in the area;

- The local community doesn't want the development;

- Premature to the JCS;

- Question the need for new housing;

- There should be a safe path from the new housing to the Technology Park;

- Insufficient pedestrian crossings from the existing to new development;

- The layout appears cramped;

- An urban extension here is inevitable; it should be of high quality and be joined up to ensure good
connections between existing and proposed development;

- The proposals fail to take up all opportunities for ensuring good development;

- There should be an access road from Tewkesbury Road to Innsworth Lane with a spur onto the
bypass;

- The neighbourhood centre should better relate to existing housing;

- There should be a substantial new public park;

100



- The current scheme does not offer adequate community benefit to offset the loss of Green Bel;

- There needs to be sufficient education and medical provision;

- A link to the A40 is required before a significant number of dwellings are occupied;

- Increased traffic would compromise the safety of all road users including cyclists and pedestrians;
- Already too many schools in the area which add to traffic problems;

- Down Hatherley will become a rat-run.

Planning Officers Comments: Mr Paul Skelton
1.0 The site and its location

1.1 The application site comprises approximately 105.6 hectares of largely agricultural land to the east of the
A38 at Twigworth. The site includes buildings associated with Drymeadow Farm in the western part of the
site. The site is bound to the north by the Hatherley Brook with open countryside beyond. To the west and
south west are agricultural fields with the ongoing Longford development adjoining the built up area of
Longford. The southern site boundary abuts the existing residential development of Innsworth and the
Innsworth Technology Park. To the west is Imjin barracks. The site also includes the Innsworth Meadows
Site of Special Scientific Interest and stretches of Innsworth Lane, Frogfurlong Lane and the A40. A number
of public footpaths cross the site (see attached location plan).

2.0 Planning History

2.1 A non-determination appeal for a mixed use urban extension comprising of 1750 dwellings, 12,900
square metres of light industrial units, etc was dismissed following a public inquiry on 30th June 2010. The
appeal had been recovered by the Secretary of State (SoS) who, in dismissing the appeal disagreed with the
Inspector as to the weight to be given to the then emerging RSS which had proposed an urban extension in
this location. This is because the new Government at the time had signalled its intention to abolish regional
planning. The SoS agreed with the Inspector that the proposal amounted to inappropriate development in the
Green Belt which would harm its openness.

2.2 The site was included as part of a previous draft allocation in the emerging Joint Core Strategy (JCS) for
Innsworth and Twigworth (Draft for Consultation - October 2013). However the Twigworth part of the
allocation was removed and did not appear in the Submission Version of the JCS (November 2014). The
Innsworth site remained however.

2.3 Following the JCS examination sessions in 2016, the JCS Inspector published her interim findings and
recommended that the Twigworth site be included in the JCS for at least 750 dwellings. She further stated
that "The allocation could be increased if the JCS team demonstrate that more housing in this location is
appropriate and deliverability is addressed".

2.4 Land to the North of the Hatherley Brook is shown to be in the applicants ownership and is subject of an
appeal against refusal of up to 725 dwellings (application reference: 15/01149/0OUT). Permission was
refused in January 2016, at a time when the site was not included in the emerging JCS, on Green Belt,
landscape, social cohesion, design and transport grounds, as well as reasons relating to the lack of a signed
s106 planning obligations to secure the necessary affordable housing and infrastructure.

3.0 The Proposals

3.1 The application is made in outline with all matters reserved for future consideration. The proposals are for
a mixed use development comprising demolition of existing buildings, up to 1,300 dwellings and 8.31
hectares of land for employment generating uses comprising a neighbourhood centre of 4.23ha (A1, A2, A3,
A4, A5, D1, D2, B1), office park of 1.31ha (B1) and business park of 2.77ha (B1 and B8 uses), primary
school, open space, landscaping, parking and supporting infrastructure and utilities, and the creation of new
vehicular accesses from the A40 Gloucester Northern Bypass, Innsworth Lane and Frogfurlong Lane.

3.2 The application is supported by an illustrative masterplan which indicates how the quantum of
development could be delivered. The application is also supported by various parameters plans; a Planning
Statement; Design and Access Statement; Statement of Community Involvement; Sustainability Statement;
Waste Management Statement; Retail Statement; Transport Assessment and Travel Plan; Utilities
Statement; and a Flood Risk Assessment.

101



3.3 The application is also accompanied by an Environmental Statement required as the proposed
development constitutes EIA (Environmental Impact Assessment) development in accordance with the Town
and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment)(England and Wales) Regulations 2011. The
Environmental Statement which assesses a range of social, environmental and economic issues.

4.0 The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations

4.1 The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations allow local authorities to raise funds from
developers undertaking new building projects in their area. Whilst Tewkesbury Borough Council has not yet
developed a levy the regulations stipulate that, where planning applications are capable of being charged the
levy, they must comply with the tests set out in the CIL regulations. These tests are as follows:

(a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms
(b) directly related to the development; and
(c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.

4.2 As a result of these regulations, Local Authorities and applicants need to ensure that planning obligations
are genuinely 'necessary' and 'directly' related to the development'. As such, the Regulations restrict Local
Authorities ability to use Section 106 Agreements to fund generic infrastructure projects, unless the above
tests are met. Where planning obligations do not meet the above tests, it is 'unlawful' for those obligations to
be taken into account when determining an application. The need for planning obligations is set out in
relevant sections of the report.

4.3 The CIL regulations also provide that as from 6 April 2015, no more contributions may be collected in
respect of an infrastructure project or a type of infrastructure through a section 106 agreement, if five or more
obligations for that project or type of infrastructure have already been entered into since 6 April 2010, and it
is a type of infrastructure that is capable of being funded by the levy.

5.0 Principle of Development

5.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that proposals be determined
in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Section 70 (2) of
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the local planning authority shall have regard to the
provisions of the development plan, so far as material to the application, and to any other material
considerations. The key consideration in assessing the principle of development therefore are the existing
and emerging development plans for the area and Government policy in respect of new housing
development.

Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan to 2011 - March 2006

5.2 The development plan comprises the saved polices of the Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan to 2011 -
March 2006 (the 'Local Plan'). The application site lies outside any recognised settlement boundary as
defined by the Local Plan. Consequently, the application is subject to policy HOU4 which states that new
residential development will only be permitted where such dwellings are essential to the efficient operation of
agriculture or forestry or the provision of affordable housing. The Council can currently demonstrate a five-
year supply of deliverable housing sites and as such policy HOU4 should be given considerable weight.

5.3 Local Plan Policy GRB1 (Green Belts) considers the construction of new buildings to be inappropriate
within the Green Belt, unless it involves, inter alia, development necessary for the efficient use of agriculture
or forestry; essential facilities for outdoor sport and recreation; for cemeteries and other uses of land which
preserve the openness of the Green Belt, and which do not conflict with the purposes of including land within
it. New housing and commercial developments are not listed as those which are acceptable in the Green Belt
and therefore the current proposals must be considered to constitute inappropriate development in the

Green Belt. As this advice is repeated in the NPPF, this policy is considered to be up-to-date and carries full
weight in the determination of this application, however it should be noted that the NPPF allows for
inappropriate development where there are very special circumstances which clearly outweigh Green Belt
harm.

Emerging Development Plan

5.4 The emerging development plan will comprise the Joint Core Strategy (JCS), Tewkesbury Borough Plan
and any adopted neighbourhood plans. These are all currently at varying stages of development.

102



5.5 Paragraph 216 of the NPPF sets out that decision-takers may give weight to relevant policies in

emerging plans according to:

- the stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced the preparation, the greater the
weight that may be given);

- the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies (the less significant the
unresolved objections, the greater the weight that may be given); and

- the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the NPPF
(the closer the policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the NPPF, the greater the weight that
may be given.

5.6 The JCS Proposed Main Modifications Version February 2017 (MMJCS) is the latest version of the
document and sets out the preferred strategy over the period of 2011-2031. This document, inter alia, sets
out the preferred strategy to help meet the identified level of need. Policy SP2 of the MMJCS sets out the
overall level of development and approach to its distribution.

5.7 The MMJCS strategy seeks to concentrate new development in and around the existing urban areas of
Cheltenham and Gloucester to meet their needs, to balance employment and housing needs, and provide
new development close to where it is needed and where it can benefit from the existing and enhanced
sustainable transport network. Development is also directed to Tewkesbury town in accordance with its role
as a market town and to rural service centres and service villages.

5.8 On 20 November 2014 the JCS was submitted for examination. The Inspector published her Interim
Findings in May 2016 and the JCS authorities have now approved Main Modifications to the plan for
consultation. Consultation will take place in February/March 2017 and further examination hearings are
expected to take place in the summer.

5.9 The JCS has therefore reached a further advanced stage, but it is not yet formally part of the
development plan for the area and the weight that can be attached to each of its policies will be subject to
the criteria set out above, including the extent to which there are unresolved objections. In respect of the
distribution of housing (Policy SP2) there are significant objections to this policy. Further comments on the
weight to be attributed to any policies in the JCS relevant to this application are discussed in the appropriate
sections of this report.

5.10 The MMJCS identifies a strategic allocation of 2,295 dwellings at Innsworth and Twigworth to meet the
needs of Gloucester. Each strategic allocation has been given a site specific policy to covered detailed
issues to be considered in bringing forward development. These delivery issues are based ON the JCS
evidence base and is what is considered necessary to enable sustainable development. Policy A1 of the
MMJCS specifically relates to the Innsworth and Twigworth strategic allocation and reads as follows:

The Strategic Allocation identified at Innsworth & Twigworth (as shown on Proposals Map Plan A1
and A1a) will be expected to deliver:

i Approximately 2,295 new homes.
ii. Approximately 9 hectares of employment generating land.

iiii. A local centre including the provision of an appropriate scale of retail, healthcare and
community facilities to meet the needs of the new community.

iv. New primary and secondary education schools and facilities.

V. A green infrastructure network of approximately 100 hectares, corresponding with flood
zones 2 and 3.

vi. Protection to key biodiversity assets, including a new nature reserve with the green
infrastructure area to support the restoration of the SSSI and improve the ecology of the area.

Vii. Adequate flood risk management across the site and ensure that all vulnerable development

is located wholly within flood zone 1. This includes measures to reduce flood risk
downstream through increasing storage capacity.

103



viii. Flood risk management will be a critical part of master planning the site in linking the
Innsworth and Twigworth areas, avoiding overland flow routes and addressing surface water
flooding. Detailed flood risk assessments must utilise the latest flood risk modelling
information for the whole site and any other areas impacted by the development in terms of
flood risk.

ix. A layout and form of development that respects the landscape character as well as the
character and setting of heritage assets and the historic landscape.

X. A layout and form that integrates, where appropriate, important hedgerows within the
development.

Xi. A layout and form that reduces the impact of electricity pylons and high voltage lines; with
the siting of residential development being a particular consideration.

Xii. Primary vehicle accesses from A38, Innsworth Lane and explore the potential for a new main
junction onto the A40 to the south of the site.

xiii. The potential for a highway link through both the Innsworth and Twigworth sites linking the
A38 and A40.
Xiv. Measures necessary to mitigate the traffic impact of the site, including the use of travel plans

to encourage the use of more sustainable transport modes.
XV. High quality public transport facilities and connections within and adjacent to the site.

XVi. Safe, easy and convenient pedestrian and cycle links within the site and to key centres,
providing segregated links where practical.

5.11 Whilst Policy A1 has only recently been included in the Main Modifications to the Submission JCS
following the Inspector's interim findings, the Innsworth element of the allocation has been included in all
draft versions of the JCS to date and has been found to be sound by the Inspector. The Twigworth element
was included in the October 2013 draft of the JCS but removed from the Submission version (November
2014). However in her Interim Findings the Inspector commented that land at Twigworth was an obvious
choice for a housing-led allocation and that the land had been assessed as making a limited contribution to
the Green Belt. The Inspector went on to say that "However, large parts of the site are outside the flood
hazard zones and the flood risk appears to be no worse than for Innsworth. Furthermore, the promoters of
the 750 dwelling site only intend to build housing in Flood Zone 1. With respect to integration, a master plan
has been produced for the 750 dwelling development, which appears to satisfactorily integrate this
Twigworth site with Innsworth via green infrastructure.

5.12 In addition, the extensive evidence base to the emerging JCS is also material to the consideration of
this application. Many reviews and assessments have been carried out around various topics. These
documents are part of a much larger emerging evidence base and should not be viewed independently. The
evidence relating to this particular site will be discussed within the appropriate sections of this report.

5.13 The Tewkesbury Borough Plan is at an early stage of preparation. Initial consultation took place in 2015
and a Pre-submission consultation is expected to take place in late summer/autumn 2017. Given its stage of
preparation very limited weight can be given to the emerging Borough Plan.

5.14 Work is ongoing on developing a neighbourhood Development Plan (NDP) for Churchdown and
Innsworth. A draft plan is being prepared for consultation and as such the NDP is at an early stage of
preparation. At this stage no weight can be given to the emerging NDP.

National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance

5.15 The NPPF aims to promote sustainable growth and requires applications to be considered in the
context of sustainable development and sets out that there are three dimensions to sustainable
development: economic, social and environmental.

- the economic role should contribute to building a strong, responsive and competitive economy;
- the social role should support strong, vibrant and healthy communities; and

- the environmental role should protect and enhance the natural, built and historic environment.
These roles should not be undertaken in isolation, because they are mutually dependant.

104



5.16 Paragraph 12 of the NPPF clarifies that it does not change the statutory status of the development plan
as the starting point for decision-making. Proposed development that accords with the development plan
should be approved, and proposed development that conflicts should be refused unless other material
circumstances indicate otherwise.

Paragraph 14 of the NPPF sets out a presumption in favour of sustainable development, which for decision
taking means:

. approving development proposals that accord with the development plan without delay; and
. where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant polices are out-of-date, granting permission
unless:

- any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when
assessed against the polices in the Framework taken as a whole; or
- where specific policies in the Framework indicate development should be restricted.

5.17 Footnote 9 to paragraph 14 gives examples of where policies in the Framework indicate that
development should be restricted and includes land designated as Green Belt, which applies to the
application site in this case.

5.18 In terms of economic growth, one of the 'core principles' of the NPPF is to proactively drive forward and
support sustainable economic development to deliver the homes, business and industrial units, infrastructure
and thriving local places that the country needs. Paragraph 19 of the NPPF states that the Government is
committed to ensuring that the planning system does everything it can to support sustainable economic
growth and that planning should operate to encourage and not act as an impediment to sustainable growth.

5.19 In terms of housing delivery, the NPPF sets out that local authorities should use their evidence base to
ensure that their Local Plan meets the full, objectively assessed needs for market and affordable housing,
including identifying key sites which are critical to the delivery of the housing strategy over the plan period.
Paragraph 49 states that relevant policies for the supply of housing should not be considered up-to-date if
the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable housing sites.

5.20 The NPPF attaches great importance to Green Belts. The fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to
prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open; the essential characteristics of Green Belts are
their openness and their permanence. The Government are also clear that unmet need is unlikely to
outweigh harm to the Green Belt and other harm to constitute the 'very special circumstances' justifying
inappropriate development in the green belt. A full analysis of Green Belt issues is contained in section 6
below.

5.21 Other specific relevant policies within the NPPF are set out in the appropriate sections of this report.

Conclusions on the principle of residential development

5.22 The Council can demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable housing sites and as such the
presumption in favour of sustainable development is not engaged. The proposed development conflicts with
Policy HOU4 of the Local Plan and also represents inappropriate development in the Green Belt in conflict
with TBLP policy GRB1. As such the presumption is against the grant of planning permission unless other
material planning circumstances indicate otherwise, including whether there are very special circumstances
which clearly outweigh the harm to the Green Belt. Consideration must also be given the consistency of the
proposal with the emerging policy A1 of the MMJCS as outlined above.

6.0 Green Belt

6.1 As set out above, the proposal constitutes inappropriate development in the Green Belt and thus conflicts
with saved Local Plan policy GRB1. The NPPF provides that, as with previous Green Belt policy,
inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in
very special circumstances. When considering any planning application, local authorities should ensure that
substantial weight is given to any harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness. Very special
circumstances will not exist unless the potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and
any other harm, is clearly outweighed by other considerations. This is reflected in policy SD6 of the MMJCS.

6.2 The appellants Planning Statement (PS) recognises that the proposal represents inappropriate

development in the Green Belt and that very special circumstances which clearly outweigh the harm would
be required to justify permission. The PS states that "...the site has been recognised in the [AMEC] Green

105



Belt Review as making a limited contribution to checking unrestricted sprawl; to preventing the merger of
fowns; to safeguarding the countryside; and to preserving the setting of Gloucester, and as a result it clearly
makes a limited contribution to the Green Belt currently and is proposed to be removed. As set out above,
this conclusion was also reached by the JCS Inspector in her Interim Findings (see paragraph 5.11 above).

6.3 Nevertheless, the proposed development is inappropriate development in the Green Belt and thus very
special circumstances which clearly outweigh the harm by inappropriateness must be shown to justify
development.

6.4 As well as the harm by reason of inappropriateness the harm to openness and the purposes of including
land as Green Belt must also be considered, along with any other harms. The site currently comprises flat,
open fields. The impact on views is considered in greater detail in section 7 (Landscape) below, however,
post development, there would be up to 1300 houses plus associated employment and infrastructure
development which would clearly have a harmful effect on the openness of the site from views within and
from outside the site. This would conflict with the fundamental aim of keeping Green Belt land open, and with
the key Green Belt purpose of safeguarding the countryside from encroachment.

Appellants' Very Special Circumstances Case

6.5 The Appellant has put forward an argument to say that there are considerations which amount to very
special circumstances in this case. Firstly it is suggested that the proposal represents sustainable
development providing economic, environmental and social benefits in a location supported by the JCS
authorities. Further, the Applicants argue that it is recognised that releases from the currently designated
Green Belt boundary are required to meet the current developmental needs of the area. The definitional
harm to the Green Belt arising from the Proposed Development must therefore be significantly reduced in
their view.

6.6 Furthermore the Appellant considers that the Green Belt at the application site has been identified as
making a limited contribution to Green Belt purposes. As a consequence it has previously been proposed to
be removed from the Green Belt in the JCS Draft for Consultation. The weight to be afforded to the harm to
the Green Belt is therefore also significantly reduced. Finally the applicants consider that the Proposed
Development would contribute to the objectively assessed needs for housing and employment and is
consistent with the emerging development plan. The appellant considers that these benefits are
considerable.

6.7 The Appellant concludes in respect of Green Belt issues that as, in their view, there exist very special
circumstances that justify the release of the site from the Green Belt, footnote 9 of the NPPF does not apply
and paragraph 14 is engaged. Officers however do not agree with this approach.

Analysis of the applicants' Very Special Circumstances case

6.8 It is clear that the site has long been identified as suitable for an urban extension. The site was first
included within an 'Area of Search' for 2,000 houses in the draft RSS in 2006; this was increased to 2,500
houses it the Proposed Changes RSS, as recommended by the EiP panel. Since the abolition of regional
planning, the site has been identified as a potential urban extension location in all draft versions of the JCS
to-date. In determining the Perrybrook application in 2015, the Secretary of State commented in relation to
that site (also a Strategic Allocation in the JCS, and before that in the Proposed Changes version of the
RSS) as follows:

"Bearing in mind that the JCS has been prepared so as to be broadly consistent with current national policy,
the Secretary of State agrees with the Inspector that considerable weight should be attached to the broad
approach of the JCS and, as a consequence, the contribution which the application site is expected to make
to the strategic planning of the area”.

Those comments were made at a time when the JCS Inspector's Preliminary Findings had been published
and before the publication of the Interim Findings and the MMJCS for consultation.

6.9 Considerable weight must also be given to the social and economic benefits related to the provision of
1,300 new dwellings and over 11 hectares of employment generating uses, as well as the associated
infrastructure. It is also noted that the ES sets out that the residential development proposed would result in
£133m of capital investment (based on a figure of £1,020/sq.m), with the employment and infrastructure
additional to this. In addition it is expected that the residential development would result in between 160 and
260 additional jobs during construction; other elements of the proposals would increase this. These jobs, in
addition to the new residents, would also help support the local service economy.

106



6.10 Against these benefits are the clear harms to the openness of the Green Belt and the open countryside
arising from the replacement of undeveloped land with the proposals put forward. Whether other harms exist
will be explored in the proceeding sections of this report.

6.11 It is clear that the harm to the Green Belt must be given substantial weight. Nevertheless, there would
be substantial benefits arising from the proposal in respect of a significant contribution to housing
requirements, along with the associated economic and social benefits. Whilst these benefits are
considerable, it is not considered that they would, on their own, represent the very special circumstances
which clearly outweigh the Green Belt and other harm. However, the proposal is also in broad accordance
with the JCS strategy for the delivery of a strategic allocation to the North of Gloucester. This in itself should
be given considerable weight. This weight however must be assessed in light of the consistency of the
proposals with the emerging Policy A1 of the MMJCS which indicates how the Strategic Allocation, which
also includes land at Twigworth, should be brought forward. These matters will be considered in detail in the
relevant sections below.

Conclusion on Green Belt Matters

6.12 Overall, it is considered that the circumstances set out above are capable of amounting to the very
special circumstances required to clearly outweigh the identified harm to the Green Belt, and other harms.
The overall conclusion on this matter is dependant however on a full assessment of the application
proposals.

7.0 Landscape and Visual Impact

7.1 One of the core planning principles of the NPPF sets out that the planning system should recognise the
intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside. Section 11 of the NPPF sets out that the planning system
should contribute to and enhance the local environment by, amongst other things, protecting and enhancing
valued landscapes. Local Plan Policy LND4 provides that in rural areas regard will be given to the need to
protect the character and appearance of the rural landscape and Policy SD7 in the MMJCS states that
development will seek to protect landscape character for its own intrinsic beauty and for its benefit to
economic, environmental and social well-being. Policy A1 of the MMJCS requires the strategic allocation to
deliver "A layout and form of development that respects the landscape character as well as the character
and setting of heritage assets and the historic landscape; and "A layout and form that integrates, where
appropriate, important hedgerows within the development.

7.2 The site does not fall under any statutory or non-statutory landscape designation. The site lies within the
Settled Unwooded Vale within the Vale of Gloucester. This is a flat to gently undulating landscape with
medium to large-scale field pattern dissected by streams and watercourses. Whilst predominantly rural and
agricultural, there are clear influences from the edge of Gloucester including, power lines and road
infrastructure, the sewerage treatment works, Imjin Barracks and residential properties fronting on to
Innsworth Lane as well as commercial development off Drymeadow Lane.

7.3 The topography of the area lends itself to wide and expansive views albeit coalescing hedgerows and
trees within field boundaries tend to screen and filter low-level views. The level of screening and filtering
varies with hedge management. Many hedges have been trimmed through the autumn and early winter
allowing some very expansive views across the site from the surrounding road network. The development
site is typical of the local landscape character. It abuts Gloucester, which exerts a strong local influence.
However that influence diminishes rapidly to the north and the site retains a strong rural character typical of
open countryside within the Vale. This is particularly true of the Hatherley Brook corridor, which also supports
the Gloucestershire Way long distance route that connects with the River Severn to the west.

7.4 A 'Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment' (LVIA) has been undertaken to inform the environmental
statement. The LVIA concludes that the proposals retain the majority of existing field boundary hedgerows
and trees, which would be reinforced with additional planting to limit the effects of the proposed development
on local and wider landscape character. The LVIA this concludes that the effect on landscape character
would not be significant. The LVIA also advises that the limited loss of trees and hedgerows proposed would
be mitigated by new planting within open spaces. The proposed conversion of arable farmland to natural and
semi-natural open spaces, new areas of tree and shrub planting both in open spaces and 'on-plot', and the
creation of new water features in the form of SUDS retention basins would result in a net beneficial impact on
landscape features and elements.

107



7.5 The LVIA further explains that the existing internal and peripheral boundary vegetation, together with
field hedgerows and tree planting in the surrounding landscape, mean that the site has limited inter-visibility
beyond 500-1000m from its boundary. Views from the south and west are further restricted by the existing
built development of Innsworth and Imjin Barracks. Apart from views from PRoWs within or very close to the
site, and views from existing residential properties on the northern edge of Innsworth, the LVIA considers
that the proposed development would not result in any unacceptable visual effects, and those effects would
be reduced in significance over time as new and existing vegetation grows and matures. Overall the LVIA
concludes that the proposed development is considered to be appropriate to the setting and landscape
character of the site and offers suitable landscape mitigation measures in terms of visual amenity.

7.6 The proposals would clearly result in significant harm by the very nature of the proposed development.
This broad principle of developing this site as an urban extension to Gloucester has of course been subject
to the scrutiny of the EiP of the JCS and the Inspector has found the principle of the allocation sound. The
MMJCS does however allocate the site in combination with proposed development at Twigworth.

7.7 The Council's Landscape Consultant (LC) has assessed the submitted material. The LC raises concerns
that the submitted Green Infrastructure (Gl) Parameters Plan fails to communicate a clear strategy for the
integration of circulation (including wider linkages), biodiversity, water and amenity space. There are no clear
non-vehicular routes indicated within or beyond the site boundary (for example, to the Gloucestershire Way
along the Hatherley Brook), nor do the proposed open spaces within the masterplan seem to form a logical
network of linked multi-functional spaces or green corridors. The LC is concerned that the Gl Parameters
Plan appears to be a reactive drawing rather than a strategic tool informing the evolution of an effective
masterplan.

7.8 The LC is similarly concerned about the ES which does not address the potential cumulative effects of
the proposed site at Twigworth which will be heard at the same Public Inquiry. The LC points out that both
the EIA regulations and the Landscape Institute Guidelines for Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment
both require that cumulative and in combination effects are considered. Given the proximity of the two
proposals (which in terms of the MMJCS represent a single urban extension), this is considered to represent
a serious omission.

7.9 In general terms, and notwithstanding the above comments, the LC considers that the proposals could
be seen as a logical urban extension of Gloucester. It would not be disproportionate in scale or "awkward" in
its form when compared to the larger settliement. The masterplan does show some restraint to the north and
suggests a fragmented settlement edge that makes use of the existing field pattern and field boundaries.
This approach provides an effective buffer between it and the Hatherley Brook and the Gloucestershire Way
to the north.

7.10 As indicated in paragraph 7.4 above, development of this scale would inevitably result in some
landscape harm. Whilst there is a strong urban influence to the south of the site, that influence diminishes
rapidly towards Hatherley Brook away from the existing settlement edge and a development of this scale
would inevitably result in the loss of a substantial area of open countryside. This is a flat landscape and
whilst hedgerows and field boundary trees do coalesce to filter low-level views, it would cause a substantial
loss of the perception of openness, in particular from Frogfurlong Lane, Innsworth Lane, footpaths crossing
the site itself, and from the Gloucestershire Way. This loss of the perception of openness would represent
harm to a key characteristic of the open, flat vale landscape in this area.

7.11 The LCs comments on cumulative effects were produced before the publication of the MMJCS which
reintroduces development at Twigworth as part of policy A1. Nevertheless the LC is concerned that the
cumulative effects of the two parts of the strategic allocation have not been assessed as part of the LVIA or
ES. In his view the two schemes together would deliver a swathe of settlement effectively linking Twigworth
to Gloucester and would encroach significantly upon the Hatherley Brook and the Gloucestershire Way.
There would be a significant loss of open countryside and loss of openness within the rural vale landscape.
The effects would be particularly adverse along the Gloucestershire Way from which both schemes would be
clearly visible in both consecutive views along the route and in concurrent views where the schemes would
face each other across the Brook leaving only a relatively narrow strip of open space between them. Whilst
the principle of development may be acceptable for both sites, they should be considered in combination to
ensure an appropriate landscape led design response to the strategic allocation as a whole.

7.12 Overall it is considered that the proposed development would represent a significant encroachment into
the countryside. This harm is of course tempered by the fact that the site is allocated for development in the
emerging MMJCS. Nevertheless, the proposal has not been properly assessed in combination with the site
at Twigworth and furthermore the Green Infrastructure proposals are immature and do not produce a clear

108



strategy for how Gl will contribute to the resulting development. This is particularly important given the
relationship with the other part of the emerging strategic allocation at Twigworth. This is a matter which
weighs against the proposal in the overall planning balance.

8.0 Design and Layout

8.1 The NPPF sets out that the Government attaches great importance to the design of the built environment
(paragraph 56). Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, is indivisible from good planning,
and should contribute positively to making places better for people. At paragraph 57 the NPPF advises that
the planning system can play an important role in facilitating social interaction and creating healthy, inclusive
communities.

8.2 Similarly Policy SD5 of the MMJCS seeks to encourage good design and is consistent with the NPPF
and so should be accorded considerable weight. Policy SA1 of the MMJCS requires development proposals
to enable a comprehensive scheme to be delivered across the developable area within each Strategic
Allocation, and to be accompanied by a comprehensive masterplan for the entire Strategic Allocation. The
masterplan should demonstrate how new development will integrate with and complement its surroundings in
an appropriate manner. Policy A1 requires to the strategic allocation to deliver, inter alia, a layout and form of
development that respects the landscape character as well as the character and setting of heritage assets
and the historic landscape; a layout and form that integrates, where appropriate, important hedgerows within
the development; and a layout and form that reduces the impact of electricity pylons and high voltage lines;
with the siting of residential development being a particular consideration.

8.3 All matters relating to design and layout are reserved for future consideration. However, the application
has been supported with an indicative layout and parameter plans which illustrate how the site could be
developed, and a Design and Access Statement (DAS). The Indicative Masterplan (a copy will be
displayed at Committee) shows the disposition of land uses and the proposed structure for movement
within the development. The DAS states that the average net density would be 36 dwellings per hectare,
allowing for differing densities across the site to respect landscape sensitivity. The DAS sets out that the
overall density results in the efficient use of the site whilst at the same time promoting densities which are
appropriate to the local area and which will help assimilate the development into the surrounding areas.
Further, the DAS provides some broad indications of how the site could be developed.

8.4 The Urban Design Officer (UDO) has assessed the proposals and comments that the DAS is fairly
generic. The UDO raises concern in respect of the indicative masterplan, commenting that there is a lack of
a clear and understandable movement network. The primary street does not serve the majority of the
development, running to the south of the site. The secondary street structure is indirect and illegible. Further,
the network of smaller streets indicated does not create workable blocks, nor do they show how the parcels
would be accessible from all sides. There is a similar criticism of the proposed location of the school as it is
unclear how it would be accessed and appears also to show it surrounding by cul-de-sacs, which would not
result in good design. The UDO considers that the distribution of other uses including the employment site
and neighbourhood centre appears logical.

8.5 The UDO shares the same concerns as the LC in that she considers that the green infrastructure is
poorly considered and badly connected. It does not create a connected and legible green infrastructure and
it does not take advantage of the existing public rights of way. The UDO is also concerned that the
parameters plans relating to scale, density, building heights and massing do not provide a clear indication of
how the site would be developed. Overall, the UDO considers that whilst the broad location of land uses is
considered acceptable, the movement network and green infrastructure should be totally reconsidered.

8.6 There is also concern, as expressed by the LC regarding the relationship between this site and the
appellants other proposals at Twigworth. The DAS makes little, if any, reference to the Twigworth site and as
such there is no assessment of the cumulative impacts nor indication of how the two sites might be
developed to secure a high quality urban extension as required by the NPPF and the MMJCS. Whilst the
JCS Inspector says in her Interim Findings that With respect to integration, a master plan has been produced
for the 750 dwelling development, which appears to satisfactorily integrate this Twigworth site with Innsworth
via green infrastructure” there is no indication in the proposals for either the Innsworth or Twigworth schemes
that a comprehensive approach has been considered in the design process. The appellants have
consistently promoted the Twigworth site through the JCS process but have chosen not to amend their
design proposals for this application, which was originally submitted in July 2015, to have regard to the
Twigworth proposals.

109



8.7 In conclusion, whilst the proposed development is in outline with all matters reserved, the submitted
information does not satisfactorily demonstrate how the proposals would be comprehensively developed in
conjunction with the Twigworth proposals. The proposals do not demonstrate high quality design and the Gl
and movement hierarchy is not well developed or explained. The lack of any firm details as to how the
proposed development could come forward in an acceptable way, in conjunction with the site at Twigworth,
in light of the NPPFs commitment to high quality design does not give any confidence as to how the site
would be developed. The proposal would therefore conflict with the NPPF and the design and strategic
allocation policies of the emerging MMJCS. These failings weigh significantly against the proposals.

9.0 Accessibility and Highway Safety

9.1 Section 4 of the NPPF recognises that transport policies have an important role to play in facilitating
sustainable development but also in contributing to wider sustainability and health objectives. It states at
paragraph 29 that the transport system needs to be balanced in favour of sustainable transport modes,
giving people a real choice about how they travel. However, the Government recognises that "opportunities
to maximise sustainable transport solutions will vary from urban to rural areas". Paragraph 32 states that
planning decisions should take account of whether opportunities for sustainable transport modes have been
taken up depending on the nature and location of the site, to reduce the need for major transport
infrastructure. Furthermore, development should only be prevented or refused on transport grounds where
the residual cumulative impacts of development are severe.

9.2 The NPPF also requires safe and suitable access to all development sites for all people. Policy TPT1 of
the Local Plan requires that appropriate access be provided for pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles, and that
appropriate public transport services and infrastructure is available or can be made available. It further
requires that traffic generated by and/or attracted to the development should not impair that safety or
satisfactory operation of the highway network and requires satisfactory highway access to be provided.
Similarly policies INF1 and INF2 of the MMJCS seek to provide choice in modes of travel and to protect the
safety and efficiency of the transport network. Policy A1 of the MMJCS requires, inter alia, strategic
allocations to deliver:

- Primary vehicle accesses from A38, Innsworth Lane and explore the potential for a new main
junction onto the A40 to the south of the site.

- The potential for a highway link through both the Innsworth and Twigworth sites linking the A38 and
A40.

- Measures necessary to mitigate the traffic impact of the site, including the use of travel plans to
encourage the use of more sustainable transport modes.

- High quality public transport facilities and connections within and adjacent to the site

- Safe, easy and convenient pedestrian and cycle links within the site and to key centres, providing
segregated links where practical.

9.3 As set out all matters have been reserved for future consideration, including access. A comprehensive
Transport Assessment (TA) has however been submitted which examines the transport effects of the
proposed development on the existing transport system and provides the basis for the assessment in the ES.
A Residential Travel Plan has also been prepared as a guide to managing travel to and from the proposed
development.

9.4 The TA concludes that a comprehensive analysis of the transport impacts of the proposed development
has been carried out, giving rise to details of proposed measures to improve access by public transport,
walking and cycling with the objective of reducing the number and impacts of motorised journeys. Further it is
asserted that a sustainable development can be achieved which positively encourages pedestrian, cycle and
public transport linkages with Gloucester and gives encouragement to travel by sustainable modes.

9.5 The TA sets out that modelling has shown that a new junction on the A40 Gloucester Northern Bypass
would be required to provide the primary access to the development proposed, without which the local
highway network would not be able to accommodate the additional traffic arising from the proposed
development resulting in unacceptable queuing and delay. The TA asserts that the need for a new A40 site
access junction is consistent with the conclusions of the Atkins modelling work undertaken to inform the JCS.
Further, this modelling work has identified the requirement for improvements at other junctions on the local
road network. Any impacts during construction phase could be mitigated through planning conditions.

110



9.6 Finally, the TA concludes that "Overall, the TA has addressed the transport impacts of the proposed
development. It has demonstrated that opportunities for sustainable transport modes have been taken up,
safe and suitable access can be achieved for all people, and improvements can be undertaken within the
transport network that cost effectively limits the significant impacts of the development in accordance with the
NPPF, and Local Planning Policy including the emerging Joint Core Strategy”.

9.7 As the proposed development would be close to the Strategic Highway Network (SRN), i.e. in this case
the A40, Highways England (HE) have been consulted. Whilst HE are on balance satisfied with the trip
generation methodology, the TA does not satisfactorily assess the distribution and assignment of the trips
generated by the development. HE are not satisfied at this stage that the application demonstrates that the
proposed development would have a satisfactory impact on the operation of the A40(T) and as such
recommended in August 2016 that the application not be approved for a period of 6 months. Where a
connection is proposed onto the SRN it must be demonstrated that the proposal would be safe, and
demonstrates benefits to the economy. At this stage HE are not satisfied that these two tests have been met.
HE have recently confirmed that their position remains the same as set out in August 2016. It is understood
that discussions are ongoing between the appellants and HE on this matter.

9.8 The County Highways Officer (CHO) has also been consulted. The CHO has queried the modal share
set out in the TA and considers that vehicle movements could be higher than the TA anticipates. In relation
to distribution the CHO advises that no evidence has been submitted to indicate if the base year models of
local junctions are 'valid' by comparing outputs to the observed operation. There are locations where the
submitted base year figures indicate no congestion, but local knowledge would suggest that the junctions
already operate over capacity. For example, the submitted modelling indicates that the Longford Roundabout
(A38/A40) is currently operating with spare capacity in both the morning and afternoon peak periods, when
experience suggests to the contrary. Similarly, the TA indicates that the Hare & Hounds traffic signal
controlled junction in Churchdown currently operates with spare capacity in both peaks.

9.9 The CHO notes the mitigation package suggested by the appellant which includes design mitigation,
improvements to the local highway network and SRN and contributions to public transport and travel
planning. However given the lack of information to demonstrate that the traffic impacts of the proposed
development have been robustly tested, the CHO objects to the application.

9.10 Overall, it has not been demonstrated that the appeal proposals would have an acceptable impact on
the strategic or local highway networks, that opportunities for sustainable transport modes to reduce the
need for major transport infrastructure have been taken up, nor that improvements can be undertaken within
the transport network that cost effectively limit the significant impacts of the development. The proposed
development therefore conflicts with the advice provided at section 4 the NPPF, local plan policy TPT1 and
emerging policies INF1, INF2, SA1 and A1 of the MMJCS.

10.0 Flood Risk and Drainage

10.1 The NPPF states at paragraph 100 that inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding should be
avoided by directing development away from areas at highest risk, but where development is necessary,
making it safe without increasing flood risk elsewhere.

10.2 Policy EVT5 of the local plan and Policy INF3 of the MMJCS seek to prevent development that would
be at risk of flooding. Policy EVT5 requires that certain developments within Flood Zone 1 be accompanied
by a flood risk assessment and that development should not exacerbate or cause flooding problems.
Furthermore, Policy EVT9 of the Local Plan requires that development proposals demonstrate provision for
the attenuation and treatment of surface water run-off in accordance with sustainable drainage systems
(SUDS) criteria.

10.3 Policy A1 of the MMJCS sets out that development at the strategic allocation will be expected to deliver
adequate flood risk management across the site and ensure that all vulnerable development is located
wholly within flood zone 1. This includes measures to reduce flood risk downstream through increasing
storage capacity. Further, it sets out that flood risk management will be a critical part of master planning the
site in linking the Innsworth and Twigworth areas, avoiding overland flow routes and addressing surface
water flooding. Detailed flood risk assessments must utilise the latest flood risk modelling information for the
whole site and any other areas impacted by the development in terms of flood risk.

10.4 The adopted Flood and Water Management Supplementary Planning Document has the following key

objectives: to ensure that new development does not increase the risk of flooding either on a site or
cumulatively elsewhere and to seek betterment, where possible; to require the inclusion of Sustainable

111



Drainage Systems (SuDS) within new developments, which mimic natural drainage as closely as possible
(e.g. permeable paving, planted roofs, filter drains, swales and ponds) and provision for their long-term
maintenance, in order to mitigate the risk of flooding; to ensure that development incorporates appropriate
water management techniques that maintain existing hydrological conditions and avoid adverse effects upon
the natural water cycle and to encourage on-site storage capacity for surface water attenuation for storm
events up to the 1% probability event (1 in 100 years) including allowance for climate change.

10.5 The ES contains a chapter on hydrology, drainage and flood risk whilst the application is also supported
by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA). The FRA concludes that the site has been assessed as part of the level
2 strategic FRA which support the JCS and that the majority of the site is within flood zone 1. All proposed
residential development as shown on the indicative masterplan would fall within flood zone 1 with the
employment area adjacent to the Innsworth Technology Park partially located in flood zone 2. Further, the
FRA sets out that flood risk from all sources (sea, fluvial. Pluvial, surface water, sewers, groundwater and
artificial sources) has been assessed and concludes that the development would be safe from flood risk and
would not increase flood risk elsewhere.

10.6 The FRA sets out that a drainage strategy has been developed incorporating SuDS to ensure that
pluvial risk would be managed on site, with run off discharging mainly to the Hatherley Brook in a way that
mimics current greenfield run off, taking into account a 30% allowance for climate change. Through the
application process Environment Agency (EA) guidance changed in this respect and for this area it is now
recommended that a 70% allowance for climate change is used. As a result the appellant carried out further
modelling and now suggest that floor levels are set at a minimum of 600mm above the 1:1000 flood level
which is used as a proxy for the 1:100 plus 70% allowance for climate change level. This strategy would be
managed and maintained for the lifetime of the development. The FRA sets out that the proposed access
onto the A40 would be designed so as to ensure the road level is above the 1:100 level plus climate change,
with the Innsworth drain culverted beneath to ensure, with additional flood storage compensation, that flood
storage capacity is not reduced. The FRA also concludes that the drainage strategy for the site would ensure
that any impacts on the hydrology of the Innsworth Meadows SSSI would be negligible. Overall the FRA
concludes that the site could be safely developed without increasing the risk of flooding on site or elsewhere.

10.7 There are a number of concerns from the Parish Council, neighbouring Parish Councils and local
residents concerned about the flood risk impacts of the proposed development. The Environment Agency
were consulted and agree with the conclusions of the appellants FRA, originally recommending conditions
relating to flood storage compensation and levels. Following the change to policy in respect of the climate
change allowance and submission of the appellants revised modelling the EA were reconsulted and agree
with the appellants suggested use of the 1:1000 flood level to reflect the 70% allowance for climate change.
However the EA requested further information including climate change figures for all model node points
within and bounding the site, and for both Flood Zones 2 and 3 based on the higher central and upper
climate change allowance categories. To date this information has not been provided.

10.8 The EA also commented that given that the site includes land covered by flood zones 2 and 3, the
sequential and exceptions tests are required to be passed. This issue has been assessed through the
development of the JCS and the site has been consistently been allocated for development following the
application of SFRA2. The principle of development is accepted therefore and as set out above, in terms of
the more vulnerable uses including the residential development, these are all proposed in flood zone 1, the
area at least risk of flooding. The only built development in flood zones 2 and 3 would be employment uses
and the link road onto the A40. In terms of the site therefore, the most vulnerable development is proposed
in the area of least flood risk in accordance with the NPPF.

10.9 The County Council as Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) have also been consulted and comment that
the application meets the requirements of a major application and raise no objections based upon the
surface water management proposals for the site subject to conditions requiring full drainage details and
flood attenuation details. Severn Trent Water have also raised no objection subject to a condition requiring
details of surface water and foul sewage.

10.10 In light of the above the principle of developing the site as proposed is acceptable on flood risk
grounds subject to the EA being satisfied in respect of the further information requested. However at this
stage, the required information has not been submitted and therefore it has not been demonstrated that the
proposals as they currently stand are acceptable from a flood risk perspective. This weighs against the
proposal. Further, whilst the FRA makes a vague reference to development at Twigworth, the two sites have
not been considered comprehensively as required by policy A1 of the MMJCS. This matter is considered
further in section 18 of this report, below.

112



11.0 Noise/Air Quality

11.1 The NPPF states at paragraph 120 that to prevent unacceptable risks from pollution, planning decisions
should ensure that new development is appropriate for its location. The effects (including cumulative effects)
of pollution on health, the natural environment or general amenity, and the potential sensitivity of the area or
proposed development to adverse effects from pollution, should be taken into account. In respect of air

quality it advises that planning policies should sustain compliance with and contribute towards EU limit
values or national objectives for pollutants, taking into account the presence of Air Quality Management
Areas (AQMAs), and the cumulative impacts on air quality from individual sites in local areas.

11.2 Local Plan Policy EVT3 provides that new development should be sited away from sources of noise and
planning permission should not be granted for development where noise would cause harm and could not be
ameliorated. Policy SD15 of the MMJCS also seeks to protect health and improve environmental quality.
These polices are considered to be consistent with the NPPF and are therefore afforded significant weight.

11.3 The ES undertakes an assessment of noise and vibration both during and post development, based on
existing noise levels. The ES concludes that during construction there is potential for short term adverse
effects on existing noise sensitive receptors nearby, but that this could be addressed by appropriate
mitigation and control measures. The employment generating uses would result in negligible adverse
impacts which could be addressed through careful design at reserved matters stage. Road traffic noise
would increase and there would be negligible adverse noise effects, with increases that would not be
discernible under normal listening conditions. New dwellings adjacent to Innsworth Lane could be
constructed to a suitable standard to avoid undue noise pollution from road traffic noise. Noise arising from
the proposed school and sports facilities could be addressed at the detailed design stage. Overall the ES
concludes that noise and vibration arising from the development could be suitably mitigated so that impacts
are reduced to an acceptable level.

11.4 In terms of Air quality, the ES advises that construction works would have the potential to create dust,
but that appropriate measures managed by a dust management plan would mean that the overall effects
would be insignificant. Assessments have been carried out on the potential impacts on air quality arising
from increased road traffic emissions. The results of those assessments show that the impacts on existing
properties along the road network would be negligible. In terms of nitrogen dioxide the ES considers the
assessment should be carried out in the context of a reduction in vehicle emissions, in which case almost all
of the selected local receptors would experience a negligible impact as a result of the proposed
development, with just two or three locations experiencing a slight adverse impact, but the concentrations
would remain below relevant national air quality objectives. The need for a reassessment of the air quality
impacts once the layout of the A40 junction is confirmed. The ES concludes that the overall impact on air
quality would not be significant.

11.5 The Environmental Health Officer (EHO) has been consulted and generally agrees with the conclusions
made in the appellant's Air Quality Assessment in relation to particulate matter (PM10 and PM2.5) with all
concentrations predicted to remain below the relevant national air quality objective.

11.6 In relation to Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2), whilst the general conclusions of the ES are accepted, the EHO is
concerned about the potential alternative designs for the proposed junction onto the A40. Until a design has
been finalised it is not possible to assess air quality impacts in the locality of the junction and the EHO
considers that such an assessment should be undertaken prior to a decision being made on the appeal
because, should the assessment predict a significant impact on air quality, the design of the junction may
need to be revised in order to provide appropriate mitigation. Public Health England share these concerns.

11.7 Policy SD4 of the MMJCS requires, inter alia, that development proposals will demonstrate how they

contribute to the aims of sustainability by, amongst other things, increasing energy efficiency and avoiding
unnecessary pollution. To this end the EHO recommends conditions relating to the use of low NOX boilers
and electric vehicle charging points.

11.8 In relation to noise the EHO is generally satisfied with the conclusions of the ES however points out that
lower noise levels should be used for garden areas than relied on in the ES. To this end the EHO
recommends that any planning permission should be subject to a condition requiring assessment at reserved
matters stage and, where necessary, mitigation measures being identified and implemented prior to
occupation of any dwelling.

113



12.0 Affordable Housing

12.1 Local Plan Policy HOU13 provides that the Council will seek to negotiate with developers to provide
affordable housing and is supported by an Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG)
which was adopted by the Council in August 2005. Policy SD13 of the MMJCS specifies a requirement for a
minimum of 35% affordable housing within strategic allocations.

12.2 The application proposals are vague in respect of affordable housing proposals. An Affordable Housing
Statement (AHS) has been submitted at Appendix 1 of the appellant's Planning Statement which advises
that the applicant is willing to offer a policy compliant number of affordable dwellings on site, pointing out that
the Council's Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Guidance identifies a requirement for 30%
affordable housing, i.e. up to 390 dwellings on this site, although the AHS recognises the emerging JCS
required at that time of 40% or up to 520 affordable dwellings. The AHS states that the precise number, mix
and tenures of affordable housing will be agreed through a detailed s106 package however no such details
are available at this stage. A Draft Heads of Terms document is attached at Appendix 3 of the Planning
Statement which states that 30% of the dwellings would be affordable. It is however noted that in the
appellants Statement of Case for the appeal, they note the emerging JCS requirement for 35%.

12.3 The MMJCS currently requires a minimum of 35% affordable housing on strategic allocations. As such
the current proposal as set out in the draft Heads of Terms would be unacceptable and no viability evidence
has been put forward to demonstrate that 35% could not be achieved on this site. The Housing Enabling
Officer (HEO) comments that having consulted with colleagues at Gloucester City Council, the tenure split
should be 75% rented and 25% intermediate affordable housing to best reflect the local need. Other details
would need to be agreed with the appellant

12.4 In conclusion the proposal for 30% is considered to be unacceptable and in any event at this stage
there is no signed s106 obligation. On that basis the proposed development does not adequately provide for
housing that would be available to households who cannot afford to rent or buy houses available on the
existing housing market, contrary to the NPPF, saved Policy HOU13 of the Local Plan and emerging Policy
SD13 of the MMJCS. Nevertheless it is anticipated that further discussions will be held with the appellant
before the Public Inquiry with a review to resolving this issue.

13.0 Open Space, Outdoor Recreation and Sports Facilities

13.1 The NPPF sets out that the planning system can play an important role in facilitating social interaction
and creating healthy, inclusive communities. Access to high quality open spaces and opportunities for sport
and recreation can make an important contribution to the health and well-being of communities. Furthermore,
saved policy RCN1 of the Local Plan requires the provision of easily accessible outdoor playing space at a
standard of 2.43ha per 1000 population. The Council's adopted Playing Pitch Strategy sets out requirements
for formal playing pitches.

13.2 The Community and Economic Development Manager (CEDM) has been consulted and advises that in
accordance with the above policies, the proposal would generate a requirement for 3.53ha of playing
pitches. This provision should be supplemented by a clubhouse/pavilion based on two team changing room
and community space incorporating a bar/kitchen/function room and office. The CEDM also considers that a
full size artificial floodlit pitch should be provided and, to enable access between the facilities and the
proposed development at Twigworth, access would be required across the brook to enable pedestrians to
access the sports facilities.

13.3 The CEDM notes the play provision provided for on the illustrative masterplan and advises that within
this provision there is a need for a skate park and MUGA. All the proposed open space would be subject to
maintenance payments in accordance with the council's standard maintenance sums.

13.4 In terms of sports facilities the Community and Economic Development Manager has requested
contributions based on the size of population proposed and the Sports England 'sports facility calculator'
which estimates demand for community sports facilities. Based on this information the CEDM advises that
contributions totalling £1,114,103 are required which would be used towards the provision of the artificial
pitch referred to above.

13.5 A Draft Heads of Terms document has been submitted with the application which sets out a suggested
mechanism for the delivery of Public Open Space/Formal Recreational Provision which would be dealt with
through the reserved matters application process. There are no suggested contributions towards sports
facilities or any other required off-site recreational facilities and no legal agreement to provide the required

114



Public Open Space/Outdoor recreation and sports facilities has been agreed. On that basis the proposed
development conflicts with the NPPF, Local Plan policy GNL11 and emerging JCS policies INF5 and INF8.
Nevertheless it is anticipated that further discussions will be held with the appellant before the Public Inquiry
with a review to resolving this issue.

14.0 Community, Education and Library Provision

14.1 The NPPF states that the Government attaches great importance to ensuring that a sufficient choice of
school places is available to meet the needs of existing and new communities. Local Plan Policy GNL11 and
Policy INF5 of the MMJCS highlight that permission will not be provided for development unless the
infrastructure and public services necessary to enable the development to take place are either available or
can be provided. Policy A1 of the MMJCS requires the provision of a local centre including the provision of
an appropriate scale of retail, healthcare and community facilities to meet the needs of the new community
and new primary and secondary education schools and facilities These policies are consistent with the
NPPF.

14.2 The ES chapter on socio-economics advises that the development as proposed allows for primary
school provision. The conclusions are somewhat vague however it does appear to recognise the need to
provide a primary school. The conclusions in respect of secondary education in the ES are similarly vague in
that it suggests that capacity exists within the wider Gloucester area for secondary education, but that
appropriate contributions will be made as required. The Draft Heads of Terms document states that the
applicant will make such contribution as can be lawfully justified under the CIL regulations towards education
and library facilities.

14.3 The ES does not identify a need for community facilities however this is allowed for in the description of
development. There ES provides that the increased population would result in the need for a further 1.4 GPs
based on the 2013 national average, however based on the expected number of patients per GP by 2015
there would be a surplus of GPs in the area. This information has not been updated. Nevertheless the
proposal allows for the provision of a site for healthcare provision and this is indicated to have a major
positive effect of the proposal.

14.4 The Community and Economic Development Manager (CEDM) has commented on community facilities
and advises that the Parish Council do not wish a further community facility to be provided on site given the
existing provision. A request has been made for a sum of £150,000 to be made towards the improvement of
existing facilities and this is considered reasonable in the context of the CIL regulations.

14.5 The County Council (GCC) has commented as Local Education Authority and advise that the proposal
would result in 105 nursery/pre-school aged children and 364 Primary School aged children and that this
need should be met by on-site provision of a combined nursery and 2FE Primary School. In terms of
secondary school provision the development is likely to give rise to the need for 220 places which could be
met by the expansion of Churchdown and/or Chosen Hill schools requiring a contribution of £4,447,847.
GCC also advise that the proposed development and increase in population would have an impact on
resources at the local libraries and as such a contribution of £254,800 is required which would be used to
improve infrastructure at Gloucester, Churchdown and/or Longlevens.

14.6 There is no agreement to provide the required community and education facilities contrary to the
requirements of the NPPF, Policy GNL11 of the Local Plan and policies INF5 and INF8 of the emerging JCS.
This weighs against the proposal. Nevertheless it is anticipated that further discussions will be held with the
appellant before the Public Inquiry with a review to resolving this issue.

15.0 Heritage Assets

15.1 Section 66 of the Listed Buildings and Conservation Area Act places a statutory duty on LPAs to have
special regard to the desirability of preserving the setting of listed buildings. The NPPF advises that the effect
of an application on the significance of a non-designated heritage asset should be taken into account in
determining the application. In weighing applications that affect directly or indirectly non-designated heritage
assets, a balanced judgement will be required having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the
significance of the heritage asset.

15.2 The ES includes an assessment of the likely significant effects of the proposed development on
heritage resources. In terms of archaeology the ES builds on evidence provided by a programme of
archaeological assessment and evaluation. The County Archaeologist (CA) has been consulted and agrees
with the conclusions of the ES that the archaeological remains are not of the first order of preservation, since

115



the land has been intensively cultivated during the mediaeval period and later. Nevertheless, while not of the
highest significance, the CA considers that the archaeology contained within this site has high potential for
advancing our understanding of later prehistoric and Roman settlement and landscape, both locally and
within the wider region. The location of these remains within the hinterland of the important Roman city of
Gloucester is an additional point of high interest. On that basis the CA raises no objection in principle to the
development of this site, subject to a planning condition requiring the implementation of a programme of
archaeological work in accordance with a written scheme of investigation.

15.3 The ES sets out that there are no listed buildings with a 500m radius of the site. Beyond this, whilst
there are a number of grade Il listed buildings along the A38, the ES asserts that the setting of these assets
is considered to primarily relate to their existing curtilages and their position along associated major
roadways with agricultural land adjacent forming a wider incidental backdrop and any impact is considered
negligible. The site itself does contain non-designated heritage assets in the form of WWII military structures
(huts and shelters) which are of local importance however this part of the site is not proposed for
development and the site provides only an incidental backdrop to the setting of these structures whose
importance is principally in their form and historic use.

15.4 Historic England (HE) have been consulted and have referred to the setting of Wallsworth Hall and the
church of St Mary and Corpus Christi at Down Hatherley which have not been identified by or addressed in
the ES. The Conservation Officer (CO) has been consulted in this regard and advises that these assets are
1500m to the north-west and 900m to the north-east respectively from the site's closest boundaries. Given
these separation distances the CO does not consider further assessment is merited. Wallsworth Court for
example has no intervisibility with the site and given the intervening presence of Twigworth and the A38
corridor, would not even be perceived as being in proximity to it.

15.5 In light of the above the proposals would not result in harm to heritage assets or their settings.
16.0 Ecology and Nature Conservation

16.1 The NPPF sets out, inter alia, that when determining planning applications, local planning authorities
should aim to conserve and enhance biodiversity by encouraging opportunities to incorporate biodiversity in
and around developments. Furthermore, planning permission should be refused for development resulting in
the loss of deterioration of irreplaceable habitats. Policy NCN5 of the local plan and Policy SD10 of the MM
JCS seeks to protect and, wherever possible enhance biodiversity, including wildlife and habitats. Policy A1
requires the strategic allocation to deliver protection to key biodiversity assets, including a new nature
reserve with the green infrastructure area to support the restoration of the SSSI and improve the ecology of
the area.

16.2 An assessment of the likely significant ecological effects of the proposed development has been
undertaken which informs the Ecology and Nature Conservation chapter of the ES. The ES concludes that
with mitigation the development proposals would not result in any adverse effects on habitats or species of
any significance and there would be no net loss of any features of ecological importance. Potential loss of
habitat for protected species would be replaced with habitats of equal size and greater quality. Overall the
ES concludes that the potential impacts would be positive.

16.3 Natural England (NE) have been consulted and object on the grounds that the application, as
submitted, has the potential to damage or destroy the interest features for which Innsworth Meadow SSSI
has been notified. Further information is required to assess the impact upon the SSSI in respect of hydrology
and habitats and on the basis that opportunities for green infrastructure as required by the emerging JCS
have not been taken up. In particular policy A1 requires a nature reserve to be provided within the GI. NE
raised similar concerns in respect of the Twigworth site which indicates that a comprehensive response to
the development proposed by policy A1 of the MMJCS is required. The Gloucestershire Wildlife Trust raise
similar objections.

16.4 As set out above the appellant has successfully promoted the Twigworth sites to the JCS examination
with the Inspector noting that “...a master plan has been produced for the 750 dwelling development, which
appeatrs to satisfactorily integrate this Twigworth site with Innsworth via green infrastructure. Whilst this is
noted, that masterplan has not been submitted in respect of either appeal proposal and has not been
assessed through the Environmental Impact Assessment process.

16.5 Overall the application is not supported by sufficient information to assess the cumulative potential

impacts on the Innsworth Meadows SSSI and does not take up opportunities for Gl as required by the
MMJCS. As such the application conflicts with advice in the NPPF, Policy NCN5 of the local plan and

116



Policies SD10 and A1 of the emerging MMJCS and this is a matter which weighs against the proposal. It is
understood that discussions are ongoing between the appellants and NE on this issue.

17.0 Loss of agricultural land

17.1 Paragraph 112 of NPPF advises that local planning authorities should take into account the economic
and other benefits of the best and most versatile land (BMV). Where significant development of agricultural
land is demonstrated to be necessary, local planning authorities should seek to use poorer quality land in
Grades 3b, 4 and 5 in preference to higher quality land. Paragraph 109 of the NPPF puts the protection and
enhancement of soils as a priority in the conservation and enhancement of the natural environment.

17.2 The ES sets out that of the application site includes of 101.6 hectares of agricultural land of which 41%
(41.1ha) constitutes BMV. It is advised that 15% (13.4 ha) of this is grade 2 BMV, with a further 26%
(25.1ha) being subgrade 3a. The ES states that the proposed development would result in the permanent
loss of 47.3ha of agricultural land of which 25.6ha would be BMV, the loss of which is assessed as
significant. In terms of soil quality, provided it was properly handled, the impact would be negligible. The
agricultural land covers three separate holdings (including land farmed by the appellant) and the ES
concludes that the proposal would in the loss of one small non-commercial holding and the reduction in size
of two other commercial units.

17.3 In terms of soil quality, NE have commented that if development is to proceed the developer should use
an appropriately experienced soil specialist to advise on, and supervise, soil handling, including identifying
when soils are dry enough to be handled and how to make the best use of the different soils on site in
accordance with DEFRA guidance.

17.4 The proposed development would lead to the permanent loss of BMV agricultural land as set out above.
This is a matter which weighs against the proposal in the overall planning balance however the weight to be
applied to this harm is reduced to a degree by virtue of the site being identified for development in the
emerging JCS.

18.0 Comprehensive development

18.1 As set out above Policy SA1 of the MMJCS requires that development proposals should enable a
comprehensive scheme to be delivered across the developable area within each Strategic Allocation.
Developers must ensure that the sites provide an appropriate scale and mix of uses, in suitable locations, to
create sustainable developments that support and complement the role of existing settlements and
communities. Further, proposals must be accompanied by a comprehensive masterplan for the entire
Strategic Allocation. This should demonstrate how new development will integrate with and complement its
surroundings in an appropriate manner, in accordance with Policy SD5; and infrastructure should be planned
and provided comprehensively across the site taking into account the needs of the whole Strategic
Allocation.

18.2 The requirements of Policy A1 of the MMJCS are set out at paragraph 5.10 above. Whilst the appellant
has two proposals that are intended to contribute the majority of the quantum of development identified in
policy A1, they have failed to assess the strategic allocation as a whole. Whilst it is accepted that Twigworth
was only introduced into the submitted JCS following approval of the Proposed Main Modifications for
consultation in January 2017, both applications were submitted in 2015 and the applicant continued to
promote the Twigworth site as an omission site to the JCS EiP on the basis of a masterplan which the JCS
Inspector states in her Interim Report "which appears to satisfactorily integrate this Twigworth site with
Innsworth via green infrastructure”.

18.3 As set out in a number of places throughout this report there is no evidence before the Council that this
masterplan (which has not been submitted in relation to this appeal) is the result of robust assessment
through the EIA process and as such cannot be considered at this stage. It is noted that reference is made in
the appellants 'full' Statement of Case for the appeal to the fact that the cumulative landscape and visual
effects of the proposal will be considered in light of the appeal proposal at Twigworth however there is no
mention of cumulative effects of any of the other matters.

18.4 Policy A1 of the MMJCS provides that flood risk management will be a critical part of master planning
the site in linking the Innsworth and Twigworth areas, avoiding overland flow routes and addressing surface
water flooding. Detailed flood risk assessments must utilise the latest flood risk modelling information for the
whole site and any other areas impacted by the development in terms of flood risk. This policy is supported
by the 'Review of Flood Information Relating to Land at Twigworth' report by Thomas Consulting (TC
Report). The report indicates that the greatest issues for the consideration of development in this area is the

117



potential catchment change indicated by the Twigworth application which shows that all surface water
drainage from both catchments would be discharged to the Hatherley Brook catchment. The TC report
advises that there is no common law right to do this and it could only be achieved by having legal easements
in place from the point of discharge to the Hatherley Brook, to its confluence with Cox's brook, or for the
appellants to redesign their proposals to take into account the catchment split and provide drainage to Cox's
Brook.

18.5 Paragraph 4.23 of the TC Report concludes that the pluvial flooding issues in the area of land being
considered for allocation at Twigworth are significant, but are capable of being resolved as part of a master
plan for an allocated area and in the detailed design. Therefore, and notwithstanding the conclusions arrived
at in section 13 of this report, officers consider that the flood risk/drainage issues relating to the entire
strategic allocation should be comprehensively and robustly assessed in advance of planning permission
being granted.

18.6 This site is allocated for development as part of a wider strategic allocation at Innsworth and Twigworth.
The current proposals do not assess the proposals in a comprehensive way and the impacts on the
environment have not been properly assessed through the EIA process. On that basis the proposed
development conflicts with policies SA1 and A1 of the emerging MMJCS. As a result of this lack of
comprehensive assessment it has not been demonstrated that the proposed development would contribute
to a high quality masterplanned design for the strategic allocation as a whole, contrary to the requirements of
the NPPF. This is a matter which weighs considerably against the appeal proposals.

19.0 Overall Balancing Exercise

19.1 As set out above the starting point for determination of this application is the development plan. The
proposed development would conflict with Policy HOU4 of the development plan, to which substantial weight
should be applied. Similarly the proposed development would conflict with policy GRB1 of the development
plan in that it constitutes inappropriate development in the Green Belt. The weight to this policy must be
reduced however in that it does not allow for development where it can be demonstrated that very special
circumstances which clearly outweigh the harm to the Green Belt by inappropriateness and other harms. The
emerging policy SD6 of the MMJCS reflects the NPPF as if does allow for development where very special
circumstances can be demonstrated. Nevertheless the NPPF provides that very special circumstances will
not exist unless the potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm is
clearly outweighed by other considerations.

Benefits

19.2 Considerable weight is given to the positive social and economic benefits which would arise from the
proposal, including the provision of new homes in a location supported by the emerging MMJCS, of which
35% would be much needed affordable homes (subject to agreement with the appellant). The delivery of this
scale of development would bring considerable economic benefits, as would the proposed employment uses.

Harms

19.3 Against these benefits are the harms to the Green Belt, both in terms of the harm by reason of
inappropriateness and the harm to openness which inevitably arises by the replacement of agricultural fields
with an urban extension of this nature. It is of course recognised that the site is allocated as part of a
strategic urban extension to Gloucester in the emerging MMJCS, however the fact remains that the site is
within the Green Belt where permission should be refused for this type of development unless very special
circumstances which clearly outweigh the harm to the Green Belt and other harms. The preceding sections
of this report have identified further harms arising from the proposals which are summarised below.

19.4 In terms of other harms the proposal would clearly result in harm to the landscape, although again it is
accepted that the Council supports the principle of development of the site through the emerging JCS which
reduces the weight that can be afforded to this harm in the overall planning balance. Nevertheless, the
proposal has not been assessed cumulatively with the appellant's other proposals for land at Twigworth and
this is a significant failing in the appeal proposals. This lack of a comprehensive approach to landscape
assessment has a consequential impact on the design of the scheme which again, does not take into
account the fact that this site is only part of the wider A1 strategic allocation. The proposal would also result
in the permanent loss of 25.6ha of best and most versatile agricultural land.

118



19.5 The proposals do not demonstrate that the appeal proposals would have an acceptable impact on the
strategic or local highway networks, that opportunities for sustainable transport modes to reduce the need for
major transport infrastructure have been taken up, nor that improvements can be undertaken within the
transport network that cost effectively limit the significant impacts of the development.

19.6 In relation to pollution, the proposal fails to demonstrate that there would be an acceptable air quality
impacts in the area of the proposed junction with the A40. In relation to ecology, the applicant has not
demonstrated that the proposals would have an acceptable impact on the ecology and hydrology of the
Innsworth Meadows SSSI.

19.7 A key theme running through many of the issues relevant to this proposed development is the lack of an
assessment of the cumulative impacts of this proposal and the appellants other site at Twigworth which will
be considered at the same Public Inquiry. A comprehensive approach to the development of the A1 strategic
allocation is required by the emerging MMJCS to ensure that the area is properly planned. The appeal
submission does not demonstrate how the cumulative impacts of these two large scale major developments
would be carried out, nor could it as the cumulative impacts have not been robustly assessed through the
Environmental Impact Assessment process.

Neutral Effects

19.8 It has been established through the submission of the Environmental Statement, and through
consultation with specialist consultees, that the impact of this development on flood risk (in so far as it relates
to this specific site rather than the wider strategic allocation) and archaeology can be adequately mitigated.
The mitigation measures required can be secured through planning conditions, S106 obligations and future
reserved matters applications. It is also noted that whilst there is not currently agreement in respect of
affordable housing and the provision of social infrastructure, it is anticipated that some level of agreement will
be reached on these matters to mitigate the potential harm that would arise from the development
proceeding without the necessary affordable housing and social infrastructure in place.

20.0 Overall Planning Balance and Conclusion

20.1 Section 38(6) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that, if regard is to be had to the
development plan, the determination must be made in accordance with the development plan unless other
material circumstances indicate otherwise. Section 70 (2) of the Act provides that the local planning authority
shall have regard to the provisions of the development plan, so far as material to the application, and to any
other material considerations. The Council can currently demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable
housing sites and in this case, as reiterated by paragraph 12 of the NPPF, the presumption is against the
grant of permission given the conflict with policies HOU4 and GRB1 of the development plan. As such
permission should be refused unless material planning circumstances, including the very special
circumstances required to outweigh Green Belt harm, indicate otherwise.

20.2 The proposed development results in harm to the Green Belt, including harm by reason of
inappropriateness and loss of openness. This harm to the Green Belt must carry substantial weight. The
proposed development would also give rise to other significant 'other’ harms which are identified in
paragraph 19.3 to 19.7 above. Inappropriate development in the Green Belt can only be permitted where
very special circumstances exist which clearly outweigh harm to the Green Belt and other harms. It is
considered that the benefits of the proposal outlined above in addition to the fact that the site is identified in
an area allocated for development in the emerging development plan, and has been for some time, are
capable of amounting to very special circumstances required to clearly outweigh the harm to the Green Belt.
However, in this case, given the other identified harms outlined above, it is not considered that the benefits
justify a departure from the development plan in this case. The proposed development as submitted would
not result in sustainable development as required by the NPPF.

20.3 Furthermore, it is considered that even if the Council could not demonstrate a five year supply of
deliverable housing sites that the adverse impacts would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits and specific policies in the NPPF would indicate that development should be restricted.

20.4 It is therefore officer opinion that members should advise the Secretary of State that the Council would
be minded to refuse planning permission for the appeal proposals in the interest of the proper planning of
the area.

RECOMMENDATION Minded to Refuse

119



Reasons:

1

The proposed development conflicts with saved Policy HOU4 of the Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan
to 2011 - March 2006 in that the site lies outside the defined residential development boundary of the
settlement in a location where new housing is strictly controlled.

The proposed development conflicts with section 9 of the NPPF (Protecting Green Belt land), saved
Policy GRB1 of the Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan to 2011 - March 2006 and emerging policy SD6
of the Proposed Main Modifications version of the Joint Core Strategy in that it represents
inappropriate development in the Green Belt which would compromise its open character,
appearance and function.

The proposed development would result in an unwarranted and significant intrusion into the rural
landscape which would harm the rural character and appearance of the locality. As such, the
proposed development conflicts with the National Planning Policy Framework, saved Policy LND4 of
the Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan to 2011 - March 2006 and emerging Policy SD7 of the
Proposed Main Modifications version of the Joint Core Strategy.

Whilst the proposals are in outline form with all matters reserved, the submitted information does not
demonstrate how the site could be developed in an environmentally acceptable way. The submitted
proposals do not demonstrate how the site would be developed as part of a comprehensive scheme
to be delivered across the developable area within Strategic Allocation A1 as defined in the
Proposed Main Modifications version of the Joint Core Strategy, and no comprehensive assessment
of the risk of flooding across the strategic allocation has been carried out. The proposals are not
accompanied by a comprehensive masterplan for the entire Strategic Allocation and as such it has
not been demonstrated how the proposed development would integrate with and complement its
surroundings in an appropriate manner, in the interests of proper planning. As such the proposed
development conflicts with advice in the National Planning Policy Framework and emerging policies
SD5, SA1 and A1 of the Proposed Main Modifications version of the Joint Core Strategy.

The proposals do not provide satisfactory information to show that the operation of the A40 would
not be adversely affected by the traffic impacts of the development proposal. As such the application
has not demonstrated that there would be an acceptable impact on the strategic road network in
conflict with the National Planning Policy Framework, Policy TPT1 of the Tewkesbury Borough Local
Plan to 2011 - March 2006 and Policies INF1, INF2, SA1 and A1 of the Main Modifications version of
the Joint Core Strategy.

Insufficient information has been submitted to demonstrate that the proposed development has
taken up the opportunities for sustainable transport modes to reduce the need for major transport
infrastructure. Furthermore the proposals do not demonstrate that safe and suitable access to the
site can be achieved for all people or that improvements can be undertaken within the transport
network that cost effectively limit the significant impacts of the development proposed. As such the
proposed development is contrary to section 4 of the National Planning Policy Framework, saved
Policy TPT1 of the Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan to 2011 - March 2006 and Policies INF1, INF2,
SA1 and A1 of the Proposed Main Modifications version of the Joint Core Strategy.

The proposed development would result in the loss of Best and Most Versatile agricultural land and
the loss of this valuable resource is not outweighed by economic or other benefits contrary to
paragraph 112 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

The application is not supported by sufficient information to demonstrate that there would be an
acceptable cumulative impact on the Innsworth Meadows Site of Special Scientific Interest in the
context of other planned development. As such the proposed development conflicts with Paragraph
118 of the National Planning Policy Framework and emerging policies SD10 and A1 of the Proposed
Main Modifications version of the Joint Core Strategy.

By reason of a lack of a final design for the proposed junction with the A40, the proposals do not
demonstrate that the proposed development would have an acceptable impact on air quality, in
particular through nitrogen dioxide emissions. As such the proposed development conflicts with the
National Planning Policy Framework and emerging Policy SD15 of the Proposed Main Modifications
version of the Joint Core Strategy.

120



10

11

12

13

Insufficient information has been submitted to fully demonstrate that the proposed development
would not be at risk of flooding and would not increase the risk of flooding elsewhere. As such the
proposals conflict with the advice in the National Planning Policy Framework, saved Policy EVT5 of
the Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan to 2011 (March 2006) and policies INF3 and A1 of the
Proposed Main Modifications version of the Joint Core Strategy.

The application does not provide for housing that would be available to households who cannot
afford to rent or buy houses available on the existing housing market. As such the proposed
development conflicts with saved Policy HOU13 of the Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan to 2011 -
March 2006 and emerging policies SD12 and SD13 of the Proposed Main Modifications version of
the Joint Core strategy.

The application does not make adequate provision for on-site or off-site playing pitches with
changing facilities and sports facilities to meet the needs of the proposed community. The
application therefore conflicts with saved Policy RCN1 of the Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan to
2011 - March 2006 and section 8 of the NPPF (Promoting healthy communities) and policies INF5,
INF7 and SA1 of the Proposed Main Modifications version of the Joint Core Strategy.

The application does not make provision for the delivery of education, health and community
infrastructure, library provision, or recycling infrastructure and therefore the proposed development is
contrary to saved Policy GNL11 of the Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan to 2011 - March 2006,
section 8 of the NPPF (Promoting healthy communities) and emerging policies INF5, INF7 and SA1
of the Proposed Main Modifications version of the Joint Core Strategy.

121



[4A)

-
LS

ANE o
+ 183m ; = m 0 *
: 1
1!
! Y I EpETEE T |
““ ““\ I (mm}
| ‘ 1
b EE o
!
0 A1) “‘
E el
i U

sttt
(s ores

>
% &
- ¢ 3
/o s
2 3
0
&
é’

Nz

LAND AT INNSWORTH - SITE LOCATION PLAN

| T 01285641717 | F 01285642348 | www.pegasuspg.co.uk | Team:MCC/CT | 2JULY 2015 | 1:2500 @AO | drwg: H.0355_43-11 Client: ROBERT HITCHINS LTD. |

KEY

APPLICATION SITE

OTHER LAND IN APPLICANT'S OWNERSHIP

Pegasu

Urban [y



Agenda Item 7
TEWKESBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL

Report to: Planning Committee

Date of Meeting: 14 March 2017

Subject: Current Appeals and Appeal Decisions Update

Report of: Paul Skelton, Development Manager

Corporate Lead: Robert Weaver, Deputy Chief Executive

Lead Member: Clir D M M Davies, Lead Member for Built Environment
Number of Appendices: 1

Executive Summary:

To inform Members of current Planning and Enforcement Appeals and of Communities and
Local Government (CLG) Appeal Decisions issued.

Recommendation:
To CONSIDER the report

Reasons for Recommendation:

To inform Members of recent appeal decisions

Resource Implications:

None

Legal Implications:

None

Risk Management Implications:

None

Performance Management Follow-up:

None

Environmental Implications:

None

123



1.0

1.1

2.0

2.1

3.0

3.1

4.0

41

5.0

5.1

6.0

6.1

7.0

71

8.0

8.1

9.0

9.1

10.0

10.1

INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND

At each Planning Committee meeting, Members are informed of current Planning and
Enforcement Appeals and of Communities and Local Government (CLG) Appeal
Decisions that have recently been issued.

APPEAL DECISIONS

The following decisions have been issued by the First Secretary of State of CLG:

Application No 15/00166/0OUT

Location Land at Stoke Road Bishops Cleeve GL52 7DG
Appellant Gladman Developments Ltd

Development Outline planning application for up to 265 dwellings and

A1 convenience retail store of up to 200 sq m, with
associated open space and landscaping with all matters
reserved, except for access. Access defined as off Stoke
Road to 15m in to the site.

Officer recommendation | Refuse

Decision Type Committee
DCLG Decision Appeal Withdrawn
Date 01.03.2017

ENFORCEMENT APPEAL DECISIONS

None received.

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

None

CONSULTATION

None

RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES/STRATEGIES
None

RELEVANT GOVERNMENT POLICIES

None

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (Human/Property)
None

SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS (Social/Community Safety/Cultural/ Economic/
Environment)

None

IMPACT UPON (Value For Money/Equalities/E-Government/Human Rights/Health
And Safety)

None

124



11.0 RELATED DECISIONS AND ANY OTHER RELEVANT FACTS

1.1 None

Background Papers: None

Contact Officer: Jane Bagley, Appeals Administrator
01684 272286 Jane.Bagley@tewkesbury.gov.uk

Appendices: Appendix 1: List of Appeals received

125



List of Appeals Received

Appendix 1

Reference

Address

Description

Date Appeal
Lodged

Appeal
Procedure

Appeal
Officer

Statement
Due

16/00924/FUL

Queenwood
Tewkesbury
Road

Elmstone
Hardwicke
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire
GL51 9sY

Process Type

o “HH
o ‘W
e “H”

e “I”

Proposed
Conservatory

28/02/2017

Indicates Householder Appeal
Indicates Written Reps
Indicates Informal Hearing
Indicates Public Inquiry

126

Householder

James
Lloyd

N/A




	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	5b Planning Application Reference 15/00749/OUT
	Innsworth - Appendix 1
	Innsworth - Appendix 1 - Site Location Plan

	7 Current Appeals and Appeal Decisions Update

